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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT S

Statements contained herein, including withouttlton, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis afdficial Condition and Results
of Operations,” contain certain projections, estitaa and other forward-looking statements. “Forwdodking statements,” as that term is
defined in the Private Securities Litigation Refokat of 1995, are not historical facts and involvaumber of risks and uncertainties. Words
herein such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “w ould,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “projects,”

“predicts,” “intends,” “potential,” “continues,” an d similar expressions (as well as other words qregsions referencing future events,

conditions or circumstances) are intended to idgrftrward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements include, but are nofitiéd to: our ability to develop ARIKACE®; our esttes of expenses and future
revenues and profitability; our plans to developmlanarket new products and the timing of these dpweént programs; status and the results
of preclinical studies and clinical trials and pttegcal and clinical data described herein; the tirg of responses to information and data
requests from the U.S. Food and Drug Administraibe “FDA”); our clinical development of productadidates; our ability to obtain and
maintain regulatory approval for our product candids; our expectation as to the timing of regulgtceview and approval; our estimates
regarding our capital requirements and our needsafdditional financing; our estimates of the sifehe potential markets for our product
candidates; our selection and licensing of prodtanididates; our ability to attract collaborators thiacceptable development, regulatory and
commercialization expertise; the benefits to bevder from corporate collaborations, license agreatseand other collaborative efforts,
including those relating to the development ando@ntialization of our product candidates; sourcésevenues and anticipated revenues,
including contributions from corporate collaboratis, license agreements and other collaborativertsffor the development and
commercialization of products; our ability to creadn effective direct sales and marketing infrastiee for products we elect to market and
sell directly; the rate and degree of market acaept of our product candidates; the timing and anmtai reimbursement for our product
candidates; the success of other competing thesahist may become available; and the manufactucaggacity for our product candidates.

Forward-looking statements are based upon our qurexpectations and beliefs. Our actual resultd Hre timing of certain events
may differ materially from the results discussewjgcted, anticipated or indicated in any forwambking statements. Any forward-looking
statement should be considered in light of factissussed in Item 1A “Risk Factors” as well as #hascussed in Item 7 under the section
entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ifafcial Condition and Results of Operations” aridesvhere throughout this Annual
Report on Form 1-K and in any other documents incorporated by refiee. We caution readers not to place undue rediam any such
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the thety are made. We disclaim any obligation, exaspecifically required by law
and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Cosionisto publicly update or revise any such staw@séeo reflect any change in our
expectations or in events, conditions or circumsgsnon which any such statements may be basduhtamty affect the likelihood that actual
results will differ from those set forth in thevi@rd-looking statements.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Insmed Incorporated is a development-stage biopheentical company with expertise in proprietarwaatted liposomal technology
designed specifically for inhalation lung delivetye develop innovative inhaled treatments for sexiloing infections. Our proprietary
liposomal technology is designed specifically fefidery of pharmaceuticals to the lung, and weewdiit provides for potential improvements
to the conventional inhalation methods of delivgrifiug to the pulmonary system. These potentiahathges include improvements in
efficacy, safety and patient convenience. Our grinfocus is on orphan markets with high unmet eddieeds, which we believe presents a
significant opportunity, as their challenge and ptexity best fit our knowledge, know-how and exsert

Our strategy is to utilize our patented advanceodsdomal technology to develop safe and effectivdioes that improve upon
standards of care for those orphan respiratoryades®in which patient needs are currently unmetir@ial primary target indications are
Pseudomonas aeruginoswhich we refer to aBseudomonaslung infections in cystic fibrosis (CF) patieratsd patients with non-tuberculous
mycobacteria (NTM) lung infections.

We completed a business combination with Trandawe, or Transave, on December 1, 2010, which vier te as the “Merger,” a
privately-held, NJ-based pharmaceutical companyded on the development of differentiated and iatige inhaled pharmaceuticals for the
site-specific treatment of serious lung infectio®ur integration with Transave was completed ih22hcluding the relocation of corporate
headquarters to Monmouth Junction, New Jerseycassiation of operations at the Richmond, Virgilueation as of December 31, 2011. On
March 2, 2011, we completed a one-for-ten revetisekssplit of our common stock. Unless otherwiséed, the per share amounts in thiskLO-
give retroactive effect to the reverse stock dplitall periods presented.

Immediately after giving effect to the Merger, f@nTransave stockholders owned approximately a84@&dquity interest in the
combined company (on an asnaverted, fully diluted basis), and legacy Insmakdreholders had a 53.3% equity interest. The shatained b’
us pursuant to the merger agreement with Transp@@ximately 1.76 million shares of common stoftkragiving effect to the conversion of
the Series B Conditional Convertible Preferred stoc Series B Preferred Stock, and the one-for¢errse stock split of our common stock)
will be delivered on June 12, 2012 to certain farffi@nsave stockholders, subject to reduction figr@aims and indemnification payments
that are pending.

Development Progran

Our lead product candidate, ARIKACKliposomal amikacin for inhalation), is a differ&ied, inhaled antibiotic supported by
positive Phase 2 results for treating serious infections due to susceptible bacteria. ARIKACEdssidered a New Chemical Entity (NCE)
by the United States (U.S.) Food and Drug Admiatgin, or FDA, primarily due to its patented lipasal technology. However, the key active
ingredient, amikacin, is already an FDA-approvetibéatic with proven efficacy in the treatment afgn-negative infections including
Pseudomona. ARIKACE is in the aminoglycoside class of aniigs.

We believe that ARIKACE has potential usage ireast two orphan indications with high unmet nedeé p@tients who have
Pseudomonalung infections and patients who have NTM lung atifens. We estimate the global market potentiatfiese two orphan
indications combined to be up to $1 billion.
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For CF patients, we believe ARIKACE has the po#nt be differentiated from other marketed drugstifie treatment of chronic
Pseudomonalung infections due to its ability to deliver higbystained levels of amikacin directly to the lupgtentially providing sustained
improvement in lung function and improvement inigxait symptoms with only a once-a-day dosing regimenPhase 2 clinical studies,
ARIKACE was shown to improve lung function both hgr and between treatment periods in patients @kh If approved for CF, ARIKACE
could potentially be the first inhaled antibiotaclie approved for once-daily administration. FolMNpatients, we believe that ARIKACE has
the potential to fulfill a growing, significant urehmedical need.

We have been granted orphan drug designation fgga@iEnts who havBseudomonaking infections in both the United States (U.S.)
and the EU. We applied for orphan drug designdoaomNTM infections in the U.S. in 2011. In resporneehis application, the FDA has
requested eithen vivo or clinical data in support of our application faphan drug designation. We plan to file for orpldamg designation for
NTM lung infections in the EU after obtaining addital pre-clinical data, which is expected by the end of201

In August 2011, we announced that the FDA had placelinical hold on our Phase 3 clinical trials ARIKACE in CF patients with
Pseudomonalung infections and for patients with NTM lung inf®ns. Since the clinical programs were being cateld under separate INI
we received separate notifications for CF and NAMlinical hold is a notification issued by the FR@&the sponsor to delay a proposed
clinical trial or suspend an ongoing clinical trihe FDA informed us that this decision was basedn initial review of the results of a long-
term rat inhalation carcinogenicity study with ARAKE. As part of the study, rats were given ARIKAG&ily by inhalation for almost two
years. Two of the 120 rats receiving the highesedwad a single lung tumor. These rats receivedARE doses that are much greater t
the doses to be administered to humans. The retevaf the observed rat tumors to the use of ARIEAChumans is unknown ARIKACE
was not associated with changes that may leadrorsiin shorter-term studies that we conductedheroanimals. Additionally, in a standard
series of tests that we performed, ARIKACE wassimwn to be genotoxic. The FDA requested additimfiarmation on ARIKACE and data
from the rat study. As a result of the clinicaldiaolve suspended initiation of the ARIKACE Phasdidiaal trial programs, including the
recruitment and enrollment of patients.

We provided the requested information to the FDAirgust and was informed by the FDA that, basedsreview of the informatio
provided to date, including the rat inhalation daogenicity study results, the FDA had insufficiémormation to assess the risks for
ARIKACE in CF patients. In October 2011, the FDAtfied us that the FDA was continuing the clinibald previously placed on our Phase 3
clinical trial for ARIKACE in CF patients witlPseudomonaking infections and in patients with NTM lung infiens. Regarding the clinical
hold for CF patients with Pseudomonas lung infexgjdhe FDA requested additional information fraspincluding that we conduct a nine-
month dog inhalation toxicity study of ARIKACE tetérmine if the findings of the rat inhalation ¢aogenicity study are also observed in a
non-rodent model and to propose a CF patient ptipoldisease state in which the risk-benefit peotif ARIKACE may be more favorable.
We were informed during further dialogue with tHaA-that if we chose to proceed, the required nireth dog inhalation toxicity study of
ARIKACE could be conducted in parallel with the €Rase 3 clinical trials in human subjects. Regartlie clinical hold for patients with
NTM lung infections, the FDA requested we conduBthase 2 clinical trial in adult (age 18 and old¢FM patients to provide pro-of-
concept efficacy and safety data for ARIKACE in Npdtients.

In January 2012, the FDA lifted the clinical holdl ARIKACE in patients with NTM lung infections. Wetend to conduct, as
requested by the FDA, a Phase 2 clinical trialdalaNTM patients to provide proof-of-concept effay and safety data for ARIKACE in NTM
patients. We expect to begin enrolling patientth&Phase 2 clinical trial in mid-2012. We hawodlegun the work required to allow the
Company to initiate the nine-month dog inhalatioxidity study in the second quarter of 2012.

In February 2012, we filed our complete respongded-DA clinical hold on the U.S. study of ARIKAGE CF patients with
Pseudomonainfection. We will continue discussions with thBA to pursue removal of the clinical hold on ARIKAGn U.S. for the
treatment of CF patients witbseudomonaking infections.
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We are moving forward with the ARIKACE clinical dglepment program in CF in Europe. The Europeadysitu CF patients with
Pseudomonalung infections will be a randomized, phase 3 t@hparing ARIKACE 560 mg, delivered once daily g&aoptimized,
investigational eFlow® Nebulizer System (PARI Phar@mbH, Munich, Germany), to TOBI®(1) (inhaled tamycin solution), which is a
marketed inhaled antibiotic that is delivered twilggly. The Company anticipates that the study béliconducted in approximately 300
patients. The primary endpoint will be changeumpnary function (FEV-1) measured after three 88 dn-treatment and three 28 day off-
treatment cycles (about six months). A key secondadpoint will be time to pulmonary exacerbatiorhe study design was previously
agreed upon by Insmed and the European Medicinea@g Eligible patients will have the option tatiEpate in a longer term open-label
safety study. The Company expects to begin enmpfiatients in the phase 3 European clinical sindlge second quarter of 2012.

Our current priorities are as follows.

« Initiate a European Phase 3 pivotal clinical titial ARIKACE in the treatment of CF patients wlBtseudomonaking infections
with initial patient enrollment expected in the @ed quarter of 201-

« Initiate a U.S. Phase 2 clinical trial in patiemith NTM lung infections with initial patient endotent expected in m-2012;

« Continue discussions with FDA to attempt to remtheeclinical hold on ARIKACE in U.S. for the treagmt of CF patients wi
Pseudomonalung infections; an

« Initiate a nine-month dog inhalation toxicity stuidythe second quarter of 2012.

In addition to the ARIKACE development program, ageve a secondary proprietary compound, IPI®¥hich is no longer a
development priority for us. We no longer have girotlevelopment capability nor the in-house caftgiid manufacture IPLEX. We
announced in January 2012 that we intend to seehkding partners for the IPLEX development progrdumsler the proprietary IPLEX prote
platform, we maintained an expanded access prograindrug supplies were exhausted at the end &1 206r amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
(ALS), also known as Lou Gehrig's disease. We lads@ provided IPLEX for an early-stage researclgiamm investigating retinopathy of
prematurity (ROP) through an IPLEX Material Tramsfgreement with Premacure AB, a private compamgated in Sweden. Sufficient
quantity of IPLEX has been supplied to Premacurétéocompletion of an ongoing Phase 2 trial, wHgkmacure will conduct and analyze at
its expense.

ARIKACE Overview

We believe that our lead product candidate, ARIKAGES the potential to be differentiated from otimarketed drugs for the
treatment of chronic lung infections due to itsigbto deliver high, sustained levels of amikadirectly to the lung and to minimize the serum
levels of amikacin compared with 1V administratiéke believe the inhalation delivery of amikacinyded by ARIKACE may improve
efficacy and may reduce the potential to causeradwevents such as ototoxicity (hearing loss, niggn the ears and/or loss of balance) and
nephrotoxicity (toxicity to the kidneys) comparedhintravenous administration. In addition, ARIKA may be more convenient to
administer as it is delivered once daily comparét the currently marketed inhaled antibiotics, @hrequire administration two to three tin
daily.

We believe that ARIKACE has the potential todifferentiated further because the liposomal dejitechnology may allow
ARIKACE to reach the site of the lung infection teetthan other inhaled aminoglycoside antibiotiEsr treating?seudomonaking infections
in CF patients, ARIKACE was designed with a nelyreharged liposome and has been shdawnitro (or in laboratory studieks, to penetrate
the negatively charged bacterial biofilm, a pratecbarrier produced bseudomonasWhile all aminoglycoside antibiotics are positive
charged and bind to the negative surface of thiéliconly ARIKACE has been shown to penetrate biefilm effectively. This means that
ARIKACE may reach the site of tHeseudomonamfection in CF patients’ lungs more efficientlyatihithe other aminoglycoside antibiotics.
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For NTM lung infections, ARIKACE has been showrb® preferentially taken up by the macrophages, e/hNaiM often grows. As
NTM is an intracellular pathogen, this may allow IKRCE to reach the site of the NTM lung infectiobestter than other antibiotic

Development Summary: Treatment of Pseudomonas Ihegjions in CF Patients

In Phase 2 studies in CF patients vitdeudomonaling infections, ARIKACE has been shown to provigigrovement in lung
function during treatment and sustained improvenrehtng function between treatment periods. Ifraped, ARIKACE could be the first
approved inhaled antibiotic to be administered aeiby.

Typically an inhaled antibiotic is given to CF patis with chroni®®seudomonaking infections for 28 days followed by a 28-daf of
treatment cycle. We completed two randomized,gilaecontrolled phase 2 studies with ARIKACE in 105 patients who had chronic
Pseudomonalung infections. Data from the patients receivihg target Phase 3 program dose of ARIKACE, 560ismmgiimmarized below.
ARIKACE was delivered at a dose of 560 mg onceydad an eFlow Nebulizer System for 28 consecudiags. ARIKACE demonstrated
statistically significant and clinically meaningfishprovement in lung function throughout the 28-tizaatment period compared with
placebo. In addition, the improvement in lung fiime that was achieved at the end of the 28-dayrestment period was sustained during the
28-day off-treatment period (days 29 through 5&) was statistically significantly better than plaoe

In a follow-on separate long-term, open-label, imzytle clinical trial conducted in Europe, ARIKAGEas given at a dose of 560 mg
via an eFlow Nebulizer System (to patients forcirmplete cycles). (Open label means that botlpétient and the treating physician know
that they are receiving ARIKACE and not placebBgch cycle consisted of a 28-day on-treatment &rday off-treatment period, which is
double the standard 28-day off-treatment periodhis clinical study, ARIKACE produced an improvemhén lung function that was sustained
over the six cycles (approximately 17 months)adidition, during the off-treatment periods, appnoxiely 50% to 70% of the benefit achieved
during the 28-day on-treatment periods was susian¢he end of the 56-day off-treatment peridasother words, ARIKACE demonstrated
sustained efficacy in lung function improvementidgrthe treatment and off-treatment periods acnoskiple cycles of therapy. To our
knowledge, no other inhaled antibiotic has showstaned improvement in lung function at the end 66-day off-treatment period. In
addition, ARIKACE was well-tolerated with overalierse events reported as consistent with thosectagh in a population of CF patients
receiving inhaled medicines.

We currently expect to commence patient accrutiiénsecond quarter of 2012 for a Phase 3 clintaalysof ARIKACE for CF
patients withPseudomonaling infections to support potential approval irr@e and potentially other countries outside th®. The study
will be a randomized, Phase 3 trial comparing ARBERA560 mg, delivered once daily via an optimizedestigational eFlow Nebulizer
System, to Tobi®(1) (inhaled tobramycin solutiorgvdrtis Pharmaceutical Corporation), which is akaged inhaled antibiotic that is
delivered twice daily. We anticipate that the stwdly be conducted in approximately 300 patiertdie primary endpoint will be change in
pulmonary function (FEV-1) measured after threel@@ on-treatment and three 28 day off-treatmenltesy@bout six months). A key
secondary endpoint will be time to pulmonary exhagon. The study design was previously agreech tyyous and the European Medicines
Agency (EMA).

The key elements of these study designs and regulpaths have been agreed to with the EMA and thi#hregulatory agencies in
individual countries in which the trials will be moucted.

In February 2012, we filed our complete responged-DA clinical hold on the U.S. study of ARIKAGE CF patients with
Pseudomonas infection. We will continue discussieith the FDA to pursue removal of the clinicaldhon ARIKACE in U.S. for the
treatment of CF patients with Pseudomonas lungiitfies.

Development Summary: Treatment of Patients with NTiMy Infections

In the NTM indication, we filed an IND applicati@nd gained agreement from the FDA in the first tpraof 2011 to conduct a Phase
3 clinical trial in patients with NTM lung infectis. In August 2011, we announced that the FDAgtaded the ARIKACE clinical trial
program for patients with NTM lung infections onldho In January 2012, the FDA lifted the clinicalith on the ARIKACE clinical trial
program for NTM.
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On February 9, 2012, we announced that we wereepthieg with initiation of patient accrual to a Ph&s placebo-controlled trial for
adult patients who have lung infections due to NTMis NTM trial differs in two ways from the trigthat was agreed to by us and the FDA
before the clinical hold was put into place: (1g turrent trial is considered a Phase 2 trial ratien a Phase 3 trial, and (2) the current trial
will be conducted in adult patients (ages 18 ara/aeprather than patients who are ages 12 and above

The Phase 2 clinical trial for ARIKACE in NTM patits will consist of a randomized, placebo-contiktudy of approximately 100
adult patients with recalcitrant NTM lung infecteanThere are two parts to the study: a randonmppetion and an open-label portion. Patients
who are NTM culture positive will continue with thantibiotic treatment regimen, and receive addiilly, either ARIKACE 560 mg,
delivered once daily via an optimized, investigasibeFlow Nebulizer System, or placebo once dailge primary efficacy endpoint will be
change in mycobacterial density from baseline ¢éoethd of 84 days of treatment. At the conclusithe randomized portion of the study,
eligible patients will receive ARIKACE 560 mg ondaily for an additional 84 days in an open-labelige, primarily to measure longer-term
safety and efficacy. The clinical trial design vpasviously agreed upon by us and the FDA. We exjoebegin enrolling patients in the Phase
2 clinical trial in mid-2012.

Patients enrolled in the study will include thegeh NTM lung infections with persistently posiéymycobacterial cultures following
a stable ATS/IDSA-guidelines-based treatment regidefined as “adherent to a multi-drug regimenafidleast 6 months prior to
screening.” Only patients who have non-WBcobacterium AviunComplex (MAC) or non-TBVlycobacterium Abscessusll be permitted to
enroll in the trial. These are two sub-types ofMNthat are believed to account for the vast majaftNTM lung infections in the U.S.

Overall Product Profile

The overall product profile that we are workingdi@velop for ARIKACE includes: (1) improved efficaoysulting from sustained
deposition of drug in the lung and improved abitilyreach the site of infection (for Glseudomonamfections, this means penetration of
Pseudomonabiofilm and facilitated drug release by factorstthge secreted by the bacteria, and for NTM, thesuns enhanced uptake into
macrophages, where NTM often grows); (2) decreaswdrse events and improved tolerability; (3) redudosing frequency; and (4)
decreased administration time.

ARIKACE Delivery Technology

There are two separate components to the delieehnblogy for ARIKACE. There is the liposomal fartation of the drug and the
device, a nebulizer through which ARIKACE is infdtrough the mouth into the lung.

The liposomal formulation is key to both the retentof amikacin in the lung, which allows once-ardeosing, and the ability of
ARIKACE to gain close access to bacterRsgudomonas aeruginoy&ither within a biofilm, as in the case in CFigats, or within infected
macrophages, as in the case of NTM patients. ldicalization near the bacteria that allows highaamtrations of drug to be delivered where it
is needed most to improve efficacy.

Liposomes are microscopic spherical shells thataiorwater surrounded by a thin lipid membrane. IK4&CE liposomes are less th
0.3 microns in diameter and contain amikacin inwaer interior in a very high concentration; tteeg very efficient delivery systems that h
been optimized for inhalation therapy. These lipoes are formed using neutral lipids identicahimse found naturally in the lung; therefore
the composition is highly compatible with lung ties

With a neutral surface charge and small size, ARTIKAiposomes are able to effectively penetratehiek CF mucus and the
bacterias protective covering (biofilm), both of which welleve restrict the availability of unencapsulaéainoglycosides such as tobramy
and amikacin. ARIKACE liposomes are also readilein up by immune cells in the lung (alveolar mpheges) that “eat” inhaled
particles. When NTM infects these immune cellgs ilsually sheltered against attack from exteandibiotics, but with ARIKACE, the uptake
of the liposomes allows the drug to get inside ¢headls to attack the organisms.
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The second part of our technology is the statérefert drug delivery nebulizer, which we believpresents a competitive
advantage. ARIKACE will be administered once daily inhalation using an investigational eFlow Nigrr System optimized specifically
ARIKACE. We believe the optimized, investigatiomdllow Nebulizer System significantly reduces treattrtime, thereby easing the patient's
treatment burden and potentially improving pateshpliance.

The patented optimized, investigational eFlow NeteulSystem is a medical device that uses eFlofant@ogy to enable highly
efficient aerosolization, or delivery of inhaled dieation, including liposomal formulations via &xating, perforated membrane that includes
thousands of specially designed laser-drilled halddéch aids the delivery of ARIKACE to the lungVe believe that compared with current
nebulizer systems, the optimized, investigatiofdbe Nebulizer System is significantly more effistdoecause it delivers a very high density
of active drug, in a precisely defined and conemltiroplet size, with a high proportion of respieatiroplets delivered in a relatively short
period of time. Combined with its quiet mode o&ogition, small size, light weight and battery-posgeoperation, we believe the optimized,
investigational eFlow Nebulizer System potentiadiguces the burden of taking daily inhaled treatsien

Market Opportunity Summary
ARIKACE

Our current intention is to retain marketing rigiis ARIKACE in the U.S. We will continue to evaligaour marketing options for
Europe and other countries. Because of the smallsfed nature of the potential physician prescrilpiogulation for CF and NTM patients in
the U.S., we believe ARIKACE will require limite@mmercial infrastructure (e.g., fewer than 50 sadgsesentatives in the U.S.), which may
enable us to achieve profitability sooner followimgrket launch than an indication that requiresuahmarger internal commercial
infrastructure.

Market Opportunity: CF Patients with Pseudomonasad.infections

CF is an inherited chronic disease that is oftaguadsed before the age of two. According to thstiC¥ibrosis Foundation, CF
affects roughly 30,000 children and adults in th8.land roughly 70,000 children and adults worléwiimong other issues, CF causes a tl
sticky mucous to develop in and clog the lungstamgaan ideal environment for various pathogenshsasPseudomonasto form and grow,
infecting the lung and leading to inflammation dosk of lung function.

According to the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patieagistry (2010), despite extensive treatment witlitiple antibiotics, improved
nutrition, and other treatments, life expectancya @F patient is only about 38 years. A recerdysteported in the Journal of Cystic Fibrosis
(2010) found that deterioration in lung functiorthie main cause of death in these patients andtddsyst efforts, lung function declines by
to 3% annually with some patients experiencingrarual decline of 10% or more.

According to the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation (Cystibrosis Foundation Patient Registry, 2010), nibas half of all CF patients
acquiredPseudomonaling infections by age 18. Patients generallyix@cextensive antibiotic treatments, which can bkvered via the oral,
intravenous and inhaled routes. Antibiotics detdeevia inhalation have become part of standamtrivents for CF patients witPseudomonas
lung infections and are generally thought to beag @ deliver more drug directly to the site ofeicfion compared with other routes of
administration. However, in part because of thektbticky mucous these patients produce in theigs, CF patients seldom clear the
Pseudomonas permanently from their lungs and becbmaaically infected in spite of all currently akadle antibiotic treatments.

CF therapy significantly impacts patients’ quatitiylife. Some patients with CF spend up to threerk per day taking medications
and other treatments, including inhaled antibioti€se current most commonly used inhaled antibiiotithe U.S. is inhaled tobramycin (Tot
which was approved by the FDA and has been sdltkit).S. since January 1998. Tobi is administesécke daily over 30 to 40 minutes per
day for 28 days followed by a 28-day-off periochis'cycle of "on" and "off" treatment is repeatadaichronic pattern. We anticipate that
ARIKACE will be administered once daily for apprmately 13 minutes per day for 28 days followed Byd2y off-drug period. We believe
that any inhaled treatment that reduces the tregtmeden of a CF patient could represent a sicgnifi improvement in the patient's quality of
life. We believe a once-daily shorter treatmentliddaster better compliance and potentially regubbetter effectiveness. We have been
granted orphan drug designation for CF patients dv@Pseudomonaking infections in both the U.S. and the EU.
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Because current marketed inhaled antibiotics dprmduce an improvement in lung function as meashyeForced Expiratory
Volume in one second (FEV-1) that lasts duringZBedayoff treatment periods, CF thought leaders have bheéguecommend more aggres:
inhaled antibiotic treatment for CF patients byngsa different class of inhaled antibiotic in tHeperiod with the goal of better maintaining
lung function. Aminoglycosides, including Tobigatrecommended as first-line inhaled antibiotictirent in the on-month due to their
established effectiveness agaiRseudomonas If the effectiveness of ARIKACE againBseudomonais confirmed after the evaluation of
Phase 3 data and ARIKACE is approved, our goar#RIKACE also to be recommended as first-linealdu antibiotic treatment in the on-
month.

We believe that the global CF market for inhaletibémtics will experience significant growth in tmext five to ten years from the
approximately $450 to $500 million market todayhisTgrowth is being driven by physicians’ desirertaintain CF patients’ lung function,
which continues to decline in many patients despitensive treatment with current therapies inecigdhe currently approved inhaled
antibiotics.

Expected growth in the market is due to:

« Physicians moving to alternating regimens every timas opposed to giving patients-treatment holidays on alternate mon

« Better patient adherence to physician prescribguinens resulting from more convenient (less fregaeil less time
consuming) treatmen

« Physicians initiating inhaled antibiotics earlier patients witfPseudomonais their lungs;
« CF patients living longer; ar
« The standard of care in the rest of the world ewitig to advance closer to that of the EU and tt& U

Market Opportunity: NTM Lung Infections

NTM lung infections can cause severe pulmonaryagisdor which there are currently limited effectik@atments. NTM are
organisms common in soil and water that have besociated with lung disease in select patient ggoNfM may be considered to be a col
of tuberculosis (TB) but not contagious. Many dedpave NTM in their bodies, but it does not nofgnabuse a problem and lead to an
infection, as it is believed the body'’s self-redimg immune system usually successfully combatgtireat of NTM infection. It is not
completely understood why some individuals are episicle to NTM infections. However, the patientkeafed often are immune-compromised
or have structural damage in their lungs at the tiney become infected.

Mycobacteriaare intracellular organisms that invade and multghliefly within macrophages. They are charactieadly resistant to
most antibiotics. NTM lung infections usually ateenic conditions that can lead to frequent exaatéohs and lengthy hospital stays.
Treatment for NTM lung infections requires lengthulti-drug regimens that can be poorly tolerated poorly effective, especially in patients
with severe disease or in those who have failea preatment attempts. There have been very favicelitrials to support current treatment
recommendations, and no new drugs have been addesskis disease in many years.

According to a Company-sponsored analysis conduntesiD| Healthcare, more than 30,000 patientsadsithysician offices
suffering with NTM lung infections in the U.S. daog 2008. There were between 14,000 and 15,008matvho had a hospital visit for a
primary diagnosis of NTM. The average age of thpteents was about 66. Approximately two-thirfishe NTM patients received at least
one antibiotic and of those receiving an antibidtiey received between seven and eight cours23da.
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Although there are many species of nontuberculoysoivacteria that have been reported to cause hfagtions, ARIKACE will be
used to treat two of the most commbhycobacterium AviunComplex (MAC) andMycobacterium abscessusMAC accounts for the vast
majority of NTM lung infections with prevalence eatfrom 72% to over 85% in the U.S. The reportedg@ence rates favl. Abscessusange
from 3% to 11% in the U.S. The diagnosed prevadafdNTM species causing lung infections variesgyaphically with lower rates of MAC
reported in Europe in the 25% to 55% range.

We believe the unmet need for new therapies inrd@ment of NTM lung infections is very high. Fatis are often treated with the
same antibiotics that are used to treat TB. Ctitreatment usually consists of lengthy multi-damdibiotic regimens that are often poorly
tolerated and not very effective, especially inguas with severe disease or in those who havedatior treatments. Treatment guidelines
published in 2007 in th&merican Journal of Respiratory and Critical Carecinereport that few clinical trials are under way terndify
treatment recommendations, and no new antibioee been studied for the treatment of NTM lungdtiéms in multi-center, randomized
clinical trials for many years.

Amikacin is not approved by the FDA for NTM lundeéations but is often recommended as part of thedstrd treatment regimen for
some NTM patients. It is delivered mostly via &awenous administration but sometimes via inhalatida the drug is delivered for months at a
time, there can be considerable toxicity associai¢iltreatment due to the high systemic (bloodgle of the drug, which can lead to
ototoxicity (hearing loss, ringing in the ears amdbss of balance) and nephrotoxicity (toxicitythe kidneys).

We believe that ARIKACE may be effective in tregtipatients with NTM lung infections because of éihdity of the ARIKACE
liposomes to be taken up inside lung macrophaggshtirbor invading organisms such as NTM. Macrgphare immune cells whose primary
function includes removing foreign particles andteaa from the lungs. Ironically, NTM organisntsde” within the macrophages, making
treatment difficult as drugs cannot efficiently gaiccess to the macrophage interior. Because ARKHAposomes are recognized as foreign
particles, they are also internalized by the mduages, consequently delivering very high leveldrafy inside the macrophages to reach the
NTM bacteria. In addition, we believe that the degffect of ARIKACE in the lung and lower level sfstemic exposure comparec
intravenous amikacin may provide additional besdfitthese patients and reduce the ototoxicityreapdhrotoxicity.

We applied for orphan drug designation for NTM gifens in the U.S. in 2011. In response to ourigppbn, the FDA has requested
eitherin vivo (non-clinical data in animals) or clinical datasmpport of our application for orphan drug desigmatWe plan to file for orphan
drug designation for NTM lung infections again thé&. and in the EU after obtaining additional plieical data.

Additional Market Opportunity: Non-CF Bronchiecta$tatients witiPseudomonas aerugindsang Infections

While we are concentrating our development effortshe areas we believe have the greatest potetigaireatment dPseudomonas
lung infections in CF patients and patients withNNILing infections, we believe that ARIKACE has patial to be used for treating other types
of conditions. We may pursue additional areas eEligpment once we have completed clinical studieshfe first two indications. We believe
non-CF bronchiectasis offers another potential etaokportunity and that ARIKACE has the potentiabe used to treat ndDF bronchiectas
characterized bf?seudomonaksing infections, for which we also have orphan dstegus in the U.S.

Non-CF bronchiectasis is a serious pulmonary c@mitharacterized by localized, irreversible erdangnt of the bronchial
tubes. Accumulation of mucus in the bronchi letdsequent infections, which causes inflammatiad &urther reduces lung function in these
patients. Patients evolve to a chronic inflammatitfection cycle. Disease burden has primarilgrbknked to productive cough and high
levels of sputum (lung mucus) production.

It is estimated that approximately 30% of non-Cérlzhiectasis patients are infected wRteudomonasWhen bronchiectasis patiel
become infected witfPseudomonasthey tend to have more frequent exacerbationshasfitalizations and are more frequent users of
antibiotics.

While we believe there is a significant opporturigydevelop ARIKACE for non-CF bronchiectasis, wertbt intend to initiate further

clinical studies until we have completed additioclaiical studies for the first two indications, @&tients withPseudomonaking infections
and NTM lung infections. At that time, we will duate whether to develop ARIKACE further for thistential indication.
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IPLEX

We have a proprietary protein product, IPLEX (mecasnrinfabate, recombinant DNA origin, injectioa)complex of recombinant
human IGF-1 and its binding protein IGFBP-3 (rhiGaIGFBP-3). IPLEX has been studied as a treatftergeveral serious medical
conditions such as myotonic muscular dystrophy @)Mnd ALS. It is currently being evaluated in theatment of retinopathy of prematu
(ROP).

IPLEX development is no longer a development piydior us. We announced in January 2012 that wenihto seek licensing partn
future development of IPLEX. In addition, we no ¢@n have protein development capability nor thbanse capability to manufacture IPLEX.

Consistent with our out-licensing plans, IPLEX &y evaluated as treatment for ROP by Premacure.
Expanded Access Program (EAP) for Patients in ti#& dnd Europe with ALS

ALS is a progressive neurodegenerative diseasaffets nerve cells in the brain and the spinadlcdMotor neurons reach from the
brain to the spinal cord and from the spinal carthhervate muscles throughout the body. Whenrtber neurons die, the ability of the brain
to initiate and control muscle movement is loshe progressive degeneration of the motor neuroAd 81 patients eventually leads to
death. IGF-1 has been shown to be highly neurbtcogind normally circulates in the body bound wviishnatural chaperone, BP3.

At the request of the Italian Ministry of Healthewstablished an EAP in Italy to provide IPLEX tyysgicians for use in their patients
with ALS. Through an agreement with Cephalon,,latich holds patent rights in the EU to IGF-1a®lates to the treatment of ALS, we
have been able to provide IPLEX to physiciansatyland receive payment for the drug, on a cogsivery basis, from the Italian Health
Authorities. In November 2009, through an agreemétit Genentech, Inc. (now Hoffman-LaRoche Ltd.arcRe), and Tercica Inc. (how
Ipsen Inc.), we were allowed to develop IPLEX in@\bn a royalty-free basis for the rest of the wolldhough we are not actively or directly
pursuing any such controlled clinical developmenhis time in this area, we have been gatherirgpotrolled data on ALS through our EAP,
which will be completed during the first half of ZDas drug supplies were exhausted at the endldf. 20

ROP

ROP is a disease in which the small blood vesgetlsa back of the eye, the retina, grow abnormaltys disorder primarily affects
premature infants weighing about 2.75 pounds, 801ftams, or less who are born before 31 weekesthgon (a full-term pregnancy has a
gestation of 38—42 weeks). The smaller a baby lgrtkt, the more likely that baby is to develop RORis disorder, which usually develops in
both eyes, is one of the most common causes afrviess in childhood and can lead to lifelong visopairment and blindness.

There are approximately 3.9 million infants borrthie U.S. each year; of those, about 28,000 weigh gounds or less. It is estimated
that 14,000 to 16,000 of these infants are affebyesome degree of ROP. Of these, 1,100 to 1,5@@t& annually develop ROP that is severe
enough to require medical treatment and 400 toid@dts each year in the U.S. become legally biioch ROP.

In an earlier clinical study of 84 gestational-agatched premature infants with or without ROP,rttean serum IGF-I was
significantly lower in those with ROP than withd®©OP, and a relationship was found with the sevefitROP. This finding that the
development of ROP is associated with low levelk3H-1 after premature birth suggest the replacem&iGF-1 to physiological levels found
in uteromight prevent the disease by allowing normal vascdévelopment.

We have supplied IPLEX to Premacure, which has gotadl a Phase 1 pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynardisafety study that
merited the ongoing Phase 2 multicenter trial RItEX in the ROP indication. The study is using HREEX previously supplied to Premacu
which it believes is sufficient to complete the B&& trial. We have been informed by Premacureetigat infants have been recruited into the
trial as of the end of January 28, 2012 and we rataled that Premacure plans to accrue up to 98ratio get 80 evaluable patients in the 1
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Short-Stature and Other Indications

In the past, we were focused on development andraooialization of IPLEX for the treatment of growftiilure in children with
severe primary IGF-1 deficiency. IPLEX was appibbg the FDA for treatment of severe primary IGHeficiency in December 2005 and
was commercially launched in the second quart@066.

In December 2004, Tercica, Inc. (now The Ipsen @y@nd Genentech (now Roche) filed patent infringehsuits against us in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of [Farnia and in the United Kingdom at the High Cbaf Justice, Chancery Division, Patents
Court.

On March 5, 2007, we reached a settlement agreeznelinig all litigation with Tercica, Inc. and Gemeeh. The settlement agreerr
prevents us from actively pursuing worldwide depeh@nt activities for the shostature indication. Pursuant to the agreemengagveed to ¢
sales and marketing of IPLEX in the U.S. and agteesithdraw our European Marketing Authorizatiopfication for IPLEX. The agreem
also gives us the right, through a worldwide depaient partnership with Tercica and Genentech, tketdPLEX for conditions not related
shortstature. The development partnership includes piraws for certain royalty payment obligations taciea and Genentech based on pr
sales. The development partnership also includeggions for a 50% share of profits and reimbursenfier 50% of development costs if eitl
Tercica or Genentech exercises opt-in rights forketing of IPLEX in any of these new indicationgithve develop.

Other Programs

We have three other compounds for which we ar@uarguing further development on our own, Inhalé8RLATIN Lipid Complex,
rhIGFBP-3 and INSM-18, all of which are in earlpgé development.

Inhaled CISPLATIN Lipid Complex is a novel sustalaelease formulation of CISPLATIN in a lipid-basegimplex designed
specifically for administration via inhalation foancers affecting the lung. The compound was dudi¢hree separate phase 1 clinical studies:
patients who have lung metastasis due to recuostebsarcoma, patients who have broncho-alveoteincena of the lung and patients with
end-stage non-small cell lung cancer. The compaiodrrently in pre-clinical development, and wedaut-licensed the rights to this
compound to Eleison Pharmaceuticals Inc., a priydteld company focused on developing compoundsfiohan indications. The license
agreement obligates Eleison to make payments tpaois the achievement of certain milestones.

Preclinical models demonstrate that both rhIGFBEM@ INSM-18 interact with the IGF system to redtwsaor growth. We are not
actively pursuing the development of either of thpeoducts at this time and have out licensedigits of INSM-18 to Napo Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., for diabetes and to TriAct Therapeutics lioc.other indications. Due to the high cost ofltii the oncology area, we would need to
identify a partner to co-develop rhIGFBP-3.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
ARIKACE Development Prograr

We are developing ARIKACE, liposomal amikacin fohalation for use in the treatment of gram-negaitifections of the lung, and
for the treatment of pulmonary mycobacterial ini@ts.

We initiated non-clinical development of liposonaahikacin for inhalation in 2000 and continued wotitimization of the formulation
to develop ARIKACE with the perspective of havindiferentiated commercial product with the potahtor enhanced efficacy, safety and
convenience for patients. The toxicology programARIKACE was initiated in 2006 and was the basisthe U.S. IND filing in May 2007.
The early development of ARIKACE has been partlyded under grants from the Cystic Fibrosis Foundati

ARIKACE is a sterile aqueous liposomal dispersionifihalation via nebulization using an optimizatjestigational eFlow Nebulizer

System. ARIKACE is comprised of amikacin sulfate&psulated in liposomes composed of dipalmitoydphatidylcholine (DPPC) and
cholesterol.
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The ingredients of ARIKACE were selected to maxientize potential therapeutic effects and stabilitthe product. Lipids are the
major constituents of pulmonary surfactant. Timgle most prevalent compound in pulmonary surfddtathe di-saturated phospholipid,
DPPC, which makes up about one-third of lung stafastcphospholipids. Another principal neutraldifpn pulmonary surfactant is cholesterol.

Penetration of Sputum and Biofilm

CF patients produce and have a buildup of muctisein lungs. In additiorPseudomonasrganisms create a biofilm within the
mucus, which acts as an added physical barrieegtioyy the bacteria from direct attack by antilistiCurrent scientific evidence indicates that
both the patient’s mucus and the bacterial biofiewe negative charges and because conventionabglydosides antibiotics are positively
charged, it is believed that they bind to the stefaf the mucus and biofilm and therefore havetéhiability to penetrate them, preventing
effective dose levels of the drug from gettinghe bacteria. The currently approved aminoglycoaittéiotic, inhaled tobramycin, has been
reported to bind to the CF patient’s sputum andilbio This electrostatic binding accounts for gpeoximately 50% decrease in
bioavailability of inhaled tobramycin (Hunt et al995), which means that less antibiotic may rehefsite of the infection in the lung.

The proprietary liposomal technology upon which KRCE is based, which utilizes lipids that occururatly in the lung, may make
it possible for the antibiotic to overcome the paiive physical barriers presented by the CF pgdiemvn mucus and by the bacterial
biofilm. We believe that the charge-neutral sugfa€the liposomes used in our patented liposooratdilation allows them to penetrate the
negatively charged biofilm and deliver the drugmtéa bacteria, which are encased inside the hiofil

We have conducteid vitro experiments that demonstrate that ARIKACE liposopersetrate both human CF sputum and the biofilm
of Pseudomonamacro-colonies. We believe getting the amikacirr teshe bacteria enhances the antimicrobial effé&RIKACE because
virulence factors secreted from the targeted bichetve been shown to facilitate the release okaom from the ARIKACE liposomes once
they have penetrated the biofilm, a “Trojan Horggde of effect. In other words, by causing th@$ipmes to leak once ARIKACE is inside the
biofilm, the drug is released where it is neededtear the bacteria, and, thus, Bseudomonakacteria participate in their own potential
destruction (Meers et al, Journal of Antimicroltdlemotherapy (2008) 61, 859-868).

Cystic Fibrosis

CF is a genetic disease resulting from mutatiores 230kb gene on chromosome 7 known as the CFtiebrane conductance
regulator (CFTR). There are more than 1,000 naatknown to cause CF. Study subjects with CF fesinpathological changes in a variety
of organs that express CFTR. The lungs are fretyuafiected, the sequelae being chronic infectiand airway inflammation. The principal
goal of treatment of subjects with CF is to slow thronic deterioration of lung function.

CF occurs primarily in individuals of central anéstern European origin. In the U.S., in 2010 nteelian predicted age of survival
rose in 2010 to about 38 years, up from 32 yeaP9@0 (Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Regis2010). The median predicted age of
survival is the age by which half of the current RB&tient Registry population would be expecteditwise, given the ages of the patients in the
registry and the distribution of deaths. The EaredCF Registry has approximately 29,000 CF patignits database, with an estimated
population of 37,000 patients with CF in Europet@Daresented at NACFC, 2007).

Bronchial infections witiPseudomonaare a major cause of morbidity and mortality ampatients with CF. A major factor in the
respiratory health of CF subjects is acquisitioclmonicPseudomonamfections. The infection rate witAseudomonacreases with age, and
by age twenty-four almost 80% of CF subjects inh8. are infected.Pseudomonagrows in macrocolonies with biofilm-like characstits
in the hypoxic (lacking oxygen) environment of thepissated (the process of thickening due togfample, dehydration) mucus of CF
patients.

A major contributor to the significant increasdifa expectancy is improved antibiotic treatmenthfonic respiratory tract infections
in CF subjects (Goss and Rosenfeld, 2004), asasédthproved nutrition and earlier diagnosis.
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Therapies for CF

Pseudomonais susceptible to several wide spectrum antibiptiosably aminoglycosides. Some examples of antyjiwogide
antibiotics include tobramycin and amikacin. Sesdiound that Aminoglycosides are an importantsctdsantibiotics for the treatment of CF
because of their broad antimicrobial activity andaentration dependent bactericidal activity (Latwl., 1998; Lortholary et al., 1995;
Zembower et al., 1998). Intravenous antibioticsenariginally used for treatment of chronic infects associated with CF and are still used for
pulmonary exacerbations. Studies report that Qioty and nephrotoxicity are common adverse evastociated with the use of intravenous
aminoglycosides and these effects are relatecasnm drug levels (Mingeot-Leclercq and Tulkens9)99

The current standard of care in the U.S. for theagament of chronieseudomonaisfection in subjects with CF includes the use of
suppressive therapy with inhaled tobramycin (ToBi)study reports that Inhaled tobramycin, 300 administered twice a day for cycles of
days followed by 28-days-off treatment was showrettucePseudomonasolony counts, increase FEV1 % predicted, reduspitalizations
and decrease additional antibiotic use (Ramsel,€it399). High levels of tobramycin can be attairin the lung with relatively low systemic
exposure with inhaled drug compared to intravertobsamycin. However, patients must be dosed taiday for approximately 15 to 20
minute inhalation sessions per dose. More recdatltive appeared to show that the effect of Tolgwmonary function has lessened since its
introduction into the marketplace more than a deagb (Konstan et al, Journal of Cystic Fibrosieuary 2011 and Assael et al,'84
European Cystic Fibrosis Society Conference, P&tedune 2011).

There are two main obstacles to effective and saggment of CF. First, high-level multi-drug aince complicates eradication of
such strains from the bronchial secretions of Ciepts; and second, there is antibiotic limited gtestion of animnoglycoside antibiotics into
the sputum/biofilm matrix and availability of theug) at the location of the microorganism is subopti Aminoglycoside antimicrobial agen
such as amikacin and tobramycin, are commonly fmetleating CF patients who hataseudomonaking infections; however, due to this
high-level resistance, large effect-site exposofdhese drugs are required. Unfortunately, theairenous doses needed to achieve such
exposures can be nephro- and oto-toxic.

With ARIKACE, high lung and sputum concentratiohattare sustained for prolonged periods with biofilenetration are potential
advantages over other aminoglycoside solutiongfmalation. We believe possible improvements omeled tobramycin would be to
potentially increase the potency of antibacteridivity and efficacy of drug in the off-treatmergnmod, decrease the frequency of
administration, reduce the administration time angrove quality of life.

NTM Lung Infections

Non-tuberculousnycobacteriaare ubiquitous in the environment. The pulmonasgase caused by these organisms has features the
overlap with tuberculosis, but disease definitian be more complex as recovery of a single isdtata the airway secretions does not
necessarily indicate disease. In contrast to tubbeses, there is no convincing evidence of persppdrson transmission.

It appears that the prevalence of human dise&seusable to NTM over the past two decades iséasing. Pulmonary disease due to
NTM was traditionally reported as occurring in mateokers with emphysema. More recently, certaiaatie and demographic populati
seem to be particularly susceptible to pulmonasgase with NTM. Elderly, Caucasian women wittapparent predisposing conditions have
been reported with increasing frequency to havenpuabry disease associated with MAC, and is rep@sea prominent cause of chronic co
with infiltrates.

Signs and symptoms of NTM pulmonary disease arabl@rand nonspecific. They include chronic cowggutum production, and
fatigue. Less commonly, malaise, dyspnea, fevandptysis, and weight loss can also occur, usuatly advanced NTM disease. Evaluation
is often complicated by the symptoms caused byxistieg lung diseases. According to a study phiglisin theAmerican Journal of
Respiratory and Critical Care Medicir,, these conditions include chronic obstructivevai disease associated with smoking, bronchiectasis
previous mycobacterial diseases, CF, and pneumasisn{Olivier et al. 2003).

Treatment guidelines for patients with MAC lungedise published in the 2007 ATS/IDSA consensus dentimere based primarily
on small uncontrolled or non-comparative studiegdtients with predominantly severe or recalcittd®C disease. There remains a lack of
sufficiently powered prospective, randomized, ciatitrials aimed at the treatment of pulmonary Mdi€ease. There were no sufficient
clinical trials for pulmonary. abscessugpon which to base treatment recommendations;esgufdelines list drugs that may be effective
based on either in vitro susceptibility or efficatyown in skin and soft tissue infections. Manyh&f drugs used in these prolonged, multi-drug
regimens are poorly tolerated. It is clear frongfrsite studies that more effective, less-toxaradipeutic options are needed.
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Amikacin solution for parenteral administratiorais established drug that is effective against eetsaof NTM. However, its use is
limited by the need to administer it intravenoushd by toxicity to hearing, balance, and kidneycfion.

In the case of bacterial infections of the lung, itthalation route of administration is advantageover the intravenous route in that
the aminoglycoside is delivered directly to theeeffsite (in this case, the lung) with neither gigant systemic absorption nor the associated
systemic toxicities. Disadvantages of currentiyrfolated aerosolized aminoglycoside solutions ideltapid clearance from lung tissue,
which, according to a study in 2002, necessitatgpuent dosing (Geller et al., 2002) and the lendtime required to inhale sufficient amou
of drug. Both factors place a high daily treatmantden on patients and may limit patient complkaRIKACE was developed to overcome
these limitations.

ARIKACE Non-Clinical Program

In addition to the release of drug in uninfectethmnary tissue, amikacin is released from ARIKAGESpecific factors present in t
infected airways of CF patients. Sputum componeotsentrated at the sites of infection and inflatiom in the CF lung release amikacin
from liposomes. In vitro studies showed that incubation of ARIKACE with sputfrom CF patients led to an enhanced releasmiazin
when compared to incubation with saline. Thisifiigdsuggests that there are components in sputyratints that can enhance the release of
drugin vivo. Otherin vitro studies showed that the supernatant obtained fronftare ofPseudomonasriginating from a CF patient released
approximately 50% of the amikacin from ARIKACE ovfeur hours. It was also shown that virulencedes{rhamnolipids) derived from
Pseudomonareleased amikacin from ARIKACE liposomes in a caniaion-dependent manner. These findings sugbasthe
microenvironment around bacteria may further featidi release of amikacin near the infecting organis

Therefore, it is proposed that the relatively higimcentrations of drug that can be delivered anidtaiaed locally to the bacterial
macrocolony environment are the basis for the ecddmicrobiologic activity and the predicted eftigaof ARIKACE.

Results from the nonclinical evaluation of ARIKAGEmMonstrate: (1) High concentrations of drug &aodited in the lung, and high
levels are sustained for prolonged periods, with $erum concentrations, (2) ARIKACE penetrates @ktem and biofilm, (3) ARIKACE
exhibits antipseudomonal activity iim vitro andin vivo models, including against resistant isolates, {#jlence factors secreted by
Pseudomonafacilitate the release of amikacin from ARIKACE af%) ARIKACE hasin vitro activity that is superior to amikacin solution
against different strains of NTM.

In August 2011, we announced that the FDA had pllee clinical trial programs for CF and NTM onnitial hold due to findings
from a two-year rat inhalation carcinogenicity studis part of the study, rats were given ARIKACEilg by inhalation for almost two years.
Two of the 120 rats receiving the highest dosedaihgle lung tumor. These rats received ARIKACEeadothat are much greater than the
doses to be administered to humans. The relewairtbe observed rat tumors to the use of ARIKACHumans is unknown ARIKACE was
not associated with changes that may lead to tumaisorterterm studies that we conducted in other animalglithzhally, in a standard seri
of tests that we performed, ARIKACE was not showibé genotoxic. For CF, the FDA has requestedwkatonduct a 9-month dog toxicity
study in parallel with the Phase 3 clinical prograrhe objective of the dog toxicity study is toetatine if the findings of the rat inhalation
carcinogenicity study are observed in a non-roderdel. We have begun the work required to inittheenine-month dog inhalation toxicity
study in the second quarter of 2012. FDA has &tdid that this study may be conducted in paralil & Phase 3 trial in CF patients who have
Pseudomonalung infections.

ARIKACE Clinical Program
Liposomal amikacin for inhalation has been evaldidttea series of Phase 1 clinical studies invohieglthy volunteers and CF
patients who havBseudomonaking infections (the predecessor amikacin formatgti The current formulation of ARIKACE has been

evaluated in Phase 2 clinical studies in CF patirito havéd’seudomonaking infections and bronchiectasis patients wheetliRseudomonas
lung infections.
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CF Program

ARIKACE was evaluated in two double-blind, placetmtrolled Phase 2 studies in CF patients with migrmfections due to
Pseudomona:105 subjects were enrolled. The European stud@Z¥R5) was completed in February 2008, and the $iusly (TR02-106)
was completed in June 2009.

Both studies were conducted in CF patients > 6syebage who were chronically infected wiReeudomonas Patients received via
inhalation 70, 140, 280, 560 mg dose of ARIKACBEptacebo daily for 28 days. Overall, all doses adstéred once daily were well
tolerated. There were no unexpected adverse eardghere were no differences between the griougegerall rates of adverse events. The
adverse events were consistent with underlying iS€ades, although there was a trend toward mitdaderate dysphonia in the 560-mg-dose
group. There were no appreciable changes in acleebility, and there was improvement in oxygatugation.

Patients receiving 560 mg dose of ARIKACE demonsttauperior clinical benefit as compared with g receiving
placebo. There was a statistically superior arstiadued reduction iRseudomonadensity, including mucoid strains (~2.0 log redoiafi
p=0.021), and clinically meaningful and statistigalignificant evidence of clinical benefit as mel by improvement in respiratory
symptoms of CFQ-R- Respiratory Scale (67% on ARIKA@ proving vs. 36% on placebo). Patients recgis60 mg of ARIKACE
demonstrated improved lung function over baselihderpatients on placebo declined over time. Aigtiaally significant treatment effect of
relative change in FEV-1 (lung function) of 12.3p&0.003) was observed at one month after discoingnstudy drug. Patients receiving
ARIKACE had prolonged time to exacerbation (Mea#5=3 days), as compared to placebo (Mean = 31.§)d&here were dose proportional
and high levels of amikacin achieved in the sputuith low systemic exposure.

Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic analyses dératats statistically significant correlations beémechange in FEV1 and dose,
andPseudomonas aeruginosalony forming units (CFU) and dose at days 7,2t4and 28 of the trial (p<0.05).

In addition, protocol TR02-105 was extended aspendabel multi-cycle (six cycles over approximgté8 months: 28 days on
treatment and 56 days off) study to evaluate thg-term safety and efficacy of ARIKACE 560 mg daledivered once daily. The study was
completed in November 2010.

The observations from this study are summarizeovizel

« 49 CF patients participated in this study. Over@RIKACE 560 mg administered once daily for six ®gwas well tolerated
and demonstrated adverse effects that were contsigith those expected in a population of CF pasiefNo unexpected
adverse events were observed with longer term dq3ia weeks)

« The data showed statistically significant reduciioP. aeruginosedensity including mucoid strains when compared \
baseline (p=0.0030). This effect was sustained 6wycles, including the 56-day interval betweesidg. There was no
significant change in minimum inhibitory conceniwat(MIC50) over six cycles of therapy with ARIKAC

« Inhalation of 560 mg of ARIKACE once daily for 2&yk demonstrated statistically significant improeetrin lung functior
over baseline that was sustained over a 72-weétdpeA mean increase in FEV-1 (%) of 11.7% fronsdlane was observed at
the end of treatment of six cycles (p<0.0001). ifmgrovement in lung function was sustained at i @ two months off
ARIKACE, as shown by a mean increase in I-1 (%) of 5.7% (p=0.0001

We believe the safety and efficacy data from thasei? studies demonstrate that ARIKACE administeree daily is generally safe

and well tolerated in CF patients who h&seudomonaking infections, and there is evidence of clinigatl microbiologic benefit, particular
at the 560-mg dose.
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We announced in August 2011 that the FDA had placeléhical hold on our Phase 3 clinical trials ARRIKACE in patients with CF
patients withPseudomonaling infections. FDA informed us that this decisigas based on an initial review of the results luofrey-term rat
inhalation carcinogenicity study with ARIKACE. lhis study, rats received daily doses of ARIKACEityalation for up to two years. The
FDA requested additional information on ARIKACE adfata from the rat study. As a result of the chhitold, we suspended initiation of the
ARIKACE Phase 3 clinical trial programs, includitige recruitment and enrollment of patients.

We provided the requested information to the FDAugust and was informed by the FDA that, base@doreview of the informatio
provided to date, including the rat inhalation d@ogenicity study results, the FDA had insufficiémformation to assess the risks for
ARIKACE in CF patients. In October 2011, the FDAtfied the Company that the FDA was continuing ¢hieical hold previously placed on
Insmed'’s Phase 3 clinical trial for ARIKACE in Chatents withPseudomonaking infections. The FDA requested additional infation from
us, including that we conduct a nine-month dog latian toxicity study of ARIKACE to determine if éhfindings of the rat inhalation
carcinogenicity study are also observed in a nalembd model and to propose a CF patient populatisedde state in which the risk-benefit
profile of ARIKACE may be more favorable. We wenéarmed during further dialogue with the FDA thiaivie chose to proceed, the required
nine-month dog inhalation toxicity study of ARIKAG#®uld be conducted in parallel with the CF Phaskngcal trials in human subjects.

In February 2012, we filed our complete respongded-DA clinical hold on the U.S. study of ARIKAGE CF patients with
Pseudomonainfection. We will continue discussions with thBA to pursue removal of the clinical hold on ARIKAGn U.S. for the
treatment of CF patients witbseudomonaking infections.

We are moving forward with the ARIKACE clinical dglepment program in CF in Europe. The Europeadysitu CF patients with
Pseudomonalung infections will be a randomized, phase 3 t@hparing ARIKACE 560 mg, delivered once daily g&aoptimized,
investigational eFlow Nebulizer System, to TOBI®(ihhaled tobramycin solution), which is a markktehaled antibiotic that is delivered
twice daily. The Company anticipates that the stwdlybe conducted in approximately 300 patientdie primary endpoint will be change in
pulmonary function (FEV-1) measured after threel@@ on-treatment and three 28 day off-treatmenltesy@bout six months). A key
secondary endpoint will be time to pulmonary exbagon. The study design was previously agreechigyoinsmed and the European
Medicines Agency. Eligible patients will have thygtion to participate in a longer term open-latadéty study. The Company expects to begin
enrolling patients in the phase 3 European clinstadly in the second quarter of 2012.

We have been granted orphan drug designation iblt8eand EU for ARIKACE in CF patients who ha®seudomonaking
infections.

NTM lung infections Program

Data obtained from in-vitro testing of ARIKACE veur different strains oflycobacterium aviunsomplex andvl. abscessushave
demonstrated dose response with ARIKACE and supaciivity to free amikacin. We received a respaioseur Pre-IND application for
ARIKACE in the treatment of NTM lung infections asdbmitted an IND to launch a Phase 3 study of ARIE in CF and non-CF patients
with non-tuberculous mycobacterial lung disease.

We announced in August 2011 that the FDA had placeléhical hold on our Phase 3 clinical trials ARRIKACE for patients with
NTM lung infections. In January 2012, the FDA Idtthe clinical hold on ARIKACE in patients with NTMng infections. We intend 1
conduct, as requested by the FDA, a Phase 2 dlimiabin adult NTM patients to provide proof-obucept efficacy and safety data for
ARIKACE in NTM patients. We expect to begin ennodji patients in the Phase 2 clinical trial in midt20

We believe that the safety and efficacy data obthiinom the Phase 2 studies of ARIKACE in CF and-@¢ patients with chronic
lung disease and pulmonary infections and the tioical data summarized to date serve as the Hasésrther development of ARIKACE in
patients with NTM lung infections.

We applied for orphan drug designation for NTM oifens in the U.S. in 2011. In response to ouriapfibn, the FDA has requested

eitherin vivoor clinical data in support of our application faphan drug designation. We plan to file for orpdamg designation for NTM
lung infections again in the U.S. and in the El¢maftbtaining additional pre-clinical data.

19




Index
Bronchiectasis Program

We believe that ARIKACE has the potential to bedusetreat non-CF bronchiectasis characterizeBdgudomonas aeruginokag
infections, for which we also have orphan drugustém the U.S. Bronchiectasis is a serious pulmpnandition characterized by localized,
irreversible enlargement of the bronchial tubes ligads to accumulation of mucus in the bronchiltesy in frequent lung infections.

ARIKACE has also been studied in patients with @mbronchiectasis and chronic infection witkeudomonas This study was
completed in May 2009. Sixty-four study subjecer@vrandomized (1:1:1) to receive either ARIKACE 28g or 560 mg or placebo on study
days 1 through 28 and completed follow-up assestntlierough Day 56. This Phase 2 placebo-contraitady demonstrated safety,
tolerability and clinically meaningful efficacy &RIKACE in the treatment of chronieseudomonasfection in non-CF patients with
bronchiectasis.

ARIKACE 280 mg and 560 mg, administered once df@ty28 days, was safe and well tolerated. The i#vevents were consistent
with underlying chronic lung disease in bronchisidgatients. There was no evidence of renal ityxiz ototoxicity. Patients in the 560-mg
cohort appear to have a slightly higher frequerfayrg cough post administration than in the 280-¢ngort. Cough was of short duration, and
self-limiting. One patient discontinued due to dyspia (hoarseness or difficulty speaking) and cough

There was a statistically significant reductiorPseudomonadensity observed in the 560 mg ARIKACE arm vs. plax  Patients
receiving ARIKACE experienced fewer pulmonary exaegions (4.7%) vs. those receiving placebo (10.58&) patients in the ARIKACE
group required antiPseudomonasescue treatment while 15% of patients in the fdaagroup required treatment. Greater frequenangf
cause hospitalization was noted in the placebom(b18%) vs. the ARIKACE group (2.3%). Patientsaiging ARIKACE demonstrated
sustained superior clinical benefit compared wilignts receiving placebo as measured by improvemdtatient Respiratory Symptoms and
Quality of Life assessment.

While we believe there is a significant opporturidydevelop ARIKACE for non-CF bronchiectasis, werbt intend to decide
whether to initiate further clinical studies untié have completed clinical studies for the firsb twdications, CF patients withseudomonas
lung infections and patients with NTM lung infect®

MANUFACTURING
ARIKACE

ARIKACE is manufactured by a third-party contracimfacturing organization using the technology tyed and optimized within
our company. The contract manufacturer is familidh complex formulations such as ARIKACE and iz facilities and equipment to
support the further development of the product. afve the contract manufacturer must comply witHiagple FDA regulations relating to the
FDA’s cGMP regulations. The cGMP regulations induequirements relating to the organization ofpenel, buildings and facilities,
equipment, control of components and drug prodaotainers and closures, production and processaienpackaging and labeling controls,
holding and distribution, laboratory controls, retmand reports and returned or salvaged prodddts.facilities meet cGMP requirements for
the sterile manufacturing of the finished prodéat.active program is underway that evaluates thiitiarequirements for commercial
production.

IPLEX

We do not intend to pursue IPLEX manufacturing eedannounced in January 2012 that we plan to seekcensing opportunities
for the compound. We previously manufactured aun supply of IPLEX and rhIGFBB-at the Boulder, Colorado, manufacturing facilifie
sale of our Boulder facility to Merck removed ontarnal IPLEX production capability. We have nor@gaat this time to pursue a
manufacturing arrangement for IPLEX with a thirdtga If we were to pursue such an arrangementpthduction process would likely requ
significant investment and could take 18 to 24 rhertr longer once an acceptable third party istified.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
Patents and Trade Secre

Our success depends in part on our ability to raairgroprietary protection surrounding our prodeerhdidates, technology and know-
how; to operate without infringing the proprietaights of others; and to prevent others from irgiirg our proprietary rights. Our policy is to
seek to protect our proprietary position by filidgS. and foreign patent applications related topyoprietary technology, including both new
inventions and improvements of existing technoldbgt are important to the development of our bessnunless this proprietary position
would be better protected using trade secrets.

Our patent strategy includes obtaining patent ptmte, where possible, on compositions of mattesthads of manufacture, methods
of use, treatment, dosing and administration regsrand formulations. We also rely on trade seckeisw-how, continuing technological
innovation, in-licensing and partnership opportiesito develop and maintain our proprietary positio

We monitor third parties for activities that mayringe our proprietary rights, as well as the pesgion of third-party patent
applications that may have the potential to cresieks to our products or otherwise interfere vifite development of our business. We are
aware, for example, of U.S. patents, and correspgridternational counterparts, owned by third ig@rthat contain claims related to treating
lung infections using inhaled antibiotics. If arfytlbese patents were to be asserted against u$o wet believe that our proposed products
would be found to infringe any valid claim of thgsstents. Any conclusions regarding non-infringetand invalidity are based in part on a
review of publicly available databases and othfarination. There may be information not availaioleis or otherwise not reviewed by us that
might change our conclusions. Moreover, the s@rgkvalidity of patent claims are determined basedany facts and circumstances, and in
a litigation, a court may reach a different conmnson any given patent claim than the conclusibias we have reached. Also there is no
assurance that, if we choose or are required toséeense, a license to any of these patentsdvolavailable to us on acceptable terms or at
all.

Reflecting our commitment to safeguarding proprietaformation, we require our employees and caasii$ to sign confidentiality
agreements. Furthermore, we enter into researgengnts in which we exchange proprietary mateaiatdsinformation with collaborators
including material transfer agreements, researcbesgents, development agreements and clinicalagisdements. These agreements prohibit
unauthorized disclosure of our proprietary inforimat To the extent that our consultants, contniacor collaborators use intellectual property
owned by others in their work for us, disputes ragge as to the rights in related or resulting kdmw and inventions. We also seek to
preserve the integrity and confidentiality of oataland trade secrets by maintaining physical ggafrour premises and physical and
electronic security of our information technologgtems.

Even though we employ a number of safeguards ttegrour proprietary information, including confidlity agreements and
implementation of physical security and electrasgcurity of information technology systems, we adrire assured that our proprietary
information is protected. Despite our efforts totpct our proprietary information, unauthorizedtigasrmay attempt to obtain and use our
proprietary information. Policing unauthorized wudeur proprietary information is difficult anddtsteps we have taken might not prevent
misappropriation, particularly in foreign countrigbere the laws may not protect our proprietaritsgcas fully as do the laws of the U.S.

In some cases, litigation or other proceedings beagecessary to enforce our patents or protedtraaw-how or other intellectual
property rights. Any additional potential litigati is likely to result in a substantial cost toamsl a diversion of our resources. We cannot be
sure that any of our patents will ultimately bechealid. An adverse outcome in any litigation oogeeding could subject us to significant
liability.

We focus special attention on filing patent applaras for formulations and delivery regimens for puwoducts in development to
further enhance our patent exclusivity for thosedpicts. We seek to protect our proprietary tectgyobnd processes, in part, by contracting
with our employees, collaborators, scientific advésand our commercial consultants to ensure thatreventions resulting from the
relationship are disclosed promptly, maintainedanfidence until a patent application is filed gmdferably until publication of the patent
application, and assigned to us or subject tola tigobtain a license.
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We do not know whether any of our own patent apilims or those patent applications that are lieéris us will result in the
issuance of any patents. Furthermore, because @xtensive time required for development, testimgd regulatory review of a potential
product, it is possible that any related patent evgyire prior to or shortly after commencing comaiaization, thereby reducing the advantage
of the patent to our business and products.

We own or license rights to more than 200 issugdria and pending patent applications in the Lh8.ia foreign countries. Our
patent portfolio includes patents and patent appbios with claims relating to compositions and moels of treating lung infections. The patent
positions for ARIKACE and IPLEX are described below

« We own U.S. Patent No. 7,544,369 (issued June@®)20.S. Patent No. 7,718,189 (issued May 18, pam@ pending U.<
and foreign patent applications that cover the ARTE composition and its use in treating lung inii@es, including
Pseudomonas aeruginoand nortuberculosis mycobacteri

« Through an agreement with PARI Pharma GmbH, we lbdie=nse to U.S. and foreign patents and appicathat cover the
optimized, investigational eFlow Nebulizer Systeredical device

« We have rights to several U.S. patents relatinfgeéacomposition, production, antibodies and mettafdsse for IPLEX and
rhIGFBP-3. In addition, foreign counterparts te ttbove-referenced U.S. patents have issued peacing issue in major
pharmaceutical markets, such as the EU, Canadaagath

As part of our product development, we have filedhay file patent applications related to new piin methods, improved
formulations, new medical uses and new dosing reg#in the U.S. and in many of the major intermatiggharmaceutical markets.

Individual patents extend for varying time periai#gpending on the effective date of filing the pasgiplication or the date of patent
issuance, and the legal term of the patents icdb@tries in which they are obtained. Generallyept issued in the U.S. are effective for:

« The longer of 17 years from the issue date or 20s/&om the earliest effective filing date, if thatent application was file
prior to June 8, 1995; (

« 20 years from the earliest effective filing dafehe patent application was filed on or after J8n&995.

The term of foreign patents varies in accordandh miovisions of applicable local law, but typigails 20 years from the earliest
effective filing date.

The U.S. Drug Price Competition and Patent TernmtdRagon Act of 1984, more commonly known as theddaWaxman Act,
provides for an extension of one patent, known ldateh-Waxman statutory extension, for each newnite entity to restore a portion of the
patent term lost while awaiting premarket governtaaproval from a regulatory agency. However,ifaimum extension is five years and
the extension cannot extend the patent beyond 4 yeom New Drug Application approval. Similar exsions for exclusivity are available in
European countries (known as supplementary protectrtificate extensions), Japan and other casitHowever, we will not know what, if
any, extensions are available until a drug is ayguio

Also in the U.S., under provisions of the Best Rieceuticals for Children’s Act, we may be entittecin additional six-month period
of patent protection for completing pediatric atiali studies in response to a FDA issued Pediatritté Request before said exclusivities
expire.

An additional Orphan Drug Exclusivity (which wasaeted before the Hatch Waxman Act) provides antixhdil sevenyear period o
exclusivity from generic competition. The seven+yeeariod is supposed to reflect the time it wikeao recover the cost of developing an
orphan drug from sales of such drug in the U.Se @kclusivity only applies to the disease or caadifor which the approved drug was
designated. The seven-year exclusivity periodbmextended for an additional six months by peidiatudy. In the EU, a product receiving
EMA marketing approval which has an orphan drudgtesion is entitled to exclusivity for a periodteh years.
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License Agreement

We consider from time to time the license of irgetlal property that we feel may be important ®edbvelopment and
commercialization of our products.

We currently have a licensing agreement with PARdrifha GmbH for use of the optimized, investigati@iow Nebulizer System
for delivery of ARIKACE in treating patients withFC bronchiectasis, and non-tuberculosis mycobadtfiections. Insmed has rights to
several U.S. and foreign issued patents, and #Hrer&uture patent applications involving improvertseo the optimized, investigational eFlow
Nebulizer System. In consideration of this agremimeARI shall receive payments either in cashlified stock or a combination of both,
PARI's discretion, based on achievement of cemglestone events including Phase 3 trial initiatiNiDA acceptance and regulatory approval
of ARIKACE together with royalty payments on comwiat sales of ARIKACE.

We also currently have the following licensing agaments for IPLEX and rhIGFBP-3 development ircela

« In February 2011, we entered into an-licensing agreement with Eleison Pharmaceuticastgrg Eleison exclusive rights
patent applications covering our CISPLATIN Lipid i@plex technology

« On December 20, 2010, we entered into an agreewitnfriAct Therapeutics Inc, whereby TriAct obtathan exclusivi
license from Insmed for INS-18 also known as Masogt. The license gives TriAct the right to develomanufacture and
commercialize Masoprocal products for any indiaaticelating specifically to Oncology. The agreenpowides for the
issuance by TriAct of its common stock to us ugmndchievement of certain milestones, which hatéeen met to dat

« In November 2008 we gained Royalty-Free Worldwidigh® for IPLEX from Tercica (now Ipsen) and Gergafit in
connection with potential expanded access ALS pnogt

« In March 2007, we were granted a license or sulndieeas applicable to patents held by Tercica amg@ech to develo
IPLEX in certain medical indications in the U.Sddoreign territories, as discussed earlier in #egistion.

« OnJanuary 5, 2007, we entered into an agreemé&mtN#PO Pharmaceuticals, whereby NAPO will licefreen us the
technology surrounding INSM-18 also known as Masogl. The license gives NAPO the right to devetopnufacture and
commercialize Masoprocal products for any indigadicelating specifically to diabetes, cardiac dise@ascular disease,
metabolic disease and Syndrome X. The agreemdatfoapbayments from NAPO to us upon the achieveroénertain
milestones

« In April 2005, we were granted a r-exclusive license to certain proprietary manuféaogitechnology from Avecia Limited fc
the production of IPLEX

« In January 2004, we were granted a-exclusive license to patent rights pertaining ®ule of IG-1 therapy for the treatme
of extreme or severe insulin resistant diabetews frajisawa Pharmaceutical Co., L

« In November 1998, we were granted a-exclusive license to certain proprietary manufantutechnology from Brookhave
Science Associates, LL¢

Trademarks

In addition to our patents and trade secrets, we fiked applications to register certain tradensarkthe U.S. and/or abroad, includ
INSMED, ARIKACE, and IPLEX. At present, we have eded either registration or a notice of allowafamethese marks from the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office. We have also received foreitpwances or issued foreign registrations fotade of these marks. Our ability to obtain
and maintain trademark registrations will in cartgeographical locations depend on making useeofrtlrk in commerce on or in connection
with our products and approval of the trademarkofo products by regulatory authorities in eactrtoy.
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COMPETITION

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriehaylely competitive. We face potential competitbiam many different areas
including commercial pharmaceutical, biotech andaecompanies, academic institutions and scientigher smaller or earlier stage
companies and non-profits organizations developimginfective drugs and drugs for respiratory d&es. Many of these companies have
greater human and financial resources and may raekict candidates in more advanced stages of @aweint and may reach the market
before our product candidates. Competitors magldgvproducts that are more effective, safer & éepensive or that have better tolerability
or convenience. We may also face generic compgtitbere third-party payors will encourage usenefgeneric products. While we believe
that our formulation delivery technology, respirgtand anti-infective expertise, experience andiedge in our specific areas of focus
provide us with competitive advantages, these pialsztompetitors could reduce our commercial opyoaity .

Major Competitors

Our major competitors include pharmaceutical amddzhnology companies that have approved therapiggerapies in development
for the treatment of chronic lung infections. Mo§these competitors are focused on the CF méokeheir lead indication. Inhaled
antibiotics are a standard of care in the treatro€0fF to manage the chrorftseudomonaifections due to the high concentrations of drug
deposited directly into the lung, where the infectiesides. We are not aware of any other compat@eeloping an inhaled antibiotic for N1
lung infections.

Inhaled tobramycin (Tobi) was the first inhalediliotic to be approved by the FDA and has been sotbe U.S. since January 1998
and is currently marketed by Novartis. Tobi is adstered for 15 to 20 minutes twice daily and doms to dominate the treatment landscape
as the first line standard of care in most coustrie

A second inhaled tobramycin (Bramit8t) has also been approved and is marketed in selzarapean countries by Chiesi
Group. Additionally, specialty pharmacies in th&SUcompound generic tobramycin originally formathfor IV use and sell it for inhalation
purposes.

Tobi PodhaleP (tobramycin inhalation powder), a dry powder vensid tobramycin was approved by the EU in 201 1ufee by
patients with CF. We also believe that Novartisdfifor approval of Tobi Podhaler in the U.S. irl20 Although it was reported that Tobi
Podhaler was approved and launched in Canada daasaione country in Europe in 2011, we are natrawf the company reporting sales to
date.

Forest Laboratories markets inhaled colistin (Cgloim®) in Europe. Colomycin is used in Europe primarilyaasadjunct therapy a
in some cases as a primary therapy. Becaustegssxpensive than Tobi, Colistin is used assa ffite treatment in some countries that have a
more restrictive reimbursement system. Colistindsapproved for inhaled treatment in the U.St,itig frequently used off label (via
pharmacist compounding) for patients that cannetTisbi and for more severe patients in the off raiternating with Tobi in an attempt to
maintain lung function in patients who are detexiimg on Tobi alone.

Gilead Sciences received approval from the FDACfaystor® (aztreonam for inhalation) in early 2010. It wasriched in the U.S.
that same year with less convenient three timesigginhalation over about 10 minutes in totalle@d received conditional approval for
Cayston in Europe during September 2009. The appi® for one cycle of treatment only and limitedadult patients.

Market data on marketed competitors as reportetthdyndividual companies is summarized below.
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2011 Global
Marketing Sales
Competitor Indication Product Class of Product Status (in millions)
CF Patients with
PseudomonalLung Tobi (Tobramycir
Novartis Infections Inhalation Solution IAminoglycoside |Marketed $ 29¢€
CF Patients witt Cayston
Pseudomonalung (Aztreonam for Inhalation
Gilead Infections Solution) |Monobactan |Marketed Not Reportec
CF Patients with Colomycin
Pseudomonalung (Colistimethate Sodium Marketed in
Forrest Infections for Inhalation) Polymixin Europe only Not Reportec
CF Patients witt Marketed in som
PseudomonalLung Bramitob (Tobramycin European
Chiesi Infections Inhalation Solution IAminoglycoside countries Not Reportec
CF Patients with
PseudomonalLung Tobi Podhaler (tobramycin Marketed in EU
Novartis Infections inhalation powder IAminoglycoside and Canad Not Reportec

Examples of competitive therapies in developmeciuite inhaled antibiotic products to treat chrawispiratory infections due to
Pseudomona. These include levofloxacin by Aptalis Pharmg, powder ciprofloxacin by Bayer AG, liposomal cifioxacin by Aradigm
Corporation, liposomal tobramycin by Axentis Pharama a combination of fosfomycin/tobramycin by @de Therapeutic antibodies and
other technologies are also being developed té Bssudomonaking infections by other potential competitors irdihg Kalobios
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Kenta Biotech Ltd. and Arfharmaceuticals. Although therapeutic antibogiiepotential competitors, the early
studies conducted by Kalobios are using these cangas adjunctive/complementary therapy to anadhantibiotic.

In addition, Kalydeco (ivacaftor) by Vertex was apged in January 2012 by the FDA as the first dargeted to treat the underlying
cause of a rare form of CF representing about 4@abénts with CF. The potential impact on inhadedibiotic products of Kalydeco or
similar products approved by regulatory authoritiethe future is uncertain. Vertex also has otlregs in development to treat more common
forms of CF.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION
FDA Approval Process

In the U.S., pharmaceutical products are subjeektensive regulation by the FDA. The Federal F@rdg, and Cosmetic Act and
other federal and state statutes and regulatiav&rg, among other things, the research, developrresting, manufacture, storage,
recordkeeping, approval, labeling, promotion andketing, distribution, post-approval monitoring amgborting, sampling and import and
export of pharmaceutical products. Failure to cogmyth applicable U.S. requirements may subjeabmgany to a variety of administrative or
judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to apprawe even accept for review pending new drug aptdics, warning letters, product reca
product seizures, total or partial suspension ofipction or distribution, injunctions, fines, ciyiénalties and criminal prosecution.

Pharmaceutical product development in the U.Scgllyi involves non-clinical laboratory and animasts, the submission to the FDA
of a notice of claimed investigational exemptioraarinvestigational new drug application, which taescome effective before clinical testing
may commence, and adequate and wetitrolled clinical trials to establish the safatyd effectiveness of the drug for each indicatamwhich
FDA approval is sought. Satisfaction of FDA pre-k&rapproval requirements typically takes many yeend the actual time required may
vary substantially based upon the type, complexitg novelty of the product or disease.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluatiompafduct chemistry, formulation and toxicity, as s animal trials to assess the
characteristics and potential safety and efficddye product. The conduct of the preclinical testsst comply with federal regulations and
requirements including good laboratory practicdee Tesults of preclinical testing are submittethe®dFDA as part of an IND along with other
information including information about product ahistry, manufacturing and controls and a propodiital trial protocol. Long-term
preclinical tests, such as animal tests of reprtdeitoxicity and carcinogenicity, may continueeafthe IND is submitted.
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A 30-day waiting period after the submission of an oxdiND is required prior to the commencement afichl testing in humans.
the FDA has not placed the proposed clinical tiimhold within this 30-day period, the clinicalirproposed in the IND may begin.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to healthy volunteers digpés under the supervision of a
qualified investigator. Clinical trials must be clucted in compliance with federal regulations, golical practices (GCP), as well as under
protocols detailing the objectives of the triak farameters to be used in monitoring safety ametiectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each
protocol involving testing on U.S. patients andseduent protocol amendments must be submittecetBEA as part of the IND.

The FDA may order the temporary clinical hold ormpanent discontinuation of a clinical trial at aimpe or impose other sanctions if
it believes, among other things, that the clintdall is not being conducted in accordance with Ri2guirements or presents an unacceptable
risk to the clinical trial patients. The study ool and informed consent information for patientslinical trials must also be submitted to an
institutional review board (IRB), for approval. ARB may also require the clinical trial at the gitebe halted, either temporarily or
permanently, for failure to comply with the IRB'squirements, or may impose other conditions.

Clinical trials to support NDAs for marketing appead are typically conducted in three sequentialdeésabut the Phases may overlap.
In Phase 1, the initial introduction of the drugpihealthy human subjects or patients, the druigsited to assess metabolism, pharmacokinetics
pharmacological actions, side effects associaté¢i intreasing doses and, if possible, early evidemcteffectiveness. Phase 2 usually involves
trials in a limited patient population to determihe effectiveness of the drug for a particulaigaton or indications, dosage tolerance and
optimum dosage and to identify common adverse &ffeied safety risks. If a compound demonstratedeecie of effectiveness and an
acceptable safety profile in Phase 2 evaluatiohas® 3 trials are undertaken to obtain the additimfiormation about clinical efficacy and
safety in a larger number of patients, typicallgabgraphically dispersed clinical trial sitespymit FDA to evaluate the overall benefit-risk
relationship of the drug and to provide adequdfiarination for the labeling of the drug.

After completion of the required clinical testiragy NDA is prepared and submitted to the FDA. FDArapal of the NDA is required
before marketing of the product may begin in th8.Urhe NDA must include the results of all predaidj clinical and other testing and a
compilation of data relating to the product’s phaowmlogy, chemistry, manufacture, and controls. ddst of preparing and submitting an NDA
is substantial. Under federal law, the submissiomast NDAs is additionally subject to a substdrdigplication user fee, and the manufacturer
and/or sponsor under an approved new drug apmlitatie also subject to annual product and estabdishuser fees. These fees are typically
increased annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of a NDA ttedmine whether the application will be acceptetfifing based on the FDA's
threshold determination that it is sufficiently colete to permit substantive review. Once the subimisis accepted for filing, the FDA begins
an in-depth review. The FDA has agreed to certaifiopmance goals in the review of new drug applicet Most such applications for non-
priority drug products are reviewed within ten mMf@tThe review process may be extended by FDAhfeetadditional months to consider
certain information or clarification regarding imfoation already provided in the submission.

The FDA may refer applications for novel drug produor drug products that present difficult questiof safety or efficacy to an
advisory committee, typically a panel that includésicians and other experts, for review, evaloiatind a recommendation as to whether the
application should be approved. The FDA is not labloy the recommendation of an advisory committeejttgenerally follows such
recommendations.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA will typically ipsct one or more clinical sites to assure compéiamith GCP. Additionally, the
FDA will inspect the facility or the facilities athich the drug is manufactured. FDA will not appedhe product unless compliance with
current good manufacturing practices is satisfgcamd the NDA contains data that provide substheti@ence that the drug is safe and
effective in the indication studied.

After FDA evaluates the NDA and the manufacturing gsting facilities, it issues an approval letser approvable letter or a
complete response letter. Both approvable and cetmpésponse letters generally outline the defidésnin the submission and may require
substantial additional testing or information inler for the FDA to reconsider the application.riflavhen those deficiencies have been
addressed to the FDA's satisfaction in a resubmissf the NDA, the FDA will issue an approval lettEDA has committed to reviewing such
resubmissions in two or six months depending ortythe of information included.
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An approval letter authorizes commercial marketihthe drug with specific prescribing informaticor specific indications. As a
condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require statpdial post-approval testing and surveillance tmitor the drug’s safety or efficacy and
may impose other conditions, including labelingniesons that can materially affect the potentrarket and profitability of the drug. Once
granted, product approvals may be withdrawn if cliemge with regulatory standards is not maintaioegroblems are identified following
initial marketing.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Once an NDA is approved, a product will be subjeatertain post-approval requirements. For instaRE&A closely regulates the
post-approval marketing and promotion of drugsluding standards and regulations for direct-to-comsr advertising, off-label promotion,
industry-sponsored scientific and educational &@&w and promotional activities involving the Inet.

Drugs may be marketed only for the approved in@hoatand in accordance with the provisions of fhigraved labeling. Changes to
some of the conditions established in an appropptiation, including changes in indications, labg] or manufacturing processes or
facilities, require submission and FDA approvabaofew NDA or NDA supplement before the change @&imiplemented. An NDA
supplement for a new indication typically requicdigical data similar to that in the original apgaltion, and the FDA uses the same procedures
and actions in reviewing NDA supplements as it doggviewing NDAs.

Adverse event reporting and submission of periogjports is required following FDA approval of an NDThe FDA also may require
post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testisigminimization action plans and surveillance tomtor the effects of an approved product
or place conditions on an approval that could igtstine distribution or use of the product.

In addition, quality control as well as drug maratfee, packaging, and labeling procedures musirmoato conform to current good
manufacturing practices (cGMPs) after approval.gomanufacturers and certain of their subcontra@ogsequired to register their
establishments with FDA and certain state agenaigs$,are subject to periodic unannounced inspexctigrthe FDA during which the FDA
inspects manufacturing facilities to access compkawith cGMPs. Accordingly, manufacturers musttcore to expend time, money and ef
in the areas of production and quality control timtain compliance with cGMPs.

Regulatory authorities may withdraw product appteva request product recalls if a Company failsdamply with regulatory
standards, if it encounters problems followingialitnarketing, or if previously unrecognized prabkeare subsequently discovered.

Orphan Drugs

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat adeease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fevan 200,000 individuals in the U.S. We have atgdiorphan drug designation for CF
patients who havBseudomonaking infections in both the United States (U.Sd #me EU. We have also obtained orphan drug dasanin
the U.S. for the treatment of lung infections inig@ats with non-CF bronchiectasis. We applied figghan drug designation for NTM infections
in the U.S. in 2011. In response to our applicatibe FDA has requestéu vivo or clinical data in support of our application fiphan drug
designation. We plan to file for orphan drug deaigpn for NTM lung infections again in the U.S. @ndhe EU after obtaining additional pre-
clinical data..

After the FDA grants orphan drug designation, taeagic identity of the drug and its potential onphse are disclosed publicly by the
FDA. Orphan drug designation does not convey amamtége in or shorten the duration of the reguateview and approval process. The 1
NDA applicant with FDA orphan drug designation &oparticular active ingredient to receive FDA amatmf the designated drug for t
disease indication for which it has such desigmati®entitled to a seveyear exclusive marketing period (Orphan Drug Exgityg in the U.S.
for that product, for that indication. During theven-year period, the FDA may not finally approng ather applications to market the same
drug for the same disease, except in limited cistamces, such as a showing of clinical superidoityhe product with orphan drug exclusivity.
Orphan drug exclusivity does not prevent FDA fropp@ving a different drug for the same diseaseoodition, or the same drug for a
different disease or condition. Among the otherdfi¢s of orphan drug designation are tax creditscéotain research and a waiver of the NDA
application user fee.
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The EMA grants orphan drug designation to promioéedevelopment of products that may offer therdapéagnefits for life-
threatening or chronically debilitating conditicafecting not more than five in 10,000 people ia ElJ. In addition, orphan drug designation
can be granted if the drug is intended for a lifieeatening, seriously debilitating or serious anbnic condition in the EU and that without
incentives it is unlikely that sales of the drughe EU would be sufficient to justify developirtgetdrug. Orphan drug designation is only
available if there is no other satisfactory methpgroved in the EU of diagnosing, preventing oatirgy the condition, or if such a method
exists, the proposed orphan drug will be of sigaifit benefit to patients.

Orphan drug designation provides opportunitiedriee protocol assistance and fee reductions faesEcto the centralized regulatory
procedures before and during the first year aftarketing approval, which reductions are not limitedhe first year after marketing approval
for small and medium enterprises. In addition, praduct which has an orphan drug designation sjuesely receives EMA marketing
approval for the indication for which it has suasination, the product is entitled to orphan dexdusivity, which means the EMA may not
approve any other application to market the sarag tbr the same indication for a period of ten gedihe exclusivity period may be reduced
to six years if the designation criteria are naglenmet, including where it is shown that the piids sufficiently profitable not to justify
maintenance of market exclusivity. Competitors megeive marketing approval of different drugs aidgics for the indications for which the
orphan product has exclusivity. In order to dotsmyever, they must demonstrate that the new drupstogics provide a significant benefit
over the existing orphan product. This demonstnatibsignificant benefit may be done at the timéndfal approval or in post-approval
studies, depending on the type of marketing authtidn granted.

Pediatric Information

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003ERR NDAs or supplements to NDAs must contain datassess the safety and
effectiveness of the drug for the claimed indicagian all relevant pediatric subpopulations andupport dosing and administration for each
pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is sarfie effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for sigsion of data or full or partial waivers.
Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA dussapply to any drug for an indication for whictpban designation has been granted.

Regulation Outside the U.<

In addition to regulations in the U.S., we will §gbject to a variety of regulations in other jurgsidns governing clinical studies of
our candidate products. Whether or not we obtaif BPproval for a product, we must obtain approva product by the comparable
regulatory authorities of countries outside the.lb&ore we can commence clinical studies or margedf the product in those countries. The
requirements for approval and the approval proeassfrom country to country, and the time may dxeger or shorter than that required for
FDA approval.

To obtain regulatory approval of a drug under Egutatory systems, we may submit marketing authtidea either under a
centralized or decentralized procedure. The céndhiprocedure, which is compulsory for medicinesdpced by certain biotechnological
processes and optional for those which are higiigvative, provides for the grant of a single méngauthorization that is valid for all EU
member states. The decentralized procedure profodegpproval by one or more other, or concerneginiver states of an assessment of an
application performed by one member state, knowth@seference member state. Under this proceduarapplicant submits an application, or
dossier, and related materials including a draftreary of product characteristics, and draft lalipind package leaflet, to the reference
member state and concerned member states. Therreéemember state prepares a draft assessmentaditsdodi the related materials within
120 days after receipt of a valid application. WitB0 days of receiving the reference member stassessment report, each concerned
member state must decide whether to approve tlesssent report and related materials. If a menth&r sannot approve the assessment
report and related materials on the grounds ofrtialeserious risk to the public health, the digolpoints may eventually be referred to the
European Commission, whose decision is bindingllomember states.
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Pediatric Investigation Plar

On December 10, 2010, we received Positive Opinfche Pediatric Committee of the European MediiAgency on the agreement
of a Pediatric Investigation Plan, on the grantihg deferral, and on the granting of a waiverdnikacin (sulfate) nebulizer suspension for
inhalation use, in the Treatment$eudomonas aerugosa lung infection/colonization in cystic fibrogiatients (EMA-000525-PIP01-08), in
accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1901/2006 ofEheopean Parliament and of the Council of The peam Medicines Agency.

Medical Device Regulatiol

ARIKACE is administered via inhalation through gutimized, investigational eFlow Nebulizer Systenhjet is a medical device th
is also subject to extensive government regulatibme medical device must be approved by FDA befd®&KACE can be commercialized.

Based on the risks and benefits of this medicaloge¥DA classifies it as Class I, which imposespacific level of regulatory
control. FDA's statutory mechanism for reviewingch a Class Il medical device before clearanchedt.S. market is a Premarket
Notification 510(k), detailed in section 510(k)tbe Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. ThigEl@pplication, which will be submitte
for review and subsequent clearance by FDA in tandéh the aforementioned NDA, will have drug-sgiecindications for use, clearing it to
market only for use with the pharmaceutical produidte application includes, among other itemstipent device and labeling information,
biocompatibility and electrical safety/compatilyiliest results, and performance data with the paeentical product. This documentation
must demonstrate the safety and efficacy of theicakdevice, as well as its substantial equivalengareviously cleared medical devices, in
order for FDA to clear the subject medical devizéhe U.S. market.

Similar to an NDA-approved product, the medicalidevs subjected to certain post-clearance req@rgsn Those requirements
include continuing Quality System compliance, Meatlibevice Reporting, and promotional material regiohs.

In addition to regulations in the U.S., we will §gbject to a variety of regulations in other juigsidns governing the medical device.
Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a prodared the medical device that will be used with ARBE, we must obtain approval of a
product and the medical device by the comparalglelatory authorities of countries outside the Uh&ore we can commence marketing of the
product in those countries. The requirements fprayal and the approval process vary from courtryduntry, and the time may be longer or
shorter than that required for FDA approval.

Under certain harmonized medical device approwfence regulations outside the U.S., referentkSoclearance permits fast-
tracking of market clearance. Other regions arembaized with EU standards, and therefore recoghigeCE mark (Conformité Européene,
which means European Conformity) as a declarati@ooformity to applicable standards. CE marktédard designation for EU member
States for market authorization, as 510k designasidor U.S.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2011, we had a total of 42 eygas, including 10 in regulatory and clinical, h&échnical operations and
manufacturing and 14 in finance/administration aachmercial.

Our success depends in large measure on our abiliitract and retain capable executive officed lgighly skilled employees who
are in great demand. None of our employees aresepted by a labor union and we believe thatelations with our employees are gener
good. Generally, our employees are at-will emplgyeldowever, we have entered into employment ageatsiwith certain of our executive
officers.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We file electronically with the U.S. Securities afxchange Commission (SEC) our annual reports emHA®-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amemdsn® those reports filed or furnished pursuar@ection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. We make available on our itelasg http://www.insmed.com, free of charge, ceéthese reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after filing these repoiith vor furnishing them to, the SEC. The publio edso obtain materials that we file with the
SEC through the SEC’s website at http://www.sec goat the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 €&e8tNE, Washington, DC
20549. Information on the operation of the PuRlaference Room is available by calling the SEQ)@t8EC-0330.
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Also available through our website’s “Investor Riglas -- Corporate Governance” page are charterh®oAudit, Compensation and
Nominations and Governance committees of our boadirectors, our Corporate Governance Guideliaes, our Code of Business Cond
and Ethics.

The references to our website and the SEC’s websitintended to be inactive textual referenceg.oNleither the contents of our
website, nor the contents of the SEC’s websitejrer@porated by reference herein.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to substantial risks anteuainties. Any of the risks and uncertaintiesctiéed below, either alone or taken
together, could materially and adversely affect business, financial condition, results of operati@r our prospects for growth. In addition,
these risks and uncertainties could cause actuallts to differ materially from those expressedngplied by forward-looking statements
contained in this Form 10-K (please read the “Cauntiry Note Regarding forward-Looking Statementgiegring at the beginning of this
Form 1(-K). The risks and uncertainties described below @t the only ones we face. Additional risks amceutainties not currently known
to us or that we currently deem to be immateriayralso materially and adversely affect our businéssncial condition, results of operatio
prospects and the value of an investment in oumeomstock and could cause actual results to diffaterially from those expressed or imp
by forward looking statements.

Risks related to Development and Commercializatioof our Product Candidates

We depend heavily on the success of our most adedmroduct candidate, ARIKACE. U.S. clinical triatsf ARIKACE for CF patients with
Pseudomonas lung infections have been placed onicél hold by the FDA and we may not proceed wittetdevelopment of ARIKACE fc
treatment of CF patients in the U.S. If we are unlalto commercialize ARIKACE, need to limit the seopf our ARIKACE program, or
experience significant delays in development, oursess will be materially harmed.

We are investing a significant portion of our effoand financial resources in the development ofkt¥CE, our most advanced
product candidate. Our ability to generate prodercenue, which we do not expect will occur foleatst the next several years, if ever, will
depend heavily on the successful development amanarcialization of ARIKACE. In August 2011, we aumced that the FDA placed a
clinical hold on our Phase 3 clinical trials for BACE in CF patients witiPseudomonalsing infections and NTM patients due to the results
of a long-term rat carcinogenicity study.

The FDA has lifted the clinical hold for ARIKACE INTM and we are proceeding with a Phase 2 triélTiM patients.

The FDA clinical hold for CF continues to be in gdgaand we do not know whether or when the clirticddl for the development of
ARIKACE for CF patients will be lifted.

As a result of the clinical holds for CF and NTMgyamong other things, suspended the recruitmehéarollment of patients. We
have begun the work necessary to initiate a Ph&EE\2 trial. We may not proceed with the Phase Bichl trial in CF in the U.S. as a result
clinical hold. If we are not able to continue dieygnent of ARIKACE in one or both of these indicatt$ or if our progress in development of
ARIKACE is delayed significantly, our business,uks of operations, financial condition and ourgpects will be adversely
affected. However, we currently expect to commepatéent accrual in the second quarter of 201afBhase 3 clinical study of ARIKACE for
CF patients witiPseudomonaking infections to support potential approval irrépe and potentially other countries outside th®. U/e plan
to conduct the study in Europe.

The key elements of these study designs and regulpaths have been agreed to with the EMA and thighregulatory agencies in
individual countries in which the trials will be moucted.
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Positive results from clinical trials or in predtial studies of a drug candidate may not be pregiaf similar results in human clinic
trials, and promising results from earlier clinitdls of a drug candidate may not be replicateldier clinical trials. A number of companies
in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industnieege suffered significant setbacks in late-stagecell trials even after achieving promising
results in earlier stages of development. Accorgline results of the completed clinical trials &8RIKACE may not be predictive of the
results we may obtain in later stage trials. Wedbexpect any of our drug candidates to be comialfr available for at least several years, if
at all.

We have not completed the research and developratage of any of our product candidates other thadPLIEX, which we no longer
market. If we are unable to successfully commeli@a our products, it will materially adversely &€t our business, financial condition,
results of operations and our growth prospects.

Our long-term viability and growth depend on theassful commercialization of ARIKACE and poteritiather product candidates
that lead to revenue and profits. Pharmaceutizadyrt development is an expensive, high risk, lepgcomplicated, resource intensive
process. In order to conduct the development pragrfor our products, we must, among other thibgsble to successfully:

« Ildentify potential drug product candidat

« Design and conduct appropriate laboratory, prezdinand other research;

« Submit for and receive regulatory approval to penfalinical studies

- Design and conduct appropriate preclinical andadinstudies according to good laboratory and gdidcal practices;
«» Select and recruit clinical investigato

« Select and recruit subjects for our studies;

« Collect, analyze and correctly interpret the dadanfour studies

« Submit for and receive regulatory approvals forketing; anc

« Manufacture the drug product candidates accordiraztVIP.

The development program with respect to any givedyrct will take many years and thus delay ouritghtib generate profits. In
addition, potential products that appear promisihgarly stages of development may fail for a nunatbeeasons, including the possibility that
the products may require significant additionatitesor turn out to be unsafe, ineffective, todidiflt or expensive to develop or manufacture,
too difficult to administer or unstable. If we dotrproceed with the development of our ARIKACE pang in the CF or NTM indications,
certain organizations that provided funding toarssuch developmental efforts may elect to proaeil the development of these indications.
Failure to successfully commercialize our prodwdgtsadversely affect our business, financial cdiwh, results of operations and our growth
prospects.

If our proposed treatment population for CF or NTN& limited by the FDA, our preclinical studies dahproduce positive results or ot
clinical trials are delayed or if serious side effis are identified during drug development, we nmegperience delays, incur additional costs
and ultimately be unable to commercialize our pradicandidates in the U.S., Europe or other coungie

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdlewr product candidates, we must conduct, at eur expense, extensive preclinical
tests to demonstrate the safety of our productidates in animals, and clinical trials to demortstthe safety and efficacy of our product
candidates in humans. For example, the FDA hasestgd that we conduct a 9-month dog inhalatiortity)xstudy to determine if the findings
of the long-term rat inhalation carcinogenicitydgstwith ARIKACE are observed in a non-rodent modfée have initiated the work necessary
to begin the dog inhalation toxicity study duritg tsecond quarter of 2012. We have not reachestagnt with the FDA regarding the
clinical hold for CF and the study design for Phag#inical trials in CF patients witAseudomonalsing infections. The FDA has required u:
conduct a Phase 2 clinical trial in adult NTM patgintended to provide proof-of-concept efficacg @afety data for ARIKACE in NTM.
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Preclinical and clinical testing is expensivificlilt to design and implement and can take mgegrs to complete. A failure of one or
more of our preclinical studies or clinical tri@ian occur at any stage of testing. We may expegianmerous unforeseen events during, or as ¢
result of, preclinical testing and the clinicabtrprocess that could delay or prevent our abititgbtain regulatory approval or commercialize
our product candidates, including:

Our preclinical tests or clinical trials may pro@uregative or inconclusive results, and we mayddea@r regulators may requ
us, to conduct additional preclinical testing anicial trials or we may abandon projects that wpeet to be promising

Regulators or institutional review boards may ndaharize us to commence a clinical trial or condactinical trial at a
prospective trial site

Enroliment in the clinical trials may take longbah expected or the clinical trials as designed naallow for sufficient
patient accrual to complete enroliment of the 1

We may decide to limit or abandon our commercialettgoment prograrr

Conditions imposed on us by the FDA or any-U.S. regulatory authority regarding the scope @igteof our clinical trials
may require us to submit information to regulatanghorities, Ethics Committees, IRBs or othersréstiiew and approva

The number of patients required for our clinic&ls may be larger than we anticipate or participamay drop out of our
clinical trials at a higher rate than we anticipi

Our third party contractors or clinical investigetonay fail to comply with regulatory requirementsail to meet their
contractual obligations to us in a timely mant

We may have to suspend or terminate one or mooeroflinical trials if we, the regulators or thesiitutional review boards
determine that the participants are being expasehacceptable health risl

We may not be able to demonstrate that a productidate provides an advantage over current starafarare or future
competitive therapies in developme

Regulators or institutional review boards may regtiat we hold, suspend or terminate clinical aes® for various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirense

The cost of our clinical trials may be greater thananticipate;

The supply or quality of our product candidatesthier materials necessary to conduct our clinigalst may be insufficient ¢
inadequate or we may not be able to reach agresroardcceptable terms with prospective clinicataesh organizations; at

The effects of our product candidates may not baltésired effects or may include undesirable digets or the product
candidates may have other unexpected character

We have been informed by the FDA that its decistoplace a clinical hold on our Phase 3 clinical$rfor ARIKACE in CF patients
and patients with NTM lung infections was basedharesults of a long-term rat inhalation carcinaggy study. While the FDA has removed
the clinical hold for NTM, the clinical hold on oBhase 3 clinical trials for ARIKACE in CF patiemésmains in place. There can be no
assurance that the FDA will allow us to further elep ARIKACE for CF patients .
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If we are required to conduct additional cliniadts or other testing of our product candidategobpe those that we currently
contemplate, if we are unable to successfully cetepbur clinical trials or other testing, if thesudts of these trials or tests are not positive or
are only modestly positive or if there are safeigaerns, we may:

« Be delayed in obtaining, or may not be able toiobtaarketing approval for one or more of our pretdtandidates

« Obtain approval for indications that are not asadras intended or entirely different than thosécimibns for which we sought
approval; ol

« Have the product removed from the market afteriolitg marketing approval.

Our product development costs have and may contmirerease if we experience further delays itirigsor approvals. We do not
know what impact the remaining clinical hold for @#l have on our clinical programs for ARIKACEn kaddition, we do not know whether
any additional preclinical tests, other than thg thdnalation toxicity study or clinical trials, wibe initiated, will need to be restructured orlwil
be completed on schedule, if at all. Significarctinical or clinical trial delays also could stear the patent protection period during which
may have the exclusive right to commercialize awdpct candidates. Such delays could allow ourpatitors to bring products to market
before we do and impair our ability to commercialaur products or product candidates.

We have limited experience in conducting and managithe preclinical development activities and cliai trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the FDA

We have limited experience in conducting and mamatfie preclinical development activities and claitrials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the FlWe have not completed a Phase 3 clinical trigldbtained regulatory approval for nor
commercialized any of our product candidates foilgrour Merger with Transave. Our limited experiemsight prevent us from successfully
designing or implementing a clinical trial. We hdieited experience in conducting and managingabyglication process necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals and we might not be able toalestrate that our product candidates meet theopgpte standards for regulatory appro
If we are not successful in conducting and managungpreclinical development activities or clini¢ghls or obtaining regulatory approvals,
might not be able to commercialize our lead prodactdidate, or might be significantly delayed ifngoso, which will materially harm our
business.

We may not be able to enroll enough patients to pbate our clinical trials.

The completion rate of clinical studies of our prots is dependent on, among other factors, thematnroliment rate. Patient
enrollment is a function of many factors, including

« Investigator identification and recruitme

« Regulatory approvals to initiate study sites;

« Patient population size;

« The nature of the protocol to be used in the t

« Patient proximity to clinical sites;

« Eligibility criteria for the study

« The patients’ willingness to participate in thedstu

« Competition from other compan’ clinical studies for the same patient populatiord
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« Ability to obtain comparator drug or medical device

We believe our procedures for enrolling patientgehizeen appropriate. However, delays in patierdglenent would increase costs &
delay ultimate commercialization and sales, if afyqur products.

The commercial success of any product candidatest thhe may develop, including ARIKACE, will depengan the degree of market
acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party pesyand others in the medical community.

Any products that we bring to the market, includ&igIKACE, may not gain market acceptance by phgsisj patients, third-party
payors and others in the medical community. If éh@®ducts do not achieve an adequate level opéacee, we may not generate significant
product revenue and we may not become profitatile.degree of market acceptance of our product dateti, if approved for commercial
sale, will depend on a number of factors, including

« The prevalence and severity of any side effectduding any limitations or warnings contained ipraduc’s approve(
labeling;

« The efficacy and potential advantages over alter@ateatments

« The pricing of our product candidates;

« Relative convenience and ease of administra

« The willingness of the target patient populatiotryonew therapies and of physicians to presctilesé therapies;
« The strength of marketing and distribution suppod timing of market introduction of competitiveoducts;

« Publicity concerning our products or competing picid and treatments; and

« Sufficient third party insurance coverage or reinsement

Even if a potential product displays a favorablicaty and safety profile in preclinical and cliaidrials, market acceptance of the
product will not be known until after it is launaheOur efforts to educate the medical community tird-party payors on the benefits of our
product candidates may require significant resaiagcel may never be successful. Such efforts toagetice marketplace may require more
resources than are required by the conventionbhhtdogies marketed by our competitors.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capitd Requirements

We have a history of operating losses. We expeat¢ar operating losses for the foreseeable futimed may never achieve or maintain
profitability.

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondtielodpment of innovative inhaled pharmaceuticaigtie site-specific treatment
of serious lung diseases. We have incurred lasaels previous year of operation, except in 200®nahe sold our manufacturing facility and
other Follow-On Biologics (FOB) assets to Merck.e \kpect to continue incurring operating lossedtferforeseeable future. The process of
developing and commercializing our products recugignificant pre-clinical and clinical testingwsll as regulatory approvals for
commercialization and marketing before we are adidwo begin product sales. In addition, commeimzigibn of our drug candidates likely
would require us to establish a sales and marketiggnization and contractual relationships to &nploduct manufacturing and other related
activities. We expect that our activities, togetiwéh our general and administrative expensed,amihtinue to result in substantial operating
losses for the foreseeable future. As of DecerBlheP011, our accumulated deficit was $294.2 nillié-or the year ended December 31,
2011, our consolidated net loss was $59.7 million.

To achieve and maintain profitability, we need émerate significant revenues from future produlgssa his will require us to be
successful in a range of challenging activities|uding:
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« Obtaining marketing approval for the marketing ®1IKACE and possibly other product candidates wihiakie yet to be
developed and which would also require marketingreyal;

« Commercializing ARIKACE and any other product catades for which we obtain marketing approval;

« Achieving market acceptance and reimbursement dKARE and any other product candidates for whichal&in marketing
approval in the medical community and with patiearid thir-party payors

ARIKACE will require marketing approval and investnt in commercial capabilities, including manufaictg and sales and
marketing efforts, before its product sales geresaty revenues for us. Because of the numerdisaisd uncertainties associated with drug
development and commercialization, we are unabpgeadict the extent of any future losses. We nmeayensuccessfully commercialize any
products, generate significant future revenueshbieae and sustain profitability.

We expect that we will need additional funds in theure to continue our operations, but we face wrtainties with respect to our access to
capital.

Our operations have consumed substantial amoumastf since inception. We expect to continue tarisabstantial research and
development expenses. We may need to seek addifiortting in order to complete any clinical triatdated to ARIKACE, seek regulatory
approvals of ARIKACE, launch ARIKACE and continuerather clinical and preclinical programs. We na#go require additional future
capital in order to continue our other researchdenelopment activities or to acquire complementacipnology. As of December 31, 2011,
we had $78.3 million of cash and investments ordhHradequate funds are not available to us amely basis, we may be required to reduce
or eliminate research and development programsmntercial efforts.

Our future capital requirements will depend on méagtors, including factors associated with:

« Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials and commezatain of ARIKACE;
« Non-clinical and clinical testing

« Process development and scale up for manufacturing;

« Manufacturing;

« Obtaining marketing, sales and distribution caiidssl;

« Obtaining regulatory approvals;

« Research and development, including formulatioretigament

« Retaining employees and consultants;

« Filing and prosecuting patent applications and emirig patent claims
« Establishing strategic alliances and collaboratiwitk third-parties; and
« Current and potential future litigatio

We may also need to spend more funds than currerfigcted because we may further change or altgrabvelopment plans,
acquire additional drugs or drug candidates or \ag misjudge our costs. We have no committed sswteapital and do not know whether
additional financing will be available when needed,if available, that the terms will be favorablEhere can be no assurance that our cash

reserves together with any subsequent fundingbaikufficient for our capital requirements. Thiduf@ to satisfy our capital requirements will
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations and future prospects.
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We may seek additional funding through stratediarates, private or public sales of our securittedht financing or licensing all or a
portion of our technology. Such funding may sigrftly dilute existing shareholders or may limitrsights to our currently developing
technology.

Our supply of IPLEX was fully depleted in the fourtquarter of 2011, and we currently have no matérs@urce of operating revenue.

Our revenue from the EAP and the sale of IPLEXgrasiously been our only material source of opatatevenue. Unless we can
execute one or more income generating transactiomsyill have no material sources of operating nese We expect to continue to incur
substantial additional operating losses for attldasnext several years as we continue to deveRIiKACE and potentially seek to
commercialize the product.

If we are not successful in our efforts to evalugtetential future IPLEX initiatives and to identif\and engage in possible ¢- licensing
opportunities for IPLEX, we may not derive any futeirevenues from IPLEX.

We are currently evaluating possible out-licensipgortunities for IPLEX. We may have difficulty il&fying possible markets and
prospective partners for out-licensing. Even ifave able to enter into out-licensing arrangememsmay not derive any revenue from those
arrangements.

We may be unable to use our net operating losses.

We have substantial tax loss carry forwards for. fe8eral income tax purposes. Our ability to siseh carry forwards to offset futt
income or tax liability is limited under section28f the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amen@éenges in the ownership of our stock,
including those resulting from the issuance of shaf our common stock upon exercise of outstandiagants or options, may further limit
eliminate our ability to use our net operating &sss

Risks Related to Regulatory Matters

We cannot be certain that we will obtain regulatoapprovals in the U.S., Europe or other countrief.we fail to obtain such approvals, we
will not be able to commercialize our products.

We are required to obtain various regulatory apaloprior to studying our products in humans amahthgain before we market and
distribute our products. The regulatory review apgroval processes required to perform a clirdaady in both the U.S. and Europe include
evaluation of preclinical studies and clinical sasd as well as the evaluation of our manufactuprggess. These processes are complex,
lengthy, expensive, resource intensive and uncert@ecuring regulatory approval to market our potsl also requires the submission of
extensive preclinical and clinical data, manufactinformation regarding the process and facikigientific data characterizing our product
and other supporting data to the regulatory autilesrin order to establish its safety and effectass. This process is also complex, lengthy,
expensive, resource intensive and uncertain. We laited experience in filing and pursuing apgtions necessary to gain these regulatory
approvals.

Data submitted to the regulators is subject toingrinterpretations that could delay, limit or peet regulatory agency approval. The
FDA placed a clinical hold on our Phase 3 clinicills for ARIKACE in CF patients witfPseudomonalking infections and patients with NT
lung infections based on the results of a long-teaninhalation carcinogenicity study with ARIKACEur leading drug candidate. The FDA
clinical hold continues to be in place for our Rh8<linical trial for ARIKACE in CF patients in erof only two planned treatment indications.
We do not know whether or when the FDA will alloeto continue the U.S. Phase 3 clinical trials i The clinical hold for NTM patients
has been lifted and we are proceeding with a Phatiaical trial. We may also encounter delayseajections based on changes in regulatory
agency policies during the period in which we deped product and the period required for revievarof application for regulatory agency
approval of a particular product.
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Delays in obtaining regulatory agency approvaldaadversely affect the development and marketfreng drugs that we or our
collaborative partners develop. Such delays couofibse costly procedures on our collaborative gastror our activities, diminish any
competitive advantages that our collaborative gaistior we may attain and adversely affect ourtgtidi receive royalties, any of which could
materially adversely affect our business, financ@idition, results of operations or prospects.

To market our products outside of th8 dnd, Europe, we and our collaborative partnerst eamply with numerous and varying
regulatory requirements of other countries. Therayal procedures vary among countries and canievadditional product testing and
administrative review periods. The time requiredbtain approval in these other territories mijffer from that required to obtain FDA or
EMA approval. The regulatory approval processigst other territories includes at least all ofribles associated with obtaining FDA and
EMA approval detailed above.

Approval by the FDA or the EMA does not ensure appt by the regulatory authorities of other cowegriMarketing approval in one
country does not ensure marketing approval in arpthut a failure or delay in obtaining marketinmgpeoval in one country may have a
negative effect on the regulatory process in otharaddition, we may be subject to fines, suspensi withdrawal of marketing approvals,
product recalls, seizure of products, operatingricg®ns and criminal prosecution if we fail toraply with applicable foreign regulatory
requirements. If we fail to comply with regulatasquirements in international markets or to obg&aid maintain required approvals, our target
market will be reduced and our ability to realike full market potential of our product candidatéis be harmed. The failure to obtain such
approvals may materially adversely affect our besen financial condition, results of operationgubure prospects.

In our clinical studies, ARIKACE must be administed via an optimized, investigational eFlow NebuliZ&ystem (PARI Pharma GmbH
manufactured by a private German company, PARI. i§hebulizer system has not received regulatoryrapgl in the U.S., EU or any othe
countries. For ARIKACE to be successfully develdpgnd commercialized, the nebulizer must satisfytaim regulatory requirements.

We are not medical device experts. For ARIKACHickl trials to be conducted, we must have an aategeupply of the
investigational optimized, investigational eFlowkézer System and PARI must be able to supplsttstem. We are dependent upon PARI
being able to provide an adequate supply of thelimdys both for the clinical trials in the evenREKACE receives marketing approval. The
nebulizers must be in good working order and mpeti§ic performance characteristics. In additiosthbthe drug, ARIKACE, and the medical
device, optimized, investigational eFlow Nebuli&gstem, must receive regulatory approval beforeavemarket ARIKACE and the medical
device.

Even if we obtain marketing approval for ARIKACE any of our other product candidates, we will camtie to face extensive regulato
requirements and our products may face future demhent and regulatory difficulties.

Even if marketing approval in the U.S. is obtainte, FDA may still impose significant restrictioms a product’s indicated uses or
marketing, including risk evaluation and mitigatistnategies, or impose ongoing requirements, inetudith respect to:

« Labeling, such as black box or other warnings otreindications;
« Pos-market surveillance, pc-market studies or pc-market clinical trials

- Packaging, storage, distribution, safety survedéradvertising, promotion, recordkeeping and ripgof safety and other
pos-market information

« Monitoring and reporting adverse events and ingsmd the failure of a product to meet the spegifims in the NDA,;
« Changes to the approved product, product labelimganufacturing proces

« Advertising and other promotional material; and
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« Disclosure of clinical trial results on publiclya@lable databases.
In addition, manufacturers of drug products andr thaeilities are subject to continual review aretipdic inspections by the FDA &
other regulatory authorities for compliance withM& regulations. The distribution, sale and marlgetifiour products are subject to a nun
of additional requirements, including:

« State wholesale drug distribution laws and therithistion of our product samples to physicians noashply with the
requirements of the Prescription Drug Marketing;/

« Sales, marketing and scientific or educational gpaograms must comply with the akickback and fraud and abuse provisi
of the Social Security Act, the transparency prioviof the Patient Protection and Affordable Cat and an associated
reconciliation bill that became law in March 20%hich we refer to collectively as the Health Caefdm Law, the False
Claims Act and similar state laws; a

« Pricing and rebate programs must comply with theligkad rebate requirements of the Omnibus BudgebRe&iliation Act of
1990 and the Veteran’s Health Care Act of 1992, ibptbducts are made available to authorized usktise Federal Supply
Schedule of the General Services Administratiodjtamhal laws and requirements apg

All of these activities are also potentially sulbjecfederal and state consumer protection andiuocdanpetition laws.

We are also subject to changes or revisions tetlaess and regulations that may make gaining régulapproval, reimbursement
and pricing more difficult or at least subject iffetent criteria and standards.

If we or any third parties involved in our commeildation efforts fail to comply with applicableg@atory requirements, a regulatory
agency may:

« Issue warning letters or untitled letters assertiteg we are in violation of the la

« Seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkies or monetary fines;

« Suspend or withdraw marketing approval,

« Suspend any ongoing clinical tria

« Refuse to approve pending applications or supplésrterapplications submitted by us;

« Suspend or impose restrictions on operations, dictucostly new manufacturing requiremet

« Seize or detain products, refuse to permit the imngoexport of products, or require us to initiatproduct recall;
« Refuse to allow us to enter into supply contraciduding government contract

« Impose civil monetary penalties; or

« Pursue civil or criminal prosecutions and finesiagaour company or responsible office

Any government investigation of alleged violatimfdaw could require us to expend significant tiemel resources in response, and
could generate negative publicity. The occurrerfang event or penalty described above may infibitability to commercialize our product
candidates and generate revenues.
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Even if we obtain marketing approval for ARIKACE any of our other product candidates, adverse effediscovered after approval cou
limit the commercial profile of any approved produc

If we obtain marketing approval for ARIKACE or anther product candidate that we develop, we orrstiray later discover, after
use in a larger number of subjects for longer plsriaf time than in clinical trials, that our protgicould have adverse effect profiles that limit
their usefulness or require their withdrawal. Tdiscovery could have a number of potentially sigaifit negative consequences, including:

« Regulatory authorities may withdraw their approsfathe product;

« Regulatory authorities may require the additiotabkling statements, such as black box or otheniwgs or contraindications;

« Regulatory authorities may require us to issueifipeaommunications to healthcare professionalshsas”Dear Doctol
Letters”

« Regulatory authorities may impose additional reStihs on marketing and distribution of the produy
« Regulatory authorities may issue negative publi@tyarding the product, including safety commundces;

« We may be required to change the way the prodwdnsinistered, conduct additional clinical studiesestrict the distributio
of the product

« We could be sued and held liable for harm causedljects; an
« Our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from maintgjmharket acceptance of the affected product catelidould cause substantial
reduction of sales, could substantially increagectbsts of commercializing our product candidedes, could cause significant financial losses.

If we are unable to obtain adequate reimbursemerttrh governments or thir-party payors for any products that we may devetopf we
are unable to obtain acceptable prices for thosegucts, our prospects for generating revenue anthiaeing profitability will suffer.

Our prospects for generating revenue and achiguiofitability will depend heavily upon the availéity of adequate reimbursement
for the use of our approved product candidates fyjomernmental and other third-party payors, botthenU.S. and in other markets.
Reimbursement by a third party payor may depena @poumber of factors, including the third partyqds determination that use of a
product is:

« A covered benefit under its health pli

« Safe, effective and medically necessary;
« Appropriate for the specific patier

« Cost-effective; and

« Neither experimental nor investigation

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a product femanh government or other third-party payor isreetconsuming and costly
process that could require us to provide supporaigntific, clinical and cost effectiveness datathe use of our products to each payor. We
may not be able to provide data sufficient to gaineptance with respect to reimbursement or wetmiggd to conduct post-marketing studies
in order to demonstrate the cost-effectivenessgffature products to such payors’ satisfactiorctBSstudies might require us to commit a
significant amount of management time and finaraial other resources. Even when a payor deterrttiaés product is eligible for
reimbursement, the payor may impose coverage liimits that preclude payment for some uses thaagpeoved by the FDA or non-U.S.
regulatory authorities. In addition, there is & isat full reimbursement may not be availabletfigh priced products. Moreover, eligibility for
coverage does not imply that any product will denbirsed in all cases or at a rate that allowsusdke a profit or even cover our costs.
Interim payments for new products, if applicabl@ynalso not be sufficient to cover our costs angt m& be made permanent. Subsequent
approvals of competitive products could result ore&rimental change to the reimbursement of oudyts.
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A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry afsgwhere is toward cost containment. We expet@és in the Medicare program
and increasing emphasis on managed care to cortirpug pressure on pharmaceutical product pridiog.example, the Medicare Prescript
Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 pdes a new Medicare prescription drug benefit began in 2006 and mandates other
reforms. While we cannot predict the full outconfiehe implementation of this legislation, it is gdse that the new Medicare prescription
drug benefit, which will be managed by private keatsurers and other managed care organizatialisesult in additional government
reimbursement for prescription drugs, which may ensétme prescription drugs more affordable but mayér exacerbate industry wide
pressure to reduce prescription drug prices. Ifammmore of our product candidates reaches comaleaiion, such changes may have a
significant impact on our ability to set a price baieve is fair for our products and may affect ahility to generate revenue and achieve or
maintain profitability.

In addition, in both the U.S. and some foreigngdigtions, there have been a number of legislathcregulatory proposals to change
the health care system in ways that could affectbility to sell our products profitably. In Mar@®10, the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and EducBgconciliation Act, or, collectively, the Healffare Reform Law, was enacted. The
Health Care Reform Law broadly intends to exparagss to health insurance, reduce or constrainrthetly of healthcare spending, enhance
remedies against fraud and abuse, add new tramgyarequirements for healthcare and health ins@ramdustries, impose new taxes and fees
on the health industry and impose additional hgadticy reforms.

We will not know the full effects of the Health @aReform Law until applicable federal and statenages issue regulations or
guidance under the new law. Although it is tooy#wldetermine the effect of the Health Care Refbaw, the new law appears likely to
continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricingeaally under the Medicare program, and also mayeiase our regulatory burdens and
operating costs. We expect further federal ane@ steiposals and health care reforms to continbe toroposed by legislators, which could
limit the prices that can be charged for the présiuwe develop and may limit our commercial oppatiun

We will need FDA approval as well as approval ohet regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outsidthe U.S. of our proposed trade name,
ARIKACE, and any failure or delay associated witbch approval may delay the commercialization of ARACE.

Any trade name we intend to use for our producticates will require approval from the FDA regasdi®f whether we have secured
a formal trademark registration from the U.S. Paterd Trademark Office (PTO). The FDA typically doicts a rigorous review of proposed
trade names, including an evaluation of potentincbnfusion with other trade names and medicakefthe FDA may also object to a trade
name if it believes the name inappropriately impheedical claims. If the FDA objects to our progbtade name, ARIKACE, we may be
required to adopt an alternative name for our pcodandidate. Even after approval, the FDA may estthat we adopt an alternative name for
the product if adverse event reports indicate amg@l for confusion with other trade names andinacrror. If we are required to adopt an
alternative name, the commercialization of ARIKAC®&uId be delayed or interrupted, which would limitr ability to commercialize
ARIKACE and generate revenues.
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Risks Related to Dependence on Third Parties

We may not have or be able to obtain sufficient quiies of our products to meet our required supgbr clinical studies or
commercialization requirements.

We do not have any in-house manufacturing capguther than for development and characterizatiod depend completely on a
small number of third-party manufacturers and siepplfor the manufacture of our products on a cihor commercial scale. Arikace and the
nebulizer each are supplied by a sole manufactiiter.inability of the supplier to fulfill supply gelirements of the Company could materially
impact future operating results. A change in thati@nship with this supplier, or an adverse chaingeir business, could materially impact
future operating results. We do not have long-teommercial agreements with all of these thirdipartand if they are unable or unwilling to
perform for any reason, we may not be able to ®eappliers or enter into favorable agreements thigin. Any inability to acquire sufficient
guantities of our components in a timely mannemfitbese third parties could delay clinical triatscommercialization and prevent us from
developing and distributing our products in a cefective manner or on a timely basis. In additio@nufacturers of our components may be
subject to cGMP and similar foreign standards aedle/not have control over compliance with theggilagions by our manufacturers. If one
of our contract manufacturers fails to maintain ptance, the production of our products could denmpted, resulting in delays and
additional costs. In addition, if the facilities sdich manufacturers do not pass a pre-approvaisiapproval plant inspection, the FDA will r
grant approval and may institute restrictions anrtiarketing or sale of our products.

We are reliant on third-party manufactures and Begpto meet the distribution demands of our chhisupplies and future
commercial products. Delays in receipt of matsriatheduling, release, custom’s control and régyl@ompliance issues may adversely
impact our ability to initiate, maintain or comg@atlinical trials that we are sponsoring or mayeadgly impact
commercialization. Commercial manufacturing anpipdy agreements have not been established. Issisésg from scale-up, facility
construction, environmental controls, equipmentineaments, local and federal permits and allowawcexher factors may have an adverse
impact on our ability to manufacture the product.

We may be unable to obtain an adequate supply diuizer devices for timely completion of our cliratstudies and
commercialization. The failure to obtain these meal devices may delay the development and comnadreition of our product candidate:

We are dependent upon the PARI investigationalbgvMlebulizer System and PARI Pharma GmbH for tleelpction and supply of
nebulizer devices. We may encounter delays irdéligery of the medical devices to us due to mactuféng delays, regulatory actions
directed against the manufacturer, or issues ishifging of the medical devices. Such delays afact the enrollment and treatment
schedules of patients and delay the receipt ofuatiak clinical data. Such delays could also tdsuh delay in obtaining marketing approval
for one or more of our product candidates. Oudpob development costs will also increase if weesignce delays in the delivery of nebulizer
devices to us.

We rely on collaborative relationships for our suess. If we are unable to form and sustain theskatienships, or if any collaboration
arrangements that we may enter into are not sucéals®ur ability to develop and commercialize ourquucts will be materially adversely
affected.

We currently rely and will in the future rely omamber of significant collaborative relationships intellectual property rights,
research funding, manufacturing, analytical sesjipeeclinical development, clinical developmend aales and marketing. For example,
almost all of our clinical trial work is done inltaboration with academic institutions and we hhwensed intellectual property to permit the
development, manufacture and commercializationuofpsoducts. Reliance on collaborative relatiopsiposes a number of risks, including
following:

« We may face significant competition in seeking appiate collaborators
«» Collaboration arrangements are complex and timswoing to negotiate, document and implement;

« We may not be successful in our efforts to esthldisd implement collaborations or other alternatirangements that v
might pursue on favorable tern
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« We may not be able to effectively control whether corporate partners will devote sufficient resmsrto our programs or
products;

« Disputes may arise in the future with respect eodtvnership of rights to technology developed witlensed to or license
from corporate partner

« Disagreements with corporate partners are diffitutesolve and could result in loss of intelle¢pr@perty rights, delay ¢
terminate the research, development or commerat#diz of product candidates or result in litigatmmarbitration;

« Contracts with our corporate partners may failrovjle sufficient protection of our intellectualoperty;
« We may have difficulty enforcing the contracts fifecof these partners fails to perform;

« Corporate partners have considerable discreti@heicting whether to pursue the development of aujtianal products an
may pursue technologies or products either on their or in collaboration with our competitors; &

« Corporate partners with marketing rights may chdosgevote fewer resources to the marketing ofppaducts than they do
products of their own developme

A great deal of uncertainty exists regarding thecess of any current and future collaborative ¢gfofFailure of these efforts could
delay, impair or prevent the development and cororakzation of our products and adversely affeat lousiness, financial condition, results
operations and prospects.

Our growth depends on technologies that may notvailable or, if available and licensed, may not &eailable on terms acceptable to us.

As part of our business strategy, we expect ticenkse new products and technologies. Nonethelessannot assure you that we
will identify suitable products or enter into suaense agreements on acceptable terms.

We may enter into collaborative relationships thatld involve our collaborators conducting propaigtdevelopment programs. Any
conflict with our collaborators could limit our diby to obtain future collaboration agreements aedatively influence our relationship with
existing collaborators. Disagreements with collabars may also develop over the rights to oudledtual property.

Certain of our collaborators could also be or bee@ompetitors. Our collaborators could harm oodpct development and
commercialization efforts by:

« Developing competing product

Precluding us from entering into collaborationshwihieir competitors;
« Failing to obtain regulatory approvals;
« Terminating their agreements with us prematuret

« Failing to devote sufficient resources to the depeient and commercialization of products.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
We may not accurately predict the protection affediby our patents and proprietary technology.

Our success will depend in part on our ability totect proprietary technology and to obtain papgntection for our products, prevent
third parties from infringing on our patents anffae from infringing on the patents of others, tbdbmestically and internationally.

In addition, the patent situation in the field édtechnology and pharmaceuticals generally is lgiginicertain and involves complex
legal, technical, scientific and factual questiolge intend to actively pursue patent protectianpimducts resulting from our research and
development activities that have significant pasdrdommercial value. We may not be able to obgalditional issued patents relating to our
technology or products.

Even if issued, patents issued to us or our licensmay be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, helokt unenforceable or
circumvented, which could limit our ability to stapmpetitors from marketing similar products orueel the term of patent protection we may
have for our products. There can be no assuraataily patents obtained will afford us adequatéeptmn or provide us with any meaningful
competitive advantages against these competitors.

Changes in either patent laws or in interpretatmfinsatent laws in the U.S. and other countries diayinish the value of our
intellectual property or narrow the scope of ouepaiprotection. In addition, any patents we preaaay require cooperation with companies
holding related patents and we may have difficfdtyning a successful relationship with such ott@mnpanies.

Third parties may claim that we are infringing upmrhave misappropriated their proprietary right@rious third parties have
obtained, and are attempting to obtain, pateneptimn relating to the production and use of oyraped product and product candidates. We
can give no assurances as to whether any issuedtpabr patents that may later issue to thirdgmnivould affect our contemplated
commercialization of ARIKACE or any other produd/e can give no assurances that such patents cavoled, invalidated or
licensed. With respect to any infringement clasaated by a third party, we can give no assurahegsve will be successful in the litigation
or that such litigation would not have a materderse effect on our business, financial conditiesults of operation or prospects. In the
event of a successful claim against us for infrmgat or misappropriation of a third party’s propaig rights, we may be required to:

« Pay damages, including up to treble damages, andttter part's attorney’ fees, which may be substanti

- Cease the development, manufacture, marketingaad§products or use of processes that infrihgeproprietary rights of
others;

« Expend significant resources to redesign our prtsdoicour processes so that they do not infringeptioprietary rights of
others, which may not be possikt

« Redesign our products or processes to avoid-party proprietary rights, which means we may suffgnificant regulaton
delays associated with conducting additional clihtdals or other steps to obtain regulatory apphoand

« Obtain one or more licenses arising out of a et of litigation or otherwise from third partites the infringed proprietar
rights, which may not be available to us on acdaptterms or at al

Furthermore, litigation with any third party, eviéthe allegations are without merit, would likddg expensive and time-consuming
and divert management’s attention.

Any conclusions we may have reached regarding nsmgement and invalidity are based in part oenxdaw of publicly available
databases and other information. There may benrdton not available to us or otherwise not rexddwy us that might change our
conclusions. Moreover, as described above, theesand validity of patent claims are determinedeam many facts and circumstances, and
in a litigation, a court may reach a different dosn on any given patent claim from the conclosithat we have reached.
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In addition, we may have to undertake costly liiggato enforce any patents issued or licensedtoruo determine the scope and
validity of another party’s proprietary rights. Wan give no assurances that a court of compataatijction would validate our issued or
licensed patents. An adverse outcome in litigatiomterference or other proceeding in any cougiaient office could materially adversely
affect our ability to develop and commercialize puvduct candidates.

If our settlement agreement with Tercica and Geneclt (now Ipsen and Roche, respectively) is termathtwe will no longer have a licen:
to manufacture IPLEX.

As part of our settlement agreement Wignentech and Tercica, we entered into a Consdgtident and Permanent Injunction in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of [@arnia, which permanently enjoins us from usingselling any products containing rhiIGF-1
using any methods infringing the patents held bp&béech and Tercica. If our settlement agreeméhtTercica and Genentech is terminal
the Consent Judgment and Permanent Injunction sigasnwill survive termination, and we would noden have a license to manufacture
IPLEX using the present process without incurriiggi§icant penalties and royalties.

Risks related to Our Industry
Our agreement with Merck prohibits us from compeginvith Merck in the FOB arena.

In connection with the sale of our FOB platformMerck in March 2009, we agreed not to competectliyeor indirectly, in the U.S.
with Merck in the business of developing, marketimgnanufacturing the FOB products or product cdaidis we sold to Merck for a period of
five years beginning March 31, 2009. As a result, ability to enter into licensing arrangementshwhird parties for FOB product candidates
will be significantly limited.

We operate in a highly competitive and changing @onment, and if we are unable to adapt to our ersiiment, we may be unable to
compete successfully.

Biotechnology and related pharmaceutical technoltgye undergone and are likely to continue to eégpee rapid and significant
change. We expect that the technologies assoaiatediotechnology research and development wifittue to develop rapidly. Our future
success will depend in large part on our abilityn@intain a competitive position with respect test technologies and to obtain and maintain
protection for our intellectual property. Any cooymds, products or processes that we develop n@yniteobsolete before we recover any
expenses incurred in connection with their develepim Rapid technological change could make outlyxcts obsolete, and materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@spults of operations or future prospects.

We expect that successful competition will depemmdong other things, on product efficacy, safetiabdity, availability, timing and
scope of regulatory approval and price. Specificale expect crucial factors will include the ale speed with which we can develop
products, complete the clinical testing and reguiaapproval processes and supply commercial qigstf the product to the market. We
expect competition to increase as technologicahades are made and commercial applications broaden.

In each of our potential product areas, we facetsuitial competition from large pharmaceuticaltéitinology and other companies,
universities and research institutions. Relatovad, most of these entities have substantiallgtgrecapital resources, research and develog
staffs, facilities and experience in conductingickl studies and obtaining regulatory approvadsyall as in manufacturing and marketing
pharmaceutical products. Many of our competitoay mchieve product commercialization or patentgmiaon earlier than us. Furthermore,
we believe that our competitors have used, andcgoaginue to use, litigation to gain a competiticlvantage. Finally, our competitors may
different technologies or approaches to the devetoy of products similar to the products we ardisgeto develop.

Competitors could develop and gain FDA approvalpsbducts containing amikacin, which could adversed§fect our competitive position i
all ARIKACE related indications for which we are etently developing products.

In the event there are other amikacin productsaut by the FDA to treat indications other tharsthoovered by ARIKACE,
physicians may elect to prescribe a competitorglpct containing amikacin or to treat the indicasidor which ARIKACE may receive
approval, which is commonly referred to as off-lalge. While under FDA regulations a competitanas allowed to promote off-label use of
its product, the FDA does not regulate the praafcmedicine and as a result cannot direct physgcas to what product to prescribe to their
patients. As a result, we would have limited &pildo prevent off-label use of a competitor’'s prodcontaining amikacin to treat any diseases
for which we have received FDA approval, even ffiilates our patents and we have orphan drug sty for the use of amikacin to treat
such diseases. This would reduce our revenuebama our business.
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Competitors could develop and gain FDA approvalasitibiotic products that are more effective, safenore tolerable, more convenient or
less expensive, which could adversely affect oumpetitive position in all ARIKACE related indicatits for which we are currently
developing products.

We are aware of other companies developing potgntiampetitive products, which include oral, syste or inhaled antibiotic
products to treat chronic respiratory infectiong tlu Pseudomonas If any of our competitors develops a product teanore effective, safer,
more tolerable, more convenient or less expensiae ARIKACE, it would adversely affect our ability generate revenues. We may also face
lower priced generic competitors where third-pgrdyors will encourage their use or lower-pricedsiars of our product or competing
products imported into the U.S. from Canada, Mesnd other countries where there are governmeeg pontrols or other market dynamics
that make the products lower priced.

Competitors could develop and gain FDA approvalpsbducts that treat the underlying cause of CF inb@oader range of CF patients than
Kalydeco by Vertex

Kalydeco (ivacaftor) by Vertex was approved in Jagw2012 by the FDA as the first drug targetedeatithe underlying cause of a
rare form of CF representing about 4% of patieritt ®F. Vertex also is studying Kalydeco in condtion with another drug candidate for a
more common CF mutation. The potential impact afyideco (or similar products approved in the futune inhaled antibiotic use in CF is
uncertain at this time, and it is possible thaséhtherapies could decrease the percentage ofti&Rtgsavho acquir®seudomonaking
infections and decrease the need for inhaled atitisi

If another party obtains orphan drug exclusivity f@a product that is essentially the same as a prodwe are developing in a particule
indication, we may be precluded or delayed from ¢percializing the product in that indication.

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat adeease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fetvan 200,000 individuals in the U.S. The Comptlra obtains the first marketing approval
from the FDA for a designated orphan drug for & @disease receives marketing exclusivity for usthaf drug for the designated condition for
a period of seven years. Similar laws exist in Bfa competitor obtains approval of the same darghe same indication or disease befor:
we would be blocked from obtaining approval for puvduct for seven or more years, unless our prtochut be shown to be clinically
superior. In addition, more than one drug may fEreved by the FDA for the same orphan indicatipdisease as long as the drugs are
different drugs. As a result, even if our prodiscipproved and receives orphan drug exclusiviéyndhe case of our drugs ARIKACE and
IPLEX, the FDA can still approve different drugs fese in treating the same indication or diseaseraal by our product, which could create a
more competitive market for us.
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Confidentiality agreements with employees and otheray not adequately prevent disclosure of traderees and other proprietary
information.

In order to protect our proprietary technology @ndcesses, we rely in part on confidentiality agreets with our corporate partners,
employees, consultants, outside scientific collatms and sponsored researchers and other advismse agreements may not effectively
prevent disclosure of confidential information andy not provide an adequate remedy in the evemhafithorized disclosure of confidential
information. In addition, others may independenlilycover trade secrets and proprietary informat@ostly and time-consuming litigation
could be necessary to enforce and determine thgesufoour proprietary rights, and failure to obtairmaintain trade secret protection could
adversely affect our ability to successfully congpietthe industry.

Our research, development and manufacturing actieg used in the production of ARIKACE involve these of hazardous materials, which
could expose us to damages that could materiallyerdely affect our results of operations and findaktcondition.

Our research, development and manufacturing aesvior ARIKACE involve the controlled use of hadaus materials and
chemicals. Our contract manufacturer has the fesland equipment for the appropriate handlinguoch material at our current scale of
operations. However, if any liability arises, weuld be liable for any losses incurred by the attmanufacturer, which could materially
adversely affect our results of operations andniiie conditions. Future plans may require scalefupur process for either development of
commercialization, which may necessitate new féedliand equipment. Permits to obtain and openatg@rocesses may require local and/or
state approval, which might not be easily obtained.

We may be subject to product liability claims if oproducts harm people, and we have only limited@uct liability insurance.

The manufacture and sale of human therapeutic ptediavolve an inherent risk of product liabilitlagns and associated adverse
publicity. We currently have only limited proddiability insurance for our products. We do nopknif we will be able to maintain existing
obtain additional product liability insurance orceptable terms or with adequate coverage agaitshpal liabilities. This type of insurance is
expensive and may not be available on acceptabtestdf we are unable to obtain or maintain suffitiinsurance coverage on reasonable
terms or to otherwise protect against potentiatipod liability claims, we may be unable to commalize our products. A successful product
liability claim brought against us in excess of mgurance coverage, if any, may require us togudngtantial amounts and have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiesults of operations or future prospects.

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Groti

We are dependent upon retaining and attracting kesrsonnel and others, the loss of whose serviarddmaterially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operatisrand prospects.

We depend highly on the principal members of oigrgific and management personnel, the loss of wlsesvices might significantly
delay or prevent the achievement of our reseabeldpment or business objectives. Our successndispin large part, on our ability to
attract and retain qualified management, sciengifid medical personnel, and on our ability to dgvelnd maintain important relationships
with commercial partners, leading research instigt and key distributors.

Competition for skilled personnel in our industrnydamarket is very intense because of the numerbasyaceutical and biotechnolc
companies that seek similar personnel. These coeparay have greater financial and other resouafées, a greater opportunity for career
advancement and have a longer history in the imgtisan we do. We also experience competitionHterhiring of our scientific and clinical
personnel from universities, research institutiams] other third parties. We cannot assure thavilvattract and retain such persons or
maintain such relationships. We have key perssarance of $1 million for Mr. Whitten, our CEO, hdd not have such coverage for other
employees.

We expect that our potential expansion into areasagtivities requiring additional expertise, sashfurther clinical trials,
governmental approvals, manufacturing, sales, niackand distribution will place additional requinents on our management, operational
and financial resources. Future growth would ingpsignificant added responsibilities on membemmafagement, including the need to
identify, recruit, maintain, motivate and integratiditional employees. Also, our management may te€ivert a disproportionate amount of
its attention away from our day-to-day activitieslalevote a substantial amount of time to manatiiage growth activities. We may not be
able to effectively manage the expansion of ouraggns, which may result in weaknesses in ouastfucture, give rise to operational
mistakes, loss of business opportunities, lossrgfleyees and reduced productivity among remainingleyees.
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Our potential growth could require significant dapexpenditures and may divert financial resoufo@s other projects, such as the
anticipated commercialization of ARIKACE or devetoent of additional product candidates. If our mamagnt is unable to effectively
manage our expected growth, our expenses may sereare than expected, our ability to generateaease our revenues could be reduced
and we may not be able to implement our busineatesgly. Our future financial performance and odulitglio commercialize ARIKACE and
our other product candidates and compete effegtivél depend, in part, on our ability to effectlyananage any future growth.
Risks Related to our Common Stock and Listing on th NASDAQ Capital Market

The market price of our stock has been and may @oné to be highly volatile, and historically we hawnever paid dividends on our comm
stock, and we have no plans to pay dividends infitveseeable future

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capitalrkéa under the ticker symbol INSM. The market pra¢@ur stock has been
and may continue to be highly volatile, and couddshibject to wide fluctuations in price in respotwsearious factors, many of which are
beyond our control. These factors may include:

« Our listing status on the NASDAQ Capital Mark

« Results of our clinical studies and preclinicaldéds, or those of our corporate partners or ourpeiitors;

« Delays in timing of pr-clinical, clinical development and regulatory fii;m and delays regarding our inability to obtairepdial
approvals

« Strategic business decisiol
« Developments in our relationships with corporatengs;
« Developments affecting our corporate partn

« Negative regulatory action or regulatory approvahwespect to our announcement or our compe’ announcements of new
products;

« Government regulation, reimbursement changes anergmental investigation or audits related to usbayur products;
« Developments related to our patents or other petgmy rights or those of our competitc
« Other competitor developments;
« Changes in the position of securities analysts véfipect to our stock or changes in stock ownetshipvestors
« Operating results below the expectations of publicket analysts and investors; and
« The need or perceived need to raise additionatalapi
In addition, the stock market has from time to tiexperienced extreme price and volume fluctuatiamgch have particularly affects

the market prices for emerging biotechnology anarpiaceutical companies, and which have often baeglated to their operating
performance. These broad market fluctuations ndagsely affect the market price of our commonlstoc
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In the past, when the market price of a stock & lvolatile, holders of that stock have oftenitatgtd securities class action litigat
against the Company that issued the stock. Ifodmur shareholders bring a lawsuit against usgowdd incur substantial costs defending the
lawsuit. The lawsuit could also divert the timelattention of our management.

Future sales of substantial amounts of common stottie public market, or the possibility of su@les occurring, could also
adversely affect prevailing market prices for oomenon stock or our future ability to raise capitabugh an offering of equity securities. At
the time of the Merger, certain former Transaveldtolders holding approximately 40% of our shafesoonmon stock as of December 1,
2010, entered into lock-up arrangements with uimection with the Merger and could only dispos#heir shares beginning 180 days
following the closing date of the Merger (or May, 2011). Thereafter, these shareholders may dispiogp to one-third of their shares
received in the Merger during each six-month pef@idwing May 30, 2011 (with each additional oriértl increment being
cumulative). These lock-up arrangements expir&lag 30, 2012, and these shareholders may dispabeiofshares freely after such
date. Other than the shares of our common stdgjlestuto lock-up arrangements, all of our commalistis freely tradable in the public
market without restriction under the Securities,Atless these shares are held by our “affiliates that term is defined in Rule 144 under the
Securities Act.

Historically we have never paid dividends on oumeaaon stock and we currently intend to retain oture earnings, if any, to fund t
development and growth of our businesses and,ftretave do not anticipate paying any cash divideindm earnings in the foreseeable
future. The remaining available proceeds fromsthle of our FOB assets to Merck will be primariged for the Phase 3 trials and
commercialization efforts directed towards ARIKACE.

If we fail to meet the continued listing requireménof the NASDAQ Capital Market, our common stoclaynbe delisted from the NASDA
Capital Market, which may cause the value of an @stment in our common stock to substantially desea

We may be unable to meet the continued listingireqents of the NASDAQ Capital Market. If a ddhist from the NASDAQ
Capital Market were to occur, our common stock widae eligible, upon the application of a market erako trade on the OTC Bulletin Board
or in the “pink sheets.” These alternative marletsgenerally considered to be less efficient,thad not as broad as, the NASDAQ Capital
Market or the NASDAQ Global Market. Therefore,igtéthg of our common stock from the NASDAQ Capitédirket could adversely affect
the trading price of our common stock and couldtliime liquidity of our common stock and therefaruld cause the value of an investment in
our common stock to decrease.

Exercise of warrants and options issued by us wlilute the ownership interest of existing shareheis.

As of March 9, 2012, the warrants issued by us &y K007 were exercisable for up to approximately,080 shares of our common
stock.

As of March 9, 2012, our outstanding restrictedktoestricted stock units and stock options toemployees, officers, directors and
consultants were exercisable for up to 143,851eshaf our common stock.

The conversion or exercise of some or all of ourraras, restricted stock, restricted stock units aptions will dilute the ownership
interests of existing shareholders. Any sales énpihiblic market of the common stock issuable upm £onversion or exercise could adver
affect prevailing market prices of our common stock

Certain provisions of Virginia law, our articles ahcorporation and our amended and restated bylawake a hostile takeover by a third
party difficult.

Certain provisions of Virginia law and our articlesincorporation and amended and restated bylaukldamper a third party’s

acquisition of, or discourage a third party frorreatpting to acquire control of us. The conditionsid also limit the price that certain invest
might be willing to pay in the future for sharesoofr common stock. These provisions include:
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« A provision allowing us to issue preferred stockhwights senior to those of the common stock wittemy further vote or
action by the holders of the common stock. Theassa of preferred stock could decrease the amdwearnings and assets
available for distribution to the holders of commatack or could adversely affect the rights and @@wincluding voting rights,
of the holders of the common stock. In certainwinstances, such issuance could have the effeetopéasing the market price
of the common stocl

« The existence of a staggered board of directovghich there are three classes of directors serstaggered thre-year terms
thus expanding the time required to change the ogitipn of a majority of directors and perhaps digaging someone from
making an acquisition proposal for |

» The amended and restated bylaws’ requirement kizaiekolders provide advance notice when nominatimglirectors;

« The inability of shareholders to convene a shadge’ meeting without the chairman of the board, theigezg or a majority
of the board of directors first calling the meetiagd

« The application of Virginia law prohibiting us froemtering into a business combination with the Eeia¢ owner of 10% o
more of our outstanding voting stock for a periddhoee years after the 10% or greater owner ffegathed that level of stock
ownership, unless we meet certain crite

In addition, for ten years we had a “poison piliiaseholder rights plan, which expired in May 201lithaut extension. Under Virginia
law, our board of directors may implement a newahalders rights plan without shareholder appro®air board of directors intends to
regularly consider this matter, even in the absefapecific circumstances or takeover proposal$adilitate its ability in the future to act
expeditiously and appropriately should the neegkari

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In June 2011, we entered into a short-term subleade three-year lease for a larger facility totaR7,035 square feet of laboratory
and office space at 9 Deer Park Drive. From Sepeer2®11 through December 2011, we subleased thdau#ity from the existing lessor, a
large pharmaceutical company that had vacatecdattiity. The lease for the same building commene#l our current landlord, Princeton
Corporate Plaza LLC, beginning in January 2012witicexpire in December 2014. We began full ocaupaof the new facility, which is
adjacent to our prior lab and offices, in Octob@t 2. We have also retained approximately 1,35@sof lab space at 11 Deer Park Drive
under a lease, which also expires in December 2Zl¥& additional space at 11 Deer Park Drive wilubikzed to support the manufacture of
ARIKACE for our clinical programs. Total financiabligations through the term of the new facilitpse are approximately $2.1 million. We
determined that the larger facility is required éair growing clinical, regulatory and developmeffibes in support of our ARIKACE programs
in CF and NTM.

The annual cash costs for our New Jersey facilitielsiding utilities and services in 2011 and 20dYe approximately $1.0 and $1.0
million, respectively, under an operating lease éxires in December 2014.

Our previous headquarters located in Richmond,ikimgwhere we occupied approximately 18,000 sqtestof space for corporate
and development activities under a lease expinn@dtober 2016 has been closed and our currentiptarsublet this space. Our Richmond
lease contains annual rent escalations of 3%. a®uowal cash cost for the Virginia space includitities and services in fiscal 2011 and 2010
were approximately $0.5 and $0.4 million, respedtivCommitments for the Richmond office lease tigto October 2016 term are
approximately $2.3 million. At December 31, 20tk have recorded a net present value charge ofillidn in general and administrative
expenses associated with the vacant Richmondtfacili
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We believe that our existing New Jersey faciliaeés adequate for our current needs.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Cacchillo v. Insmed

On October 6, 2010, a complaint was filed agaisdtyiAngeline Cacchillo (“Plaintiff”) in the U.S.iBtrict Court for the Northern
District of New York (the “Court”), captione@acchillo v. Insmed, In¢.No. 1:10-cv-0199, seeking monetary damages amdig order
requiring Insmed to support her compassionate pgkcation to the FDA and if approved, to providar ith IPLEX. Plaintiff was a
participant in the Phase 2 clinical trial of IPLEKonsored by us evaluating the effectiveness ahtrestigational drug in patients with type 1
myotonic muscular dystrophy (“MMD”).

In the complaint, Plaintiff alleged (i) violatiorf constitutional due process and equal protectipddpriving Plaintiff of continued
access to IPLEX, (ii) fraudulent inducement to etite Phase 2 clinical trial with the false promisesupport Plaintiff's compassionate use
application to the FDA, (iii) negligent represeraatthat we would support Plaintiff's compassionase application, (iv) breach of contract,
seeking monetary and non-monetary damages, (\Wtiatel infliction of emotional distress by refugito support Plaintif§ compassionate u
application after providing IPLEX, (vi) violationf@an assumed duty of care to Plaintiff, (vii) breax fiduciary duty to Plaintiff, (viii)
negligence and (ix) unjust enrichment. Plaintféks compensatory and punitive monetary damagesaught injunction relief as noted abc

On October 7, 2010, Plaintiff filed a motion fopeeliminary injunction that would require us to pide a written statement supporting
the “compassionate use” of IPLEX for Plaintiff atidecting us to provide IPLEX to Plaintiff at castthe event that the compassionate use
application were granted by the FDA. On OctoberZX 0, the Court denied Plaintiff's motion for geliminary injunction concluding that
the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction witispect to her claim for a preliminary injunctioBlaintiff appealed the Court’s denial of her
motion for a preliminary injunction to the U.S. Gbaf Appeals for the Second Circuit, which affirdhihe trial court’s order denying the
Plaintiff’s motion for a preliminary injunction.

We filed a motion with the Court to dismiss alltbé outstanding claims, and on June 29, 2011, twt@ismissed six of Plaintiff's
claims, leaving outstanding the claims for (i) flalent inducement, (ii) negligent misrepresentgtamd (iii) breach of contract. We filed an
answer and affirmative defenses with the Courtuyn 32, 2011. Plaintiff's claim for monetary danesgand specific performance with respect
to these claims remains outstanding. The Coursblsduled a trial date in October 2012.

We believe that the allegations contained in themaint are without merit and we intend to continoi@igorously defend this
action. It is not possible at this time to estientite amount of loss or range of possible losmyf that might result from an adverse resolution
of this action.

Mackinson et al. v. Insme:

On February 24, 2011, an action was filed in ther€of Chancery of the State of Delaware againsbussubsidiary Transave, LLC,
Transave, our directors and the former directorbrahsave, captionddackinson et al. v. Insmed Incorporated et, &.A. No. 6216, as a
purported class action seeking a quasi-appraisadg for alleged violations of Delawasedppraisal statute and the fiduciary duty of discte
in connection with the Merger consummated purstatitat certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, datedf December 1, 2010, by and
among Insmed Incorporated, River Acquisition Cogrnkave, LLC, Transave and TVM V Life Science VeasuGmbH & Co. KG, in its
capacity as stockholders’ agent (the “Merger Agreett). The parties to this action agreed to desetnt, which was approved by the Court
on October 6, 2011 .As part of the settlement, we mailed a revisedceodif appraisal rights to the former Transave stotders who did not
consent to the Merger. In addition, pursuant etdrms of the settlement, we agreed to pay pleniiegal fees and expenses.

Pilkiewicz v. Transave LL(
On March 28, 2011, Frank G. Pilkiewicz and othenfer stockholders of Transave (collectively, thetttfoners”) filed an appraisal
action against our subsidiary Transave, LLC inDieégaware Court of Chancery captioriéénk G. Pilkiewicz, et al. v. Transave, LL.C.A.

No. 631¢-CS. On December 13, 2011, following the mailingh#f revised notice of appraisal rights in accocganith the settlement terms of
Mackinson et al. v. Insme¢, an Amended Petition for Appraisal of Stock wéedfiby the Petitioners.
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The Petitioners seek appraisal under Delaware fatvedr total combined common stock holdings of mpmately 7.77 million share
of Transave, Inc. common stock (the “Transave Syodle Petitioners are challenging the value &f tbnsideration that they would be
entitled to receive for their Transave Stock urttierterms of the Merger.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, certaithefformer stockholders of Transave are obligageddemnify us for certain
liabilities in connection with the appraisal actidile believe that the allegations contained inamended petition are without merit and we
intend to continue to vigorously defend this actidhis not possible at this time to estimate @ahgount of loss or range of possible loss, if any,
that might result from an adverse resolution of #tion.

From time to time, we are a party to various latssidlaims and other legal proceedings that anigkeé ordinary course of our
business. While the outcomes of these mattergrarertain, management does not expect that threaiki costs to resolve these matters will
have a material adverse effect on our consoliditacial position, results of operations or cdsiwé.

ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ S@app Market on June 1, 2000, and moved to the NAS[ZAGpal Market
(formerly the NASDAQ National Market) on August®)00. On February 29, 2009, our common stock veassterred from the NASDAQ
Global Market to the NASDAQ Capital Market follovgira decision by NASDAQ's listing panel.

Our trading symbol is “INSM.” Beginning March 2021, we temporarily traded under the symbol “INSME@lowing the reverse
stock split for a period of approximately 20 dayhe following table lists, for the periods indiedf the high and low sale prices per share for
our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Capttalket for both fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 adjdska the one-for-ten reverse stock
split.

Fiscal Year 2011 High Low

Fourth Quarte $ 523 $ 264
Third Quartel 12.62 3.20
Second Quarte 13.50 6.70
First Quartel 6.89 4.69
Fiscal Year 201C High Low

Fourth Quarte 7.30 $ 570
Third Quartel 7.70 6.20
Second Quarte 12.10 5.90
First Quartel 13.20 7.50

On March 9, 2012, the last reported sale pricotwmrcommon stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market wa9$ per share. As of
March 9, 2012, there were approximately 130 holdérecord of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid dividends on oumeomstock. We anticipate that we will retain @tmngs, if any, to support
operations and to finance the growth and developwieour business. Therefore, we do not expepaipcash dividends from earnings in the
foreseeable future. Any future determination athéopayment of dividends will be at the sole dition of our board of directors and will
depend on our financial condition, results of ofiers, capital requirements and other factors @ard of directors deems relevant.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"

AmeongInsmed Incorporated, the MASDAQ Composite Index, andthe MASDAZ
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*Z1 00 invested on 12:3 1458 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal vearsending December31.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

In the table below, we present historical finandiafa for the past five years of our operationse hafve prepared this information
using consolidated financial statements for eadh®five years ended December 31, 2011. The dinhatatements for each of the five fiscal
years ended December 31, 2011, have been auditéchby& Young LLP, our independent registered usitcounting firm. Ernst & Youn
LLP’s report on the consolidated financial statetaexs of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and for tassyended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009 appears elsewhere herein.

When you read this selected historical financiahda is important that you also read the hist@lrfinancial statements and related
notes in our annual and quarterly reports filechwlite Securities and Exchange Commission as wéMasagemens Discussion and Analys
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
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Historical Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Operating expense

Cost of goods sol

Research and developmt

General and administrati\

Impairment loss

Total operating expens

Operating los:

Gain on sale of asset, r
Interest incom:

Interest expens

Loss on investments

(Loss) income before income ta>
Income tax expens

Net (loss) incom
Accretion of beneficial conversion featt

Net (loss) income attributable to commr
stockholders

Basic and diluted net (loss) incor
attributable to common stockholders |
common share

Weighted average basic and diluted
common shares outstanding

Historical Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term
investmentt

Certificate of deposi

Total asset

Long-term debt, ne

Net Stockholders' equity (defici

Year Ended December &
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2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(in thousands, except per share d

7,581 $ 11,69¢ $ 10,37 $ 6,921 $ 4,417
57€ - - - -
19,19¢ 21,047 9,207 4,757 27,917
8,24¢ 5,06: 9,84( 10,25¢ 12,22¢
- - - - 25,99(
28,02( 26,11( 19,047 15,01: 66,13¢
(20,439 (14,41) (8,679 (8,097 (61,719
- - 127,47: - 1
1,15¢ 50C 80¢ 1,84 2,064
(682) (1,25¢€) (782) (109) (20
- (500) - - -
(19,96:) (15,667 118,82 (6,35€) (59,669)
- - (477) (78) -
(19,96:) (15,667 118,35( (6,43¢) (59,66¢)
- - - - (9,175
(19,967) $ (15,667 $ 118,35( $ (6,439 $ (68,839)
(1.74) $ (1.28) $ 9.31 $ (049 $ (2.95)
11,46¢ 12,21 12,71 13,25( 23,34¢
$ 16,47¢ $ 2397 $ 122,18: $ 108,04¢ $ 76,27:
$ 2,08t $ 2,08t $ 2,08t $ 2,17¢ $ 2,08t
$ 19,50C $ 4,75¢ $ 126,69 $ 196,26 $ 139,83:
$ 2,11:  $ 487 $ - $ - $ =
$ 11,48t $ (2,829 $ 123,91 $ 192,840 $ 134,26°
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion also should be read injwoction with the Consolidated Financial Statemearig notes thereto.

OVERVIEW

Insmed® Incorporated is a development-stage biopharmaaduicnpany with expertise in proprietary, advanigosomal
technology designed specifically for inhalationdwtelivery. We develop innovative inhaled treatmsdot serious lung infections. Our
proprietary liposomal technology is designed speilfy for delivery of pharmaceuticals to the luagnd we believe it provides for potential
improvements to the conventional inhalation methafddelivering drug to the pulmonary system. Thestential advantages include
improvements in efficacy, safety and patient comwmeee. Our primary focus is on orphan markets Wwith unmet medical needs, which we
believe presents a significant opportunity, asrtbleallenge and complexity best fit our knowledgeyw-how and expertise.

Our strategy is to utilize our patented advancedsdomal technology to develop safe and effectivdioes that improve upon
standards of care for those orphan respiratoryadesin which patient needs are currently unmetir@ial primary target indications are
Pseudomonas aerugino(hereafter referred to &seudomonaglung infections in cystic fibrosis (CF) patierssd patients with non-
tuberculous mycobacterial (NTM) lung infections.

We completed the Merger on December 1, 2010, witimJave, a privately-held, NJ-based pharmacewtapany focused on the
development of differentiated and innovative inkdgidarmaceuticals for the site-specific treatméiseoious lung infections. Our integration
with Transave was completed in 2011 including #leaation of corporate headquarters to Monmoutlctlom New Jersey, and cessation of
operations at the Richmond, Virginia, location &®ecember 31, 2011. On March 2, 2011, we complatede-for-ten reverse stock split of
our common stock. Unless otherwise noted, the Ipgresamounts in this 10-K give retroactive effecttte reverse stock split for all periods
presented.

After giving effect to the Merger, former Transasteckholders had approximately a 46.7% equity @gein the combined Company
(on an as-converted, fully diluted basis), and éggdasmed Incorporated shareholders had a 53.3%yeqterest. The shares retained by us
pursuant to the Merger agreement with Transaver@ppately 1.76 million shares of common stock affizing effect to the conversion of t
Series B Preferred Stock and the one-for-ten reveiieck split of our common stock) will be deliveren June 12, 2012 to certain former
Transave stockholders, subject to reduction fordaiyns and indemnification payments that are pamdi

KEY COMPONENTS OF OUR STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Revenues

Our revenue consists of secondary revenue streaniBIEEX ® Expanded Access Program (EAP) in Europe for thetriment of
Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), and royaltyeaue for the licensing of patent technology foBERLATIN Lipid Complex. We no longer
manufacturer IPLEX and the cost recovery reventas bur IPLEX EAP in Europe ceased in December 2@tEn our IPLEX inventory

was fully depleted.
Research and Development Expens

Research and development expenses consist prirnédglaries and related expenses, cost to deagldpnanufacture drug
candidates, patent protection costs, amounts paidrtract research organizations, hospitals doatddories for the provision of services and
materials for drug development and clinical tri@sir expenses related to clinical trials are basedstimates of the services received and
efforts expended pursuant to contracts with thahyporganizations that conduct and manage clirticabs on our behalf. These contracts set
forth the scope of work to be completed at a fifeglor amount per patient enrolled. Payments utigese contracts primarily depend mainly
on performance criteria such as the successfullerent of patients or the completion of clinicabtrmilestones as well as time-based fees.
Expenses are accrued based on contracted amouptiedap the level of patient enrollment and to\att according to the clinical trial
protocol.
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Since we began operations in late 1999, we havetdésubstantially all of our resources to theasseand development of a num
of product candidates. Until the sale of our Rellen Biologics (FOB) platform on March 31, 2009y oesearch and development efforts were
principally focused on pursuing a dual path strategolving entry into the FOB arena and advanang proprietary protein platform into
niche markets with unmet needs. Following theess combination with Transave, our focus is nancjpally on our proprietary, advanced
liposomal technology designed specifically for ild@i@n lung delivery. Our initial priority has beém conduct Phase 3 studies for ARIKAGE
in treating CF patients witRseudomonalsing infections and patients with NTM lung infect® In August 2011 the Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) placed a clinical hold on d®hase 3 clinical trials for ARIKACE in CF patierstsd NTM patients due to the results of a
long-term rat carcinogenicity study. In January 2@dllowing the filing of a complete clinical respse to requests for information from the
FDA, the agency lifted the clinical hold of ARIKAGE the NTM indication noting that the company abulitiate a Phase 2 clinical trial for
patients with NTM under an agreed protocol. Theicél hold for ARIKACE in the CF indication in the.S. currently remains in place, and
continue to have dialogue with the FDA to attenoglift the CF clinical hold. In February 2012 thengpany announced that it would be
initiating the ARIKACE NTM trial as a Phase 2 triaks well as the previously planned Phase 3 wiaARIKACE in the CF indication in
Europe. Also In February 2012, we filed our complegtsponse to the FDA clinical hold on the U.Sdgtof ARIKACE in CF patients with
Pseudomonainfection. We will continue discussions with thBA to pursue removal of the clinical hold on ARIKAGn U.S. for the
treatment of CF patients witbseudomonaking infections.

We are moving forward with the ARIKACE clinical dglepment program in CF in Europe. The Europeadysitu CF patients with
Pseudomonalung infections will be a randomized, phase 3 t@hparing ARIKACE 560 mg, delivered once daily g&aoptimized,
investigational eFlow Nebulizer System, to TOBI®(ithhaled tobramycin solution), which is a markkiehaled antibiotic that is delivered
twice daily. The Company anticipates that the stwdlybe conducted in approximately 300 patientsie primary endpoint will be change in
pulmonary function (FEV-1) measured after threel@g on-treatment and three 28 day off-treatmenltesy@bout six months). A key
secondary endpoint will be time to pulmonary exbagon. The study design was previously agreechigyoinsmed and the European
Medicines Agency. Eligible patients will have thygtion to participate in a longer term open-latadéty study. The Company expects to begin
enrolling patients in the phase 3 European clinstadly in the second quarter of 2012.

Historically, all of our research and developmergenditures related to our proprietary proteinfplah were interrelated as they are
all associated with drugs that modulate IGF-1 #@gtim the human body. All of these products abare a substantial amount of our common
fixed costs such as salaries, facility costs,tigdiand maintenance. Given the small portioreséarch and development expenses that are
historically related to products other than IPLEX thiave determined that very limited benefits wdiddbtained from implementing cost
tracking systems that would be necessary to alvedst information on a product-by-product baBimspectively, all of our currently planned
research and development activities are expectbd tocurred in the development of ARIKACE.

At present, we expect research of ARIKACE in thedDie NTM indications to represent our main develepheffort for the
remainder of 2012 and the foreseeable future.

Our clinical trials with our product candidates atdject to numerous risks and uncertainties teabatside of our control, including
the possibility that the FDA clinical hold for ARKCE in the CF indication in the U.S. could remairpiace or that necessary regulatory
approvals may not be obtained. In addition, thetilon and the cost of clinical trials may varyrsfgcantly over the life of a project as a result
of differences arising during the clinical triahcluding, among others, the following:

« the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trial;
« the duration of patient follow-up that is deterndrte be appropriate in view of results;

« the number of clinical sites included in the tr:

« the length of time required to enroll suitable patisubjects; and
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« the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

Our clinical trials may also be subject to delaysajections based on our inability to enroll patgeat the rate that we expect or our
inability to produce clinical trial material in didient quantities and of sufficient quality to meke schedule for our proposed clinical trials.

Moreover, all of our product candidates and paldidy those that are in the preclinical or earlyical trial stage must overcome
significant regulatory, technological, manufactgrand marketing challenges before they can be saftdly commercialized. Some of these
product candidates may never reach the clinicall stage of research and development. In August,20& announced that in separate actions
the FDA had placed a clinical hold on our Phasércal trials for ARIKACE in CF patients witPseudomonaling infections and for patier
with NTM lung infections. The FDA informed us thais decision was based on an initial review ofrésults of a long-term rat inhalation
carcinogenicity study with ARIKACE. In August 200ie announced that the FDA had placed the clinti@l programs for CF and NTM on
clinical hold due to findings from a two-year rahalation carcinogenicity study. As part of thedst, rats were given ARIKACE daily by
inhalation for almost two years. Two of the 12Gnaceiving the highest dose had a single lung tuitese rats received ARIKACE doses
that are much greater than the doses to be aderi@isto humans. The relevance of the observeadmairs to the use of ARIKACE in
humans is unknown ARIKACE was not associated with changes that mag ke tumors in shorter-term studies that we cotetlin other
animals. Additionally, in a standard series ofg¢kat we performed, ARIKACE was not shown to beagexic. The FDA requested additional
information on ARIKACE and data from the rat stuég. a result of the clinical hold, we suspendetidtion of the ARIKACE Phase 3 clinical
trial programs, including the recruitment and eimeht of patients.

We provided the requested information to the FDAugust and were informed by the FDA that, baseitsreview of the
information provided to date, including the ratatdtion carcinogenicity study results, the FDA lvalfficient information to assess the risks
for ARIKACE in CF patients. In October 2011, the &ADotified us that the FDA was continuing the atimli hold previously placed on our
Phase 3 clinical trial for ARIKACE in CF patientstiv Pseudomonadung infections and in patients with NTM lung infens. Regarding the
clinical hold for CF patients with Pseudomonas linfgctions, the FDA requested additional inforraatfrom the us, including that we cond
a ninemonth dog inhalation toxicity study of ARIKACE tetérmine if the findings of the rat inhalation daogenicity study are also obsen
in a non-rodent model and to propose a CF patieptijation/disease state in which the risk-benefifie of ARIKACE may be more
favorable. We were informed during further dialoguith the FDA that if we chose to proceed, the reginine-month dog inhalation toxicity
study of ARIKACE could be conducted in parallellwihe CF Phase 3 clinical trials in human subje&sgarding the clinical hold for patients
with NTM lung infections, the FDA requested we coatda Phase 2 clinical trial in adult (age 18 altidg NTM patients to provide proof-of-
concept efficacy and safety data for ARIKACE in Ndtients.

In January 2012, the FDA lifted the clinical hold ARIKACE in patients with NTM lung infections. Watend to conduct, as
requested by the FDA, a Phase 2 clinical trialdaleNTM patients to provide proof-of-concept efficy and safety data for ARIKACE in NTM
patients. We expect to begin enrolling patienth@amPhase 2 clinical trial in mid-2012. We hawodlegun the work required to allow the
Company to initiate the nine-month dog inhalatioxi¢ity study in the second quarter of 2012.

In February 2012, we filed our complete respongded-DA clinical hold on the U.S. study of ARIKAGE CF patients with
Pseudomonainfection. We will continue discussions with thBA to pursue removal of the clinical hold on ARIKAGn U.S. for the
treatment of CF patients witbseudomonaking infections. As preclinical studies and clalitrials progress, we may determine that
collaborative relationships will be necessary tiphes further develop or to commercialize our pradiandidates, but such relationships may
be difficult or impossible to arrange. Our progeot intended projects may also be subject to aéhémogn time to time as we evaluate our
research and development priorities and availaseurces.

Any significant delays that occur or additional erpes that we incur may have a material adversetefh our financial position and
may require us to raise additional capital soomeén ¢arger amounts than is presently expecteadidition, as a result of the risks and
uncertainties related to the development and agpaivour product candidates and the additionakuainties related to our ability to market
and sell these products once approved for comniealie, we are unable to provide a meaningful ptéati regarding the period in which
material net cash inflows from any of these praestexpected to become available, if at all.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piynafrsalaries, benefits and other related costduding stock-based compensation,
for personnel serving in our executive, financeoanting, legal, market research and human resdunmtions, and professional fees for legal,
including patent-related expenses, consultingatakaccounting services. Our general and admitiistraxpenses also include facility and
related costs not included in research and devedopexpenses, insurance, depreciation and gereprate expenses. We expect that our
general and administrative expenses will increaste tive continued development and commercializatibour product candidates.

Impairment Loss

Impairment loss consists of the write-down of therging amounts of in-process research and devedapintangible and goodwiill
assets.

Investment Income and Interest Expen

Investment income consists of interest and divideodme earned on our cash, cash equivalents amtishm investments. Short-
term investments are available for sale and copsistarily of short-term municipal bonds, U.S. sedes and mutual funds. Interest expense
consists primarily of interest costs related tovastible notes that were fully repaid in March 2010

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2011 and)201

Net loss attributable to common stockholders feryhar ended December 31, 2011 was $68.8 millio8Z®5 per common share —
basic and diluted) compared with a net loss of $@ldon (or $0.49 per common share — basic andteéd) for the year ended December 31,
2010. The net loss attributable to common stoakdrslin 2011 includes the $26 million noash charge from the impairment adjustment il
third quarter of 2011 and the conversion of thaeSeB Preferred Stock and a non-cash charge irgtimrthe first quarter of 2011 for the
beneficial conversion feature of the Series B RreteStock in the amount of $9.2 million, whichrieased net loss available to holders of our
common shares and, in turn, increased our lossgremon share on a basic and diluted basis by $6r38e year ended December 31, 2011.
The charge represents the $1.00 difference betiteeconversion price of the Series B PreferrediStd&7.10 per share and its carrying ve
of $6.10 per share. The carrying value of the SeBi®referred Stock was based on its fair valugsa&ance, which was estimated using the
common stock price reduced for a lack of markeitglddletween the issuance date and the anticipatexlaf conversion.

Revenue

For the year-ended December 31, 2011, revenudsddtd.4 million, as compared with $8 million for the yearended December 3
2010. The $2.5 million reduction was primarily doeyear-overyear decrease of $3.5 million in cost recovery fraum IPLEX EAP in Europe
offset with $1.0 million in license fees from thednsing of patent technology related to InsmedSPCATIN Lipid Complex.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the yeaed &&tember 31, 2011 and 2010, comprised the folpw
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Year Endec
December 31 Increase (Decreas
2011 2010 $ %
(in thousands

Clinical developmen $ 14,88: $ 1,258 % 13,62¢ 108€%
Clinical manufacturing 4,79( 31¢ 4,472 140€%
Regulatory and quality assurar 2,55k 72€ 1,827 251%
Compensation and relat 5,68¢ 2,45¢€ 3,23 132%
$ 27,917 $ 4,751 $ 23,16( 487%

Research and development expenses increased ®réifon in 2011 from $4.8 million in 2010. Thedrease of $23.2 million in
2011 is solely attributable to the research anckbgment of ARIKACE program and the manufacturifigupply to support the planned
studies.

Clinical development expenses increased $13.6anillh 2011 compared with 2010 as a result of themhg efforts for the
ARIKACE studies and the final payments for an eartiarcinogenicity study associated with the ARIKRAGevelopment program. The $4.5
million increase in clinical manufacturing expenfesn 2011 to 2010 is attributable to the manufaonof ARIKACE for use in these studie

The regulatory and quality assurance increase & ®lllion in the year ended 2011 compared with@&lalso attributable to the
planning associated with the clinical studies, datbove.

Higher compensation and related expenses of $3l@dmyre attributable to increased headcount argdlaye per salary headcount
associated with the development of ARIKACE. Overafiearch and development headcount increasedafppnoximately 11 as of December
31, 2010 to 28 as of December 31, 2011 due priyntrithe introduction of the ARIKACE developmenbgram, which became our lead
development program following the Merger with Trawes in December 2010.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased2@ $illion in 2011 from $10.3 million in 2010. &$1.9 million increase was due
primarily to a $1.2 million charge in the fourthagter of 2011 resulting from the closure of theHriond office following cessation of IPLEX
EAP activities in December 2011 and to an incréa$eadcount and average per salary headcounbtaderadministrative support for the
full-scale development of ARIKACE. Overall geneaald administrative headcount increased from appratély 7 as of December 31, 2010 to
14 as of December 31, 2011 in support of the labgsmess and development program following thegdewith Transave in December 2010.

Impairment Loss

Impairment loss was $26.0 million for the year eh@®=cember 31, 2011 compared with zero for the gzenied in 2010. The $26.0
million non-cash charge was recorded in the thirdrter of 2011 reflecting the decline in the faitue of in-process research and development,
or IPR&D intangible and goodwill assets due torteterial impact of a clinical hold on our ARIKACExklopment program.In January
2012, the FDA lifted the clinical hold on ARIKACE the NTM indication. In February 2012 the Companyounced that it would be initiati
the ARIKACE NTM trial as a Phase 2 trial, as wedlthe previously planned Phase 3 trial for ARIKAGEhe CF indication in Europe. Also
February 2012, we filed our complete responsead-DA clinical hold on the U.S. study of ARIKACE @F patients witiPseudomonas
infection. We will continue discussions with thBA to pursue removal of the clinical hold on ARIKA&Gn U.S. for the treatment of CF
patients withPseudomonalsing infections. As a result of these events, then@any believes that the October 1, 2011 valuatfghe overall
IPR&D is reasonable and that no additional impaintrof IPR&D exists as of December 31, 2011.

The Company used the multi-period excess earnirgghad (“MPEEM”), which is a form of the income appch to derive the fair
value of IPR&D intangible and goodwill assets. Tapproach calculates fair value by estimating fieash flows attributable to the assets and
then discounting these cash flows to a presenevading a risk-adjusted discount rate. A markee¢tasluation approach was not considered
given a lack of revenues and profits for the Conypaihnis approach requires significant managemeddrjuent with respect to future volume,
revenue and expense growth rates, changes in vgockipital use, appropriate discount rates and etbsrmptions and estimates. The estin
and assumptions used are consistent with our lasplans. The use of alternative estimates andrgmns could increase or decrease the
estimated fair value of the asset, and potentialylt in different impacts to Insmed's result®pérations. Actual results may differ from
management's estimates.
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Investment Income and Interest Expense

Investment income, net of interest expense, ineck&s $2.1 million in 2011 from $1.7 million in 201 The $0.3 million increase is a
result of improved returns on our short-term inmestts totaling $61.4 million as of December 31, RGlespite a decrease in overall stierta
investment balances year over year. The reduaiiorterest expense in 2011 compared with 2010emgisely due to the elimination of
convertible notes, which were fully repaid in Ma@diL0.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2010 and200

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2010 waksrillion (or $0.49 per common share — basic dihded), compared with net
income of $118.4 million, (or $9.30 per common ghabasic and $9.31 per common share - dilutedjh®oyear ended December 31, 2009.
The $124.8 million variance from 2009 to 2010 was tb a $127.0 million after tax gain on the sdlewr FOB assets to Merck & Co., Inc., in

2009.

Revenue

For the year-ended December 31, 2010, revenudsddtg.9 million, as compared with $10.4 milliom the yearended December 3
2009. The $3.5 million decrease was primarily thua year-over-year decrease of $2.3 million irt cesovery from our IPLEX EAP in
Europe, a $1.0 million reduction in grant revenelated to the 2009 receipt of a $1.0 million grfaoin the Muscular Dystrophy Association

and $0.1 million in reduced royalties.
Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the yeagd &@tember 31, 2010 and 2009 comprised the fallpwi

Year Endec
December 31 Increase (Decreas
2010 2009 $ %
(in thousands

Clinical developmen $ 1,258 $ 50C $ 75E 151%
Clinical manufacturing 31¢ 1,721 (1,407%) -82%
Regulatory and quality assurar 72€ 99t (267) -27%
Compensation and relat 2,45¢€ 5,991 (3,535 -59%
$ 4,751 $ 9,207 $ (4,450 -48%

Research and development expenses decreased twi$i©@s in 2010 from $9.2 million in 2009. The dease of $4.5 million in 201
is attributable to a reduction in manufacturingtsdsellowing the sale of Insmed's FOB assets ind1&009, partially offset by the ARIKACE
related research and development expenses indarBecember 2010.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased@ $illion in 2010 from $9.8 million in 2009. TI$9.4 million increase was due
largely to the increased finance, legal and coimgufees related to the business combination wiin$ave on December 1, 2010.
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Investment Income and Interest Expense

Investment income, net of interest expense incceas&1.7 million in 2010 from less than $0.1 naifliin 2009. The increase is a
result of increased cash position from 2009 to 2@hd improved returns on our short-term investsiestaling $97.3 million as of December
31, 2010. The reduction in interest expense in 2f@tOpared with 2009 was due to the eliminationaiftdliscount amortization.

Gain on Sale of Asset, Net

The gain on sale of asset, net decrease to z&@lid from $127.5 million in 2009, represents thin g@a sale of the Company's FOB
assets to Merck in 2009.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview

There is considerable time and cost associatdddeiteloping a potential drug or pharmaceuticatipod to the point where the U.S.
FDA approval for sales is received. We have funoi@doperations to date through public and priyg@eements of debt and equity securities
and the proceeds from the sale of our FOB platfioriderck. We will continue to incur losses to dent we expand our research and
development and do not expect material revenuestfigast the next several years. Furthermorenass from our EAP in Italy associated
with cost recovery terminated in the fourth quaade2011. As of December 31, 2011, we had totshcaash equivalents, short-term
investments and certificate of deposits on harir&4 million, consisting of $76.3 million in caahd short-term investments and $2.1 million
in a certificate of deposit, as compared with $2illion of cash, cash equivalents, short ternestiments and certificate of deposit on har
of December 31, 2010. The $31.7 million decreadetal cash and investments was due to the funafiogerations, primarily research and
development activities. Our working capital was $7aillion as of December 31, 2011.

Even though we believe we currently have sufficfentds to meet our financial needs for 2012, owitess strategy in the future may
require us to raise additional capital either tigtolicensing, debt or equity sales. In the futwe,may require additional funds for the
continued development of our potential product idetes or to pursue the license of complementaiyrtelogies. There can be no assurance
that adequate funds will be available when we riketh or on favorable terms. If at any time wewarable to obtain sufficient additional
funds, we will be required to delay, restrict dméhate some or all of our research or developrpengrams, dispose of assets or technology or
cease operations.

We could enter into agreement with collaborativerpgas in order to fund operations through milestpayments, license fees and
equity investments.

Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities was $30.8anjl$7.7 million and $11.0 million for the yeagaded December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectively. Net cash used in operatitigities in 2011 related primarily to a net lags$59.7 million from higher operating
expenses and decreased revenues, partially offsehbn-cash charge of $26.0 million for intangidfel goodwill impairment loss. Net cash
used in operating activities in 2010 related tetloss of $6.4 million and a $1.7 million increaseavorking capital. Net cash used in opera
activities in 2009 related primarily to the add béar gain on sale of FOB assets of $127.5 milbowl an increase in working capital of $2.8
million offset by net income of $118.5 million.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $34ilion, $6.0 million and $18.7 million for the yes ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009, respectively. The net cash provigedvesting activities in 2011 was primarily aué of $36.5 million from the sale of short-
term investments partially offset by asset purchade$1.2 million. The net cash provided by invegtactivities in 2010 was primarily a result
of $12.7 million from the sale of short-term invegints partially offset by $6.7 million used in tMerger. The net cash provided by investing
activities in 2009 was primarily a result of $12vlion cash received from the sale of FOB aspatsially offset by $108.7 million used in
purchase of short-term investments.

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activitiess $(0.1) million, ($0.2) million and $2.9 miliidor the years ended December
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Net cash usédancing activities in 2011 was primarily a resofl capital lease obligation payments. Net
cash used in financing activities in 2010 was dauthé final payment of the 2005 convertible nobdst cash provided by financing activities in
2009 was primarily a result of the conversion ofnaats to shares and proceeds from the issuanmenohon stock partially offset by
repayments on convertible notes.

61




Index
Contractual Obligations
We are obligated to make future payments undeouartontracts as set forth below:

Payments Due by Years (in thousar

Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Operating lease obligatiol $ 4,498 $ 1,18: $ 1,18¢ $ 1,201 $ 49¢ $ 42t
Capital lease obligatior 287 121 10z 64 - -
Total Contractual Obligations $ 4,78. $ 1,30/ $ 1,291 $ 1,265 $ 49¢  $ 42E

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemetisy, than operating leases, that have or are mabiolikely to have a current or
future effect on our financial condition, revenweexpenses, results of operations, liquidity, dgxpenditures or capital resources that we
believe is material to investors. In particulag @o not have any interest in entities referredstwariable interest entities, which include sge
purpose entities and structured finance entities.

Critical Accounting Policies

Preparation of financial statements in accordanitie generally accepted accounting principles inimited States requires us to mi
estimates and assumptions affecting the reporteniats of assets, liabilities, revenues and expesséshe disclosures of contingent assets
and liabilities. We use our historical experieaoe other relevant factors when developing ounedgs and assumptions. We continually
evaluate these estimates and assumptions. Thardoap policies discussed below are those we censidtical to an understanding of our
consolidated financial statements because thelicapipn places the most significant demands onjudgment. Actual results could differ
from our estimates. For additional accountinggie$i, see Note 1 to our Consolidated Financiak8tants — “Description of the Business and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed asthedcept for purchased in-process research ewelapment. Research and
development expenses consist primarily of salanesrelated expenses, cost to develop and mantégmtoducts, patent protection costs and
amounts paid to contract research organizatiorspiteds and laboratories for the provision of sgggiand materials for drug development and
clinical trials. Our expenses related to clinicéls are based on estimates of the servicesuedeind efforts expended pursuant to contracts
with third-party organizations that conduct and agclinical trials on our behalf. These contraetsforth the scope of work to be completed
at a fixed fee or amount per patient enrolled. fRaryts under these contracts primarily depend diofeance criteria such as the successful
enroliment of patients or the completion of clinitté&al milestones. Expenses are accrued basewwimacted amounts applied to the level of
patient enrollment and to activity according to thiaical trial protocol.

Revenue Recognition

We record revenue from product sales when the gamdelivered and title passes to the custométhedtime of sale, estimates for
sales deductions, including rebates to governmgenaes, are recorded. These provisions are pFdvfar in the same period the related
product sales are recorded. Following our settléragreement with Tercica, Inc. (now Ipsen, Inaild &enentech, Inc. (now Hoffman-
LaRoche Ltd. or Roche), on March 5, 2007, we ce&sasdpply IPLEX to patients and discontinued safe®LEX for short stature disorders
as of March 7, 2007. Revenue from our EAP in Italgecognized when the drugs have been providedogram patients and collectability is
assured. Royalties that were paid to Tercica agkBtech are netted against EAP revenue. Liceesem¢ome is recognized as revenue when
the milestones are achieved and payments are@rant revenue is recognized once payment has heen d
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Beneficial Conversion Charge “BCC”

When issuing debt or equity securities that arevedible into common stock at a discount from thie ¥alue of the common stock at
the date the debt or equity financing is committee are required to record a beneficial conversiarge (BCC) in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 470-2(i§ BCC is measured as the difference betweeraihgdlues of the securities at the time
of issue, $6.10 in this case, and the fair valugdefcommon stock at the commitment date, which$vas0. The carrying value of the prefer
stock was based on its fair value at issuance,whis estimated using the common stock price rebfaea lack of marketability between the
issuance date and the anticipated date of conversiee BCC is recorded as a non-cash charge tingarrA BCC of $9.2 million was
recognized at the time of the Series B PreferrediStonversions and represents a $1.00 discouthteofair value of our common stock
purchased by the note holders. See Note 6 of theatidated financial statements for further infotima about the beneficial conversion
feature.

Stock-Based Compensation

We adopted the fair-value-based method of accogritinshare-based payments effective January 1,280ng the “modified
prospective transition method.” Currently, we use Black-Scholesderton formula to estimate the value of stock apdigranted to employe
and expect to continue to use this option valuatimdel. Under that transition method, compensat@st recognized during the year includ
(a) compensation cost for all share-based paynggatged prior to, but not yet vested as of JantiaB006, based on the grant date fair value
and (b) compensation cost for all share-based patgganted subsequent to January 1, 2006, baste gnant date fair valued.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

For a discussion of recently issued accounting gquanements requiring adoption subsequent to Dece®ih@011, see Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements included in I&rfFinancial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We invest excess cash in investment grade, intbessing securities and, at December 31, 20113@8d34 million invested in money
market instruments, treasuries, municipal bondguaddunds and a certificate of deposit accounichSnvestments are subject to interest rate
and credit risk and are not insured by the fedgoakernment. Our policy of investing in highly rdtsecurities whose liquidities at December
31, 2011, are all less than two years minimize$ sisks. In addition, while a hypothetical oneqat per annum decrease in market interest
rates would have reduced our interest income $mafi2011, it would not have resulted in a losthefprincipal and the decline in interest
income would have been immaterial. Our purpogeaking these investments is to generate investineoine.

We currently do not transact any significant portad our business in functional currencies othantthe U.S. dollar. To the extent
that we continue to transact our business usin@tBe dollar as our functional currency, we do Inelieve that the fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates will have a material a@veffect on our results of operations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by Item 8 is set forthpages 69-96.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
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Disclosure Controls and Procedure

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervisioth with the participation of certain members of management, including ¢
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness ofralisclosure controls and procedures (as definddules 13a-15(e) and 18d{(e) under tF
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). BBasdhat evaluation, as of December 31, 2011 Ghief Financial Officer has concluc
that our disclosure controls and procedures aeetfe at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finaiad Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing mathtaining adequate internal control over finaheceporting (as defined
Rules 13a-15(f) and 1585(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 aamnded). Our internal control over financialaring wa:
designed to provide reasonable assurance to ouagearent and board of directors regarding the iétialof financial reporting and tt
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples (GAAP).

Our management assessed the effectiveness of unah control over financial reporting as of Detemn31, 2011, based on
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoringg@hizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOiternal Control —Integratec
Framework. Managemens assessment included an evaluation of the degignrdnternal control over financial reporting atesting of th
operational effectiveness of our internal contreemfinancial reporting. Based on this assessmamnt,management concluded that, a
December 31, 2011, our internal control over finaheporting was effective.

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered publicounting firm, has issued an audit report eneffiectiveness of our interi
control over financial reporting. The report ohBr& Young LLP is contained in Item 15 of this Arat Report on Form 10-K.

There have been no changes in our internal coatal financial reporting that occurred during theader ended December 31, 2(
that have materially affected, or are reasonakBlyito materially affect, our internal control ef@ancial reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS , EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference from the discussionamespe thereto under the
captions “Election of Directors” and “Section 16(Bgneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in alefinitive proxy statement for our
2012 annual meeting of stockholders to be filedhhie Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference from the discussionaespe thereto under the
captions “Compensation Committee Report,” “CompéasaDiscussion and Analysis,” “Compensation Contegitinterlocks and insider
Participation” and “Directors Compensation” in algfinitive proxy statement for our 2012 annual rirepbf stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 12. SECURITIES OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEME NT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference from the discussionaespe thereto under the
captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficalners,” “Security Ownership of Management,” andf@ensation Discussion and
Analysis” in our definitive proxy statement for )2012 annual meeting of stockholders to be filetthwhe Securities and Exchange
Commission.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference from the discussionaespe thereto under the
captions “Election of Directors” and “Related Pafr@gnsactions” in our definitive proxy statementdair 2012 annual meeting of stockholders
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Corsiais
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference from the discussionaespe thereto under the

caption “Designation of Auditors” in our definitiygroxy statement for our 2012 annual meeting dfldtolders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.
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ITEM 15.

(@)

PART IV

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Documents filed as part of this mpo

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . The following consolidated financial statemewitthe Company are set for
herein, beginning on page1:

@)

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegistaPatlic Accounting Firn

(i) Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independergdistered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Cohtreer
Financial Reportin
(i) Consolidated Balance She:
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Operati
(V) Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity
(vi) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc
(vii) Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

None required.

3. EXHIBITS.

The exhibits that are required to be filed @oirporated by reference herein are listed in thaliixindex. Exhibits
10.1, 10.2, 10.14, 10.16, 10.17, 10.20, 10.21,2,(L2.26, 10.27, 10.28, 10.30, 10.31. 10.32, 16r8810.34
constitute management contracts or compensatong plaarrangements required to be filed as exHilgiteto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this repotr
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized on the ¥3day of March, 2012.

INSMED INCORPORATED
a Virginia corporatior

(Registrant
By: /s/ Timothy Whitter
Timothy Whitten
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officand
Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélptihe following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitiesciaidid on thel3thday of March, 2012.

Signature Title

/s/ Donald Hayden, J

Donald Hayden, Ji Chairman of the Boar
/s/ Timothy Whitter
Timothy Whitten Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Offideand
Director

/s/ Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A

Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A. Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Offigeand
Executive Vice Presidel

/s/ Melvin Sharoky, M.D
Melvin Sharoky, M.D. Director

/s/ Richard S. Kollende
Richard S. Kollende Director

/s/ Steinar J. Engelsen, M.
Steinar J. Engelsen, M.I Director

/s/ Randall W. Whitcomb, M.C
Randall W. Whitcomb, M.D Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Insmedrcorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Insmed Incorporated as of Decembe&t(31, and 2010, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldqtsty, and cash flows for each of the three y@athe period ended December 31, 2011.
These financial statements are the responsibilitie@ Company’s management. Our responsibility isxpress an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlogUnited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@love present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Insmed
Incorporated at December 31, 2011 and 2010, andatheolidated results of its operations and ith ¢msvs for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity Wit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Insmed
Incorporated’s internal control over financial rejieg as of December 31, 2011, based on critet&béished in Internal Control—Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission and our tegeted March 13, 2012 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 13, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Insmedrcorporated

We have audited Insmed Incorporated’s internalrobtver financial reporting as of December 31, Pddased on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued byGoenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission (the COSO
criteria). Insmed Incorporated’s management isaesible for maintaining effective internal contosler financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal coatret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibilé to express an opinion on the comparigternal control over financial reporting bas@
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@iq@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corgvar financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiaduthe design and operating effectiveness ofiiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsméor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&tajpeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agect to the risk that controls may become inadézjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Insmed Incorporated maintainedalirmaterial respects, effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of December 31,
2011, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Insmed Incorporated as of Deaedih@011 and 2010, and the related consoliddaggdraents of operations, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three yaathe period ended December 31, 2011 and our rdpteti March 13, 2012 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 13, 2012
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Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current asse

Certificate of deposl
In-process research and developn
Goodwill
Deposits
Fixed assets, net
Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensatic
Accrued lease expense, curr
Deferred ren
Capital lease obligations, curre
Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities
Accrued lease expense, l-term
Capital lease obligations, long-term
Total liabilities

Stockholders' equity

Common stock; $.01 par value; authorized share0B0M00; issued and outstanding shares, 24,83%3(

2011 and 15,653,734 in 20

Preferred stock; $.01 par value; authorized sh208s000,000; issued and outstanding shares, z&®lih

and 9,174,589 in 201
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive incol
Unrealized gain on investmer
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddinbstatements

INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
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December 31

December 31

2011 2010
$ 14,84 $ 10,74
61,42 97,30¢
757 471
37( 277
77,39¢ 108,79°
2,08t 2,17¢
58,20( 77,90(
- 6,29(
21z -
1,93 1,10
$ 139,83 $ 196,26
$ 233 $ 1,45(
80( 13¢
79t 1,117

27¢
15€ 15¢
114 81
- 402
4,47 3,33¢

92:
16€ 83
5 56¢ 3,42z
24¢ 1,56¢
- 91¢
427,74 423,87
(294,17) (234,51
45( 99z
134,26° 192,84
$ 13983 $ _ 196,26
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INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December <

2011 2010 2009
License fee: $ 1,002 $ 4 12¢
Grant revenu - - 1,04«
Other expanded access program income, net 3,41F 6,917 9,20(
Total revenue 4,417 6,921 10,37:
Operating expense
Research and developmt 27,91% 4,75 9,207
General and administrati\ 12,22¢ 10,25¢ 9,84(
Impairment loss 25,99( - -
Total operating expens: 66,13¢ 15,01: 19,04"
Operating los! (61,719 (8,092) (8,679
Investment incom 2,06¢ 1,84¢ 80¢
Interest expens (20 (209 (787)
Gain on sale of asset, net 1 - 127,47:
(Loss) income before income tax (59,664 (6,35€) 118,82°
Income tax expens - 78 477
Net (loss) incomt (59,664 (6,439 118,35(
Less: accretion of beneficial conversion charge (9,175 - -
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockbmd $ (68,839 $ (6,439 $ 118,35(
Basic net (loss) income attributable to commonlidiotders per common share $ (2.95) $ (049 $ 9.31
Weighted average basic common shares outstal 23,34¢ 13,25( 12,71.
Diluted net (loss) income attributable to commarckholders per common share $ (2.95 $ (0.49 $ 9.3(
Weighted average diluted common shares outstal 23,34¢ 13,25( 12,72’

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddinbstatements
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Balance at December 31, 20C
Comprehensive (loss) incorr
Net income
Unrealized gain (loss) on investme
Comprehensive (loss) incor
Issuance of 292,745 shares of comm
stock for warrant exercist
Issuance of 325,314 shares of comn
stock upon issuance of restricted
stock award:
Issuance of 53,365 shares of commu
stock upon exercise of stock optic
Issuance of 99,985 shares of comr
stock upon conversion of not
Stock compensation exper
Balance at December 31, 20C
Comprehensive (loss) incorr
Net loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment
Comprehensive (loss) income
Issuance of 39,042 shares of comr
stock upon issuance of restricted
stock award:
Issuance of 2,593,882 share:
common stock upon merg
Issuance of 9,174,589 shares
preferred stock upon merg
Stock compensation expense
Balance at December 31, 201
Comprehensive (loss) incorr
Net loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on investme
Comprehensive (loss) incor
1 for 10 reverse stock sp
Issuance of 5,200 shares of comn
stock upon exercise of stock optic
Conversion of 9,174,589 shares
preferred stock into common sto
Stock compensation expense
Balance at December 31, 201

INSMED IN

CORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulatec

Other
Common Preferrec Additional Accumulatec Comprehensiv
Stock Stock Capital Deficit Income (Loss Total
1,22¢ $ 342,37t $ (346,420 $ - $ (2,829
118,35( 118,35(
44t 44t
118,79
29 3,46: - - 3,491
33 1,39¢ - - 1,42¢
5 57¢ - - 58C
10 1,28t 1,29t
- 1,147 - - 1,14
1,30z 350,24 (228,076 44t 123,91«
(6,439 (6,439
54¢ 54¢
(5,886)
4 - - - 4
25¢ 18,16( - - 18,41¢
91¢ 55,10¢ - - 56,02¢
- 36€ - - 36€
1,56¢ 91¢ 423,87 (234,519 99: 192,84:
(59,66¢) (59,66¢)
(549 (549)
(60,207
(2,235 2,23t 0
- 32 - - 32
91¢ (919 - - -
- 1,59¢ - - 1,59¢
248 $ - 3 427,740 $ (294,179 $ 45C  $ 134,26°

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddinbstatements
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Operating activities
Net (loss) incom

INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years Ended December ¢

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to mshc(used in) provided by operati

activities:

Depreciation and amortizatic
Stock based compensation expe
Gain on sale of asset, r
Impairment Los:

Changes in operating assets and liabilit

Accounts receivabl
Income tax receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued lease expens
Accrued compensatic
Deferred revenu
Restricted stock unit liabilit
Asset retirement obligatic
Interest payabl

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi

Investing activities

Cash consideration for merger, net of cash acq!

Cash received from asset s
Purchase of fixed asse
Sales of sho-term investment

Purchases of short-term investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi

Financing activities
Payments on capital lease obligati
Repayment of convertible not
Proceeds from issuance of common si
Warrants converted into shai
Other

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivs
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informa

Cash paid for intere:
Cash paid (received) for taxes, |

Supplemental disclosures of r-cash investing and financing activiti

Purchase of capital leases
Unrealized (loss) gain on investme
Accretion of beneficial conversion char

2011 2010 2009
$ (59,669 $ (6,439) $  118,35(
34z 54 707

1,59¢ 36€ 2,54;

(1) - (127,47)

25,99( - -
(28€) 18 (129)

- 2,02¢ (2,029)

(214) (78) -

884 (2,750 (85)

667 (1,126 (874)

1,201 - -

(322) 201 214

(402) 4 96

- - (119)

- - (2,217)

- @) (12)

(30,209 (7,727) (11,019

- (6,737%) -

- - 127,47

(979) - -

36,50( 115,15: -
(1,161) (102,467) (108,744
34,36( 5,95¢ 18,73(

(82) (6) -

- (231) (1,24¢)

32 - 58C

- - 3,491

- 4 52

(50) (237) 2,871

4,10¢ (1,997) 10,59t
10,74¢ 12,74( 2,14F

$ 14,84¢ $ 10,74: $ 12,74(
$ 10 $ - $ 82
$ - $ (1,88) $ 2,79t
$ 19¢ $ - $ -
$ (543 $ 54¢  $ 44F
$ 9,175 $ - $ -

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddinbstatements
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Description of the Business and Suamnof Significant Accounting Policies

Insmed® Incorporated is a development-stage biopharmaaduicnpany with expertise in proprietary, advanigosomal
technology designed specifically for inhalationdwtelivery. We develop innovative inhaled treatmsdot serious lung infections. Our
proprietary liposomal technology is designed speilfy for delivery of pharmaceuticals to the luagnd we believe it provides for potential
improvements to the conventional inhalation methafddelivering drug to the pulmonary system. Thestential advantages include
improvements in efficacy, safety and patient comwmeee. Our primary focus is on orphan markets Wwith unmet medical needs, which we
believe presents a significant opportunity, asrtbleallenge and complexity best fit our knowledgeyw-how and expertise.

Our strategy is to utilize our patented advancedsdomal technology to develop safe and effectivdioes that improve upon
standards of care for those orphan respiratoryadesin which patient needs are currently unmetir@ial primary target indications are
Pseudomonas aerugino(hereafter referred to &seudomonaglung infections in CF patients and patients VNfhM lung infections.

Insmed is the result of a business combination ¢eteg on December 1, 2010, with Transave, Incrjafely-held, NJ-based
pharmaceutical company focused on the developnfatifferentiated and innovative inhaled pharmaazal$ for the site-specific treatment of
serious lung infections. Integration of the twanp@anies was completed in 2011 including the relonatf corporate headquarters to
Monmouth Junction, New Jersey, and cessation afadipas at the Richmond, Virginia, location as @fd@mber 31, 2011. On March 2, 2011,
we completed a conversion of all of our outstandirgferred stock to common stock and also we cetagla one-for-ten reverse stock split of
our common stock. Unless otherwise noted, the lpgresamounts in this 10-K give retroactive effecttte reverse stock split for all periods
presented.

After giving effect to the Merger, former Transasteckholders had approximately a 46.7% equity @gein the combined Company
(on an as-converted, fully diluted basis), and éggdasmed Incorporated shareholders had a 53.3%yeqterest. The shares retained by us
pursuant to the Merger agreement (approximatel§ tniflion shares of common stock after giving effecthe conversion of the Series B
Conditional Preferred Stock and the onetfm-reverse stock split of our common stock) walldelivered on June 12, 2012, subject to redu
for any claims and indemnification payments that@ending in accordance with the terms of the Meageeement.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tiomants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiés, Transave, LLC, Insmed
Therapeutic Proteins, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, hacated, and Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, IncorporéBadtrix). All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminatezhisptidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetiets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United
States (GAAP) requires management to make estimatégssumptions that affect the amounts repantétki consolidated financial stateme
and accompanying notes. The Company bases itsast and judgments on historical experience ancioaus other assumptions that it
believes are reasonable under the circumstandes.afiounts of assets and liabilities reportedénGbmpany’s balance sheets and the
amounts of revenue and expenses reported for eaddp presented are effected by estimates andhasisms, which are used for, but not
limited to, the accounting for revenue recognitistock-based compensation, income taxes, lossngamcies, impairment of intangibles and
long lived assets and accounting for research amdldpment costs. Actual results could diffenirthose estimates.
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Common Stock Reverse Split

On March 2, 2011, our shareholders approved a onteh reverse stock split of the Company’s outditagn common stock (see Note
6). Unless otherwise noted, the accompanying dimfaded financial statements and notes give retieaeffect to the reverse stock split for
periods presented.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company considers cash equivalents to be imegds with maturities of three months or less wharchased. Short-term
investments are available for sale and consistauilynof short-term municipal bonds, U. S. treasarand mutual funds. These securities are
carried at fair value of the investment based astepl market prices. The cost of the specific secsold is used to compute the gain or loss on
the sale of marketable securities.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and are dee@ciata straight-line basis over their estimateduldives of the assets. Estimated
useful lives of five to seven years are used fonpater equipment, laboratory equipment, office pmént and furniture and fixtures.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shoftthe lease term or the estimated useful lifthe® asset. Long-lived assets, such as lab
equipment, are reviewed for impairment wheneventss/er changes in circumstances indicate thataheyiog amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be hettlusmed is measured by a comparison of the carpamgunt of an asset to estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be geeeiby the asset. If the carrying amount of artaseceeds its estimated future cash flows,
then an impairment charge is recognized for theuarhby which the carrying value of the asset exsdhd fair value of the asset. As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, management believesdhravision of the remaining useful lives or wrdown of long-lived assets is required.

Goodwill and Identified Intangible Assets

As part of the Merger, we recorded in-process mebeand development identified intangible assetsntifiable intangible assets are
measured at their respective fair values as oatlogiisition date and are not amortized until conuiaéization. Once commercialization occurs,
these intangible assets will be amortized overesitanated useful lives. While we believe the falues assigned to our acquired intangible
assets are based on reasonable estimates and #eggrgpven the available facts and circumstansesf ¢he acquisition date, unanticipated
events or circumstances may occur that require uaview the assets for impairment. Events or arstances that may require an impairment
assessment include negative clinical trial resthis,non-approval of a new drug application (ND&)the FDA, material delays in our
development program or a sustained decline in madggtalization.

Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible atsare not subject to periodic amortization. Ratedwill and other indefinite-lived
intangibles are reviewed for impairment by applyénfair value based test on an annual basis or fmegaently if events or circumstances
indicate impairment may have occurred. Eventsmuanstances that may require an interim impairraseessment are consistent with those
described above related to the in-process rese@atiievelopment intangible assets. The potentighirment of goodwill is assessed by
comparing the fair value (using income or markgirapches) of the reporting unit with its carryingaunt, including goodwill. If the carrying
value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair vale jmpairment charge would be recorded in the arnthat the carrying amount of goodwill
exceeds its implied fair value. The Company hastet to perform its annual impairment test asab@er 1 of each year.

In the quarter ended September 30, 2011, the FRéepl a clinical hold on our Phase 3 clinical trfalsARIKACE for CF and NTM.
The clinical hold for the NTM indication was subseqtly lifted in January 2012. Our management detezd the clinical hold was an
indicator of possible intangible asset impairmeam ¢tb the associated additional costs and matélal in our development program and,
therefore, interim impairment testing was perforrasf September 30, 2011. The annual impairmemgweresulted in a non-cash charge of
$26.0 million to reflect the decline in the fairlwva of goodwill and in-process research and deweg intangible assets as of September 30,
2011 due to the material impact of the clinicalchoh our ARIKACE development program. No additiomapairment losses were identified as
of our December 31, 2011 impairment testing dumarily to the subsequent lifting of the clinicalltién the NTM indication and additional
external market data which indicated that the NTitket may be larger than originally anticipated.January 2012 the FDA lifted the clinical
hold on ARIKACE in the NTM indication. In Februa®p12, the Company announced that it would be timtigthe ARIKACE NTM trial as a
Phase 2 trial, as well as the previously planneakPI3 trial for ARIKACE in the CF indication in Eyre.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We consider the recorded cost of our financialtassed liabilities, which consist primarily of caglash equivalents and short-term
investments, to approximate the fair value of gspective assets and liabilities at December 311 206d 2010, due to the sheetm maturitie:
of these instruments. See Note 9 for further disiouson fair value of our cash and investments.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consigngrily of cash, cash equivalents
and short-term investments. The Company placeagh equivalents with high credit-quality finandradtitutions and invests its short-term
investments in U.S. treasury securities, mutuatifusnd government agency bonds. The Company tedslissed guidelines relative to credit
ratings and maturities that seek to maintain sadaty liquidity.

The Companys drugs supplies are supplied from by a sole matwfar. The inability of the manufacturer to fulfupply
requirements of the Company could materially imgatitre operating results. A change in the relaiop with this manufacturer, or an adve
change in their business, could materially impatire operating results.

Beneficial Conversion Charge (“BCC”)

When issuing debt or equity securities that arevedible into common stock at a discount from thie ¥alue of the common stock at
the date the debt or equity financing is committee,are required to record a BCC in accordance Adttounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 470-20. This BCC is measurasithe difference between the fair values of tlarstes at the time of issue, $6.10 in this
case, and the fair value of the common stock attinemitment date, which was $7.10. The carryingiealf the preferred stock was based on
its fair value at issuance, which was estimatedgiie common stock price reduced for a lack ofketability between the issuance date and
the anticipated date of conversion. The BCC isn@®t as a non-cash charge to earnings. A BCC @fréfllion was recognized at the time of
the Series B Preferred Stock conversions and reptes $1.00 discount on the fair value of our comistock purchased by the note holders.
See Note 6 for further information about the besiaficonversion feature.

Revenue Recognition and Collaboration Agreements

Revenue from our Expanded Access Program in Isatgdognized when the drugs have been providerbfygrgam patients and
collectability is assured. Revenue from collabanagiis recognized as license fees when milestaeeschieved and payments are due. The
Company analyzes each element of an agreementanrdee if it shall be accounted for as a sepaghment or single unit of accounting. If
element shall be treated separately for revenumgretion purposes, the revenue recognition priesphost appropriate for that element are
applied to determine when revenue shall be recednif an element shall not be treated separatelyelvenue recognition purposes, the
revenue recognition principles most appropriatetierbundled group of elements are applied to deter when revenue shall be recognized.
Payments received in excess of revenues recogareeeecorded as deferred revenue until such tinleeasevenue recognition criteria have
been met.
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Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed asthedcept for purchased in-process research evelapment (see Goodwill and
Identified Intangible Assets policy above and NéteResearch and development expenses consistrpyimiesalaries and related expenses,
cost to develop and manufacture drug candidatésnpprotection costs, amounts paid to contragareh organizations, hospitals and
laboratories for the provision of services and malke for drug development and clinical trials. @upenses related to clinical trials are based
on estimates of the services received and effagereded pursuant to contracts with third-party oizgtions that conduct and manage clinical
trials on our behalf. These contracts set forthsttepe of work to be completed at a fixed fee oowamh per patient enrolled. Payments under
these contracts primarily depend on performander@isuch as the successful enroliment of patiemtise completion of clinical trial
milestones as well as time-based fees. Expensexaneed based on contracted amounts applied texbEof patient enrollment and to
activity according to the clinical trial protocol.

Stock-Based Compensation

In some instances, consultants received equityumsnts of the Company or liabilities for servipesvided that are based on the fair
value of our equity instruments or that may bdeetby the issuance of such equity instrumentssé&share-based transactions are accounted
for using a fair-value-based method to recognize cessh compensation expense; this expense is reedgmatably over the requisite service
period, which generally equals the vesting peribdptions, and is adjusted for expected forfeitures

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance w&8 &40, Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets anilltiedare recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differehetaeen the financial statement carrying amouhéxisting assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and operating loss carry fdsvaDeferred tax assets and liabilities are nrealsusing enacted tax rates expected to apply
to taxable income in the years in which those terayodifferences are expected to be recoveredttede The effect on deferred tax assets
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognizethcome in the period that includes the enactndate¢. The Company has no uncertain tax
positions as of December 31, 2011 that qualifyeitiier recognition or disclosure in the financiatements.

Valuation allowances are recorded if it is moreljkthan not that some portion of the deferredasset will not be realized. In
evaluating the need for a valuation allowance, ake into account various factors, including theeeted level of future taxable income and
available tax planning strategies. If actual resdiffer from the assumptions made in the evaluadibour valuation allowance, we record a
change in valuation allowance through income tgpeese in the period such determination is made.

The Company follows the provisions of ASC 740, Aaating for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, which pdes a financial statement
recognition threshold and measurement attribute fiax position taken or expected to be takentaxaeturn. Under ASC 740, the Company
may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertainp@sition only if it is more likely than not thdte tax position will be sustained on
examination by taxing authorities, based solelyhentechnical merits of the position. The tax béseécognized in the financial statements
from such a position should be measured basedediatpest benefit that has a greater than 50%Hiet] to be sustained upon ultimate
settlement.

The Companys policy for interest and penalties related to inedax exposures is to recognize interest and fienals a component
the income taxes on continuing operations in thesolidated statements of operations.

Net (Loss) Income Per Share
Basic net (loss) income per share is computed hased the weighted average number of common sloartstanding during the
year. The following table sets forth the recomgtitn of the weighted average number of shareibatable to common stockholders uset

compute basic net (loss) income per share to these to compute diluted net (loss) income per sfoathe years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009.
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2011 2010 2009
Weighted average number of sha- basic 23,34¢ 13,25( 12,71
Add dilutive effect of share- restricted stock units and optic - - 15
Weighted average number of shares - diluted 23,34¢ 13,25( 12,72

The following potentially dilutive securities halzeen excluded from the computations of diluted Wesd-average shares outstanding
as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 as thejdvbeuanti-dilutive.

2011 2010 2009
Shares underlying warrants to purchase outstaraingnon stocl 15¢ 15¢ 51¢
Shares underlying options to purchase outstandinghwon stocl 89z 214 25¢
Shares underlying restricted stock ui 487 - -

Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Comprehensive (loss) income consists of net lass phrealized (losses) gains on short-term invassn€omprehensive (loss)
income as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 fisllaws:

Year Ended December 3

2011 2010 2009
Net (loss) incom $ (59,664 $ (6,439 $ 118,35(
Unrealized (loss) gain on sh-term investment (54%) 54¢ 44E
Total comprehensive (loss) income $ (60,207 $ (5,886) $ 118,79!

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in one business esiyavhich is the development and commercializatibpharmaceutical
products. A single management team that reporttset@hief Executive Officer comprehensively marsatipe entire business. The Company
does not operate separate lines of business vgifece to its products or product candidates. Adiogly, the Company does not have
separately reportable segments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards UpdafsU”) 2009-13,
Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements. The is¢andard changes the requirements for establisi@ipgrate units of accounting in a
multiple element arrangement and requires the aililoe of arrangement consideration to each delblerbased on the relative selling price.
The selling price for each deliverable is based@mdor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) if aladile, third-party evidence (“TPE”) if
VSOE is not available, or estimated selling priceecither VSOE or TPE is available. ASU 2009-18figctive for revenue arrangements
entered into in fiscal years beginning on or aftame 15, 2010. We adopted ASU 2009-13 effectivaaignl, 2011 and it did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial stegats.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, Yalue Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820)rdwipg Disclosures about
Fair Value Measurements (ASU 2010-06), which amehe®xisting fair value measurement and discloguréance currently included in
ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disckssuo require additional disclosures regardimgviaue measurements. Specifically,
ASU 2010-06 requires entities to disclose the arteahsignificant transfers between Level 1 anddlé/of the fair value hierarchy and the
reasons for these transfers, the reasons for angfér in or out of Level 3 and information in fleeonciliation of recurring Level 3
measurements about purchases, sales, issuancestt@chents on a gross basis. In addition, ASU 2iBLalso clarifies the requirement for
entities to disclose information about both theuaéibn techniques and inputs used in estimatingL2wand Level 3 fair value measurements.
The adoption of ASU 2010-06 did not impact our adiasited financial statements.
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In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-17, ReveReeognition—Milestone Method (Topic 605): Milestolethod of Revenue
Recognition, a consensus of the FASB Emerging ks3ask Force, which provides guidance on defininglastone and determining when it
may be appropriate to apply the milestone methagwénue recognition for research or developmamistictions. ASU 20107 is effective fo
milestones achieved in fiscal years, and interimopls within those years, beginning on or aftereJtif, 2010. We adopted ASU 2010-17
effective January 1, 2011 and it did not have eentimpact on our consolidated financial stateteen

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, AmendmémtAchieve Common Fair Value Measurement andl@ssice
Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The new guiddimgits the highest-and-best-use measure to nanéial assets, permits certain
financial assets and liabilities with offsettingst@ons in market or counterparty credit risks rbeasured at a net basis, and provides guic
on the applicability of premiums and discounts. Wddally, the new guidance expands the disclosaorekevel 3 inputs by requiring
quantitative disclosure of the unobservable inpni$ assumptions, as well as description of theat@ln processes and the sensitivity of the
value to changes in unobservable inputs. ASU 201 ik-@effective for years beginning after Decembgr2011 and is not expected to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial stegats.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Pregentaf Comprehensive Income, which requires aityetd present the total of
comprehensive income, the components of net incamgtthe components of other comprehensive incatierén a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income, or in two sépédmat consecutive statements. ASU 2051eliminates the option to present componen
other comprehensive income as part of the stateofeguity. In December 2011, the FASB issued A®W1212, Deferral of the Effective
Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Redleations of Items Out of Accumulated Other Compnasive Income in ASU 2011-05.
ASU 2011-12 defers the effective date of the rezyugnt in ASU 2011-05 to disclose on the face ofithencial statements the effects of
reclassifications out of accumulated other compmnsive income on the components of net income amer @omprehensive income. All other
requirements of ASU 2011-05 are not affected by ABW1-12. ASU 2011-05 and 2011-12 are effectiveyé@rs beginning after
December 15, 2011. The adoption of ASU 2011-052411d -12 are not expected to have a material impacur consolidated financial
statements.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08nkibles — Goodwill and Other, which amends curgeridance to allow a
company to first assess qualitative factors tordatee whether it is necessary to perform the tvap sfuantitative goodwill impairment test.
The amendment also revises previous guidance bgnelkpg upon the examples of events and circumsseathed an entity should consider
between annual impairment tests in determining ladret is more likely than not that the fair valofea reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount. ASU 2011-08 is effective for annual anerimh goodwill impairment tests performed for fisgaars beginning after December 15,
2011. The adoption of ASU 2011-08 is not expecteldatve a material impact on our consolidated firddrstatements.

2. Risks and Uncertainties

For the period from inception to December 31, 2@é&,Company has incurred recurring operating kbasel has accumulated a
deficit of $294.2 million. During 2011, the Compargcognized a net loss of $59.7 million. Our nethcased in operations for 2011 was $30.2
million. While we currently have sufficient funtts meet our financial needs for 2012, our busisésgegy in the future may require us to r
additional capital either through licensing, debequity sales. In the future, we may require &oldal funds for the continued development of
our potential product candidates or to pursueit@nse of complementary technologies. There camtessurance that adequate funds will be
available when we need them or on favorable ternat any time we are unable to obtain sufficiadtlitional funds, we will be required to
delay, restrict or eliminate some or all of oure@sh or development programs, dispose of assétslomology or cease operations.

3. Business Combination

We entered into an Agreement and Plan of Mergdr Witinsave, Inc. on December 1, 2010. The Mergsibleen accounted for us
the acquisition method of accounting and, accolgirtfe tangible and intangible assets acquirediabdities assumed were recorded at their
estimated fair values as of the date of the adiprisi Transaction costs related to the Merger &€ million of which $4.8 million is
expensed in 2010 and $1.2 million is expensed 092hd is included in general and administratiygeases in the statement of
operations. Our evaluation of the estimate offélirevalue of the assets acquired and the liabdiissumed from Transave and the related
allocations of purchase price are shown in theesabklow (on a pre-reverse stock-split basis).h Béthese evaluations are “Level 3" as
defined in Note 9.
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The following table summarizes the purchase prileation for the Merger, based on the Companyiisrfaarket evaluation of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed.

Computation of Purchase Pric

Cash consideration pa $ 8,54¢
Fair value of common stock consideration (2,593 89&res issue( 18,41¢
Fair value of preferred series B stock considena{$y174,589 shares issu¢ 56,02(

Purchase price of acquired ass 82,98(

Fair value of liabilities assume
Accounts payabl -
Accrued expense -
Current liablities 451¢

Long-term liabilities 87
Total fair value of liabilities assumg 4,60z
Total purchase price to be allocated to assetsir@ct $ 87,58:

Allocation of Purchase Pric
Fair value of net assets acqui

Current assel $ 2,17(
Fixed asset 1,131
Other asset 91
In-process research and developn 77,90(
Goodwill 6,29(

Total fair value of assets acquired $ 87,58:

Goodwill typically results through expected syneggirom combining operations of an acquiree andcapiirer as well as from
intangible assets that do not qualify for separategnition. The goodwill recognized as a resuliht$ Merger results from the synergies
expected to result from the combination of Insmed &ransave. No portion of this goodwill will bedietible for tax purposes.

The fair value of the common stock (on a pre-rexstsck-split basis) was the Company’s closingkspe on December 1, 2010,
which was $0.71 per share. Based on a revievs déétures, the conditional convertible series &eqired stock was considered economically
equivalent to the common stock. Accordingly, thie falue was estimated using the common stock pedeced for a lack of marketability
between the acquisition date (or issuance datejfandnticipated date of conversion. This discdantack of marketability via a protective p
analysis and the fair value of the series B prefestock was estimated at $0.61 per share at DexeinB010.

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortitan combines the consolidated results of operatamif the Merger had occurred
as of the beginning of the periods presented.
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INSMED INCORPORATED
Proforma Statement of Operations (Unaudited)
(in thousands)

2010
Revenue:! 7,654
Operating los: (20,26¢)
Net income (loss) after income ta» (25,879

4, Identified Intangible Assets and Giwaill

In August 2011, we announced that in separaterectite FDA had placed a clinical hold on our Pi&asknical trials for ARIKACE
in CF patients witiPseudomonaling infections and for patients with NTM lung iofens. Since the clinical programs were being cabed
under separate INDs, we received separate noidfitafor CF and NTM. A clinical hold is a notifiéan issued by the FDA to the sponsor to
delay the commencement of a proposed clinicdldrisuspend an ongoing clinical trial. The FDAadmfied us that this decision was based on
an initial review of the results of a long-term w&alation carcinogenicity study with ARIKACE. this study, rats received daily doses of
ARIKACE by inhalation for up to two years. The FDéquested additional information on ARIKACE andadftom the rat study. As a resul
the clinical hold, we suspended initiation of thRIKACE Phase 3 clinical trial programs, includitigetrecruitment and enrollment of patients.

We provided the requested information to the FDAugust and were informed by the FDA that, baseitreview of the
information provided to date, including the ratafdtion carcinogenicity study results, the FDA eufficient information to assess the risks
for ARIKACE in CF patients. In October 2011, the ADotified us that the FDA was continuing the aili hold previously placed on our
Phase 3 clinical trial for ARIKACE in CF patientstiv Pseudomonadung infections and in patients with NTM lung infens. Regarding the
clinical hold for CF patients with Pseudomonas linfgctions, the FDA requested additional inforraatfrom us, including that we conduct a
nine-month dog inhalation toxicity study of ARIKAGQE determine if the findings of the rat inhalaticarcinogenicity study are also observed
in a non-rodent model and to propose a CF patieptijation/disease state in which the risk-benefifie of ARIKACE may be more
favorable. We were informed during further dialoguith the FDA that if we chose to proceed, the meglinine-month dog inhalation toxicity
study of ARIKACE could be conducted in paralleltwihe CF Phase 3 clinical trials in human subje&sgarding the clinical hold for patients
with NTM lung infections, the FDA requested we coata Phase 2 clinical trial in adult (age 18 aluid) NTM patients to provide proof-of-
concept efficacy and safety data for ARIKACE in Npdtients.

Our management determined the clinical hold waimdicator of possible impairment of in-process egsh and development and
goodwill assets due to the associated additionstscand, therefore, interim impairment testing pagormed as of September 30, 2011. U:
the income approach the impairment analysis conapiiefair value of the in-process research analdgment intangible assets with their
respective carrying amounts. This approach calesitair value by estimating future cash flowsiktttable to the assets and then discounting
these cash flows to a present value using a rigkstedl discount rate. A market based valuation @ggr was not considered given a lack of
revenues and profits for the Company. This appreoeghires significant management judgment with eesfo unobservable inputs such
as future volume, revenue and expense growth rebesiges in working capital use, appropriate distoates and other assumptions and
estimates. The estimates and assumptions usedrmsistent with the Company's business plans. Aatditly, the carrying value of the busin
exceeded its fair value, and accordingly we peréainthe second step of the goodwill impairmentlgstomparing the carrying value of
goodwill to its implied fair value. The impairme®view resulted in impairment losses for botheéssdNon-cash charges of $19.7 million and
$6.3 million were recognized for the decline in fai value of in-process research and developrardtgoodwill assets, respectively, as of
September 30, 2011. The non-cash charge of $2illi@mwas recorded as an impairment loss and ifladsas an operating expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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In January 2012, the FDA lifted the clinical hold ARIKACE in patients with NTM lung infections. Watend to conduct, as
requested by the FDA, a Phase 2 clinical trialdaleNTM patients to provide proof-of-concept efficy and safety data for ARIKACE in NTM
patients. We expect to begin enrolling patienth@amPhase 2 clinical trial in mid-2012. We hawodlegun the work required to allow the
Company to initiate the nine-month dog inhalatioxi¢ity study in the second quarter of 2012.

In February 2012, the company announced that itdvioe initiating the ARIKACE NTM trial as a Phaserial, as well as the
previously planned Phase 3 trial for ARIKACE in {8E indication in Europe. Also in February 2012, filed our complete response to the
FDA clinical hold on the U.S. study of ARIKACE inFpatients witiPseudomonaimfection. We will continue discussions with thBA to
pursue removal of the clinical hold on ARIKACE indJ for the treatment of CF patients wiRkeudomonaling infections.

As a result of these events, the Company belithatghe no additional impairment of in-proces®agsh and development intangible
assets exists as of December 31, 2011.

5. Fixed Assets, net

Fixed assets are stated at cost and depreciatadantized when available by applying the straigi-inethod, based on useful lives
as follows:

Estimatec

Asset Descriptiol Useful Life (years 2011 2010
Lab equipmen 7 $ 3,072 $ 2,59t
Furniture and fixture 7 56 54
Computer hardware and softw: 5 46¢ 40~
Office equipmen 7 11& 48
Leasehold improvemen lease tern 577 97¢

4,28¢ 4,081
Less accumulated depreciati (2,357) (2,979
Fixed assets, ni $ 1,937 $ 1,102

Depreciation expense was $0.3 millio$0.1 million and $0.7 million for the years endeedd®ember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. Depreciation expense includes dégien for equipment under capital lease obligagion

Fixed assets include equipment held under capiteld obligations with an approximate net carrymige of $0.4 million and $0.1
million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respelstiv

6. Convertible Debt and StockholdeEsjuity

Convertible Debt

On March 15, 2005, we entered into several purchgseements with a group of institutional investprgsuant to which we issued
and sold to such investors certain 5.5% convertibkes in the aggregate principal amount of $35I0om, which convert into a certain numt

of shares of our common stock (the “2005 Notes\vall as warrants to purchase our common stock“@e5 Warrants”).On March 1, 201(
our final payments to the holders of the remair#885 Notes were paid. The 2005 Warrants expiredlarch 15, 2010.
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Common and Preferred Stock

On December 1, 2010, we entered into an AgreemnmehPtan of Merger (the Merger) with Transave. Urttlerterms of the Merger
Agreement, the Transave stockholders received greggte of 2.6 million newly issued shares of themon stock, par value $0.01 per share,
of the Company and 9.2 million shares of newly ted&eries B Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 lpgmes of the Company. The Transave
stockholders also received an aggregate of $0l&mih cash. Collectively, the shares of the Camgs common stock and the Company’s
preferred stock (on an as converted basis) issuedrinection with the Merger represent approxinyat@Pb of the capital stock of the
Company on a fully diluted basis at the time ofizazce.

On March 1, 2011, we held a special meeting ofstiareholders to consider proposals relating tetimeersion of our Series B
Preferred Stock and a one-fign reverse stock split of the common stock. Atgpecial meeting of shareholders, the sharehodgignoved th
proposals.

As a result of the approval of the conversion ef 8eries B Preferred Stock, the 91.7 million shaféle Series B Preferred Stock
outstanding (on a pre-reverse stock-split basisewatomatically and immediately converted intoratillion shares of our common stock. In
addition, we filed Articles of Amendment (the Ameneint) to our Articles of Incorporation, as amendedaffect a one-for-ten reverse stock
split of our common stock. The Amendment becarfectfe on March 2, 2011. As a result of the Ammedt, each holder of 10 shares of
common stock immediately prior to the effectivenekthe reverse stock split became the holder efsirare of our common
stock. Shareholders received a cash paymenturofiany fractional shares of common stock theyeatéled to receive. Below is a table
detailing the conversion of the preferred sharekstha reverse stock split.

Common stock shares outstanding February 28, 156,53
Preferred series B stock converted into commorkstodMarch 1, 2011 91,74¢
Total shares outstanding prior to reverse stodk spl 248,28:.
1 for 10 reverse stock sp 1:1C
Approximate number of common shares outstandingcMar 2011 24,82¢

As a result of the conversion of the Series B PrefeStock, we recorded a non-cash charge forehefixial conversion feature of the
Series B Preferred Stock in the amount of $9.2ionillwhich reduced net income available to holddrsur common shares and, in turn,
reduced our earnings per common share on a basidilared basis by $0.40 for year ended Decembg2@11. The charge represents the
$1.00 difference between the conversion price ef3bries B Preferred Stock of $7.10 per sharetarwirying value of $6.10 per share. The
carrying value of Series B Preferred Stock was dhaseits fair value at issuance, which was estichating the common stock price reduced
for a lack of marketability between the acquisitdate (or issuance date) and the anticipated datenwersion.

7. Stock Based Compensation
Stock Warrants

The following table summarizes warrant activity foe years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 208iawvs:

Weighted

Number of Average
Warants Exercise Pric
Outstanding at January 1, 20 1,095,020 $ 13.2(
Exercisec (292,749 11.9C
Expired (283,19 17.0C
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 519,08¢ 11.8C
Expired (361,537) 12.2(
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 157,55: 11.0C
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 157,55 $ 11.0C
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All warrants have an expiration date of May 2012.
Stock Options

As of December 31, 2011, we had two equity comp@rsalans under which we were granting stock opgtiand shares of norestec
stock. We are currently granting stock-based awtais our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incefftiaa (the 2000 Plan) and our
Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchais€tRe 2000 ESPP). Both the 2000 Plan and th® EEPP are administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directois e Board of Directors (the “Board”).

The 2000 Plan was originally adopted by the Boaud @pproved by our shareholders in 2000. Its oaigien-year term was extended
to March 15, 2015, when the 2000 Plan was last deeriJnder the terms of the 2000 Plan, we are aa#itbto grant a variety of incentive
awards based on our common stock, including stptioes (both incentive options and non-qualifiediaps), performance shares and other
stock awards. At the 2011 annual meeting of shddeh®held on May 18, 2011, the Company’s sharefisldpproved three million additional
shares to be set aside for current and future mderthe 2000 Plan. As of December 31, 2011, ti® Zdan provides for the issuance of a
maximum of 3.9 million shares of common stock. Jéehares are reserved for awards to all partitiparthe 2000 Plan, including non-
employee directors.

The 2000 ESPP was adopted by the Board on Ap2i060, and approved by our shareholders on the daieelt was amended by the
Board to increase the number of shares availablssaance, and such amendment was approved Ishatgholders on May 11, 2005. The
2000 ESPP was subsequently amended and restasedidny of the Board on October 4, 2006, and theraiment and restatement was
approved by our shareholders on December 14, 20fder the terms of the 2000 ESPP, eligible empleyee the opportunity to purchase
our common stock at a discount. An option givesdtisler the right to purchase shares of our comstock, up to a maximum value of $0.02
million per year. The 2000 ESPP provides for tlseigce of a maximum of 150,000 shares of our comstamnk to participating employees.

The following table summarizes stock option acyivir the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 @68 &s follows:
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Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Share: Exercise Pric  Life in Years Value

Options outstanding at January 1, 2! 428,22: $ 21.0C
Granted - -
Exercisec (53,365 10.9C
Forfeited (34,259 15.4¢
Cancelled (81,330 23.4¢
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 259,27t ¢ 23.0C 1.9¢ ¢ 45,62(
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 258,95 ¢ 23.0¢ 1.9¢ ¢ 45,51
Exercisable at December 31, 2009 237,000 ¢ 23.9( 1.9¢ ¢ 39,37:
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 259,27 % 23.0C
Granted - -
Exercisec - -
Cancellec (45,000 48.04
Options outstanding at December 31, 2010 21427 ¢ 18.4: 134 ¢ 9,88(
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2010 214,27 ¢ 18.4: 134 ¢ 9,88(
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 21427 ¢ 18.4: 134 ¢ 9,88(
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 214278 $ 18.4:
Granted 766,00( 3.77
Exercisec (5,200 6.1€
Cancelled (83,329 26.57
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 891,75:. 5.1k 8.4¢ ¢ 11,35:
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2011 816,41 5.3C 8.3t ¢ 10,11
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 125,75! 13.5¢ 08: ¢ -

The Company calculates the fair value of stockarstibased upon the Black-Scholes-Merton valuatiodeh The following table
summarizes the fair value and assumptions usedtermining the fair value of stock options issuedrn the year ended December 31, 2011.

2011
Volatility 111.6%
Risk-free interest rat 0.9%
Dividend yield 0.0%
Expected option term (in yeat 6.25

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the vojafdittor was based on the Company’s historicaltilitjasince the closing of the
Merger on December 1, 2010. The expected lifededsrmined using the simplified method as describe€SC Topic 718, “Accounting for
Stock Compensation”, which is the midpoint betwtenvesting date and the end of the contractual.térhe risk-free interest rate is based on
the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the ddtgrant. Forfeitures are based on actual peagenof option forfeitures since the closing of
the Business Combination on December 1, 2010, satieeibasis for future forfeiture expectations.
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For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2008dimpany did not grant stock options and therefsetluhe calculated 2008
Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model. The weightwgrage grant-date fair value of stock options de@mas estimated on the date of grant
using the following assumptions in 2008: risk-freerest rate of 2.42%, no dividends, volatilityldf7% and an expected life of 4.07 years.
The volatility factor was estimated based on then@any’s historical volatility. The Company also ddgstorical data to derive the option’s
expected life and employee forfeiture rates withie valuation model. The risk-free interest ratedsed on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in
effect at the date of grant. The dividend yielg@rsdicated on the current annualized dividend payme

The Company recognized stock-based compensati@negpelated to stock options of approximately $@ilBon, $0.4 million $0.2
million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 20102009, respectively. General and administraipgenses include $0.2 million, $0.03
million and $0.1 million and research and develophexpenses include $0.1 million, $0.01 million &td1 million of stock-based
compensation expense in the consolidated statesheperations for the years December 31, 2011, 2002009, respectively. As of
December 31, 2011, there was $2.2 million of ungeced compensation expense related to unvestek gpions, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 3ead4sy As of December 31, 2010, there were zerostiedeshares.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

In May 2008, under the 2000 Plan, we began gramiegfricted Stock (RS) and Restricted Stock URSYs) to eligible employees,
including our executives. Each RS and RSU represenght to receive one share of our common stipoi the completion of a specific
period of continued service or our achievementeofain performance metrics. Shares of RS and R&Jgemerally valued at the market price
of our common stock on the date of grant. RSUstgchim the first quarter of 2011 were accountedafoliability awards as they would have
been cash settled until additional shares wereoaiatrd for issuance under the 2000 plan. On the tihe@se additional shares were authorized,
the RSUs were converted to equity awards and wedtesd at the market price of our common stock. rééegnize noncash compensation
expense for the fair values of these RS and RSUssatraight-line basis over the requisite servieeqa of these awards, which is generally
three years.

The following table summarizes RS and RSU actifotythe years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 an@l 29@llows:

Weighted Weighted

Number of Average Number of Average
RS Grant Price RSU's Grant Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2C 315,55. $ 6.04 184,66: $ 6.04
Granted 149,20« 17.1C 36,82 17.1C
Exercised (455,98") 9.5¢ (221,48 7.8¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 8,77 17.1C - -
Granted 30,27( 8.8( - -
Exercisec (39,042 10.72 - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2( - - - -
Granted - - 491,25! 6.3¢€
Forfeited - - (4,230 5.1
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 - $ - 487,02 $ 6.37
Expected to Vest 447,83¢ 6.3€

The Company recognized stock-based compensati@negpelated to RS and RSU'’s of approximately #iiliBon, $0.3 million and
$2.3 million for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectiv€gneral and administrative expenses include $dl®m $0.2 million and $1.2 million and
research and development expenses include $0idmi#0.1 million and $1.1 million of stodkased compensation expense in the consolic
statement of operations for the years ended Dece&ihe011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. As of Ddwer 31, 2011, there was $2.8 million
of unrecognized compensation expense related testieé¢t RSUs, which is expected to be recognizedawazighted average period of 2.0
years. As of December 31, 2011 there were zer@dd?8EL’s.
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A total of approximately 2.1 million shares of commstock were reserved for issuance at Decembe&(R1, in connection with
restricted stock, restricted stock units, stockars, stock warrants and the 2000 employee stoothpsge plan.

8. Income Taxes

The Company is subject to U.S. federal and statenie taxes. The statute of limitations for tax aiglgenerally open for the years
2008 and later. However, except in 2009, the Compas incurred net operating losses since incep8anh loss carryforwards would be
subject to audit in any tax year in which thoseséssare utilized, notwithstanding the year of origihe Company’s policy is to recognize
interest accrued related to unrecognized tax bisnafid penalties in income tax expense. The Compasyecorded no such expense. The
Company obtained additional loss carryforwards ftbemMerger. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010Cimpany has recorded no reserves
for unrecognized income tax benefits. The Compargsdot anticipate any material changes in the atafuunrecognized tax positions over
the next twelve months.

The net deferred tax assets of approximately $lilliomand $94 million at December 31, 2011 and @0®spectively, arise primari
due to net operating loss carryforwards for incaenepurposes. Due to the Company’s anticipatagréubsses, these amounts have been
entirely offset by increasing the valuation allower$16.4 million to $110 million at December 31120

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company hadperating loss carryforwards for income tax purgasfeapproximately $330
million and $310 million, respectively, expiring Warious years beginning in 2012. Utilization loése carryforwards will likely be
significantly limited due to changes in the ownédpsif the Company’s common stock.

The Company does not believe there are any posifamwhich it is reasonably possible that theltataounts of unrecognized tax
benefits will increase or decrease significantlyhin the next twelve months. As of December 31,12@he Company has not accrued interest
or penalties related to uncertain tax positione Tompany has never been audited by the InternariRe Service, and the tax returns for the
years ended December 31, 2008 through Decemb@031,are still subject to examination by majorjtaisdictions.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of thikofwing at December 31:

2011 2010
Deferred tax asset: (in thousands
General business cred 10,32« 7,70¢
AMT credit 41¢ 41¢
Other 1,791 3,064
NOL carryforwards 120,47: 112,72:
Total deferred tax asset 133,00t 123,91:
Deferred tax liabilities
In-process research and developn (22,099 (29,609
Other (170 (377)
Total deferred tax liabilities (22,269 (29,986
Tax deferred asse 110,74: 93,92¢
Valuation allowance (110,742 (93,925

Net deferred tax asse - -
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The differences between the U.S. federal statutoryate and the Company'’s effective tax rate arows:

2011 2010 2009
Statutory federal tax ra 34% 34% 34%
Permanent item (4)% (9% 0%
State income taxes net of federal ber 4% 1% 4%
Research and development cre 5% 0% 0%
Expired net operating loss carryforwa (10)% 0% 0%
Alternative minimum ta 0% 1% 0%
Change in valuation allowan: (28)% (28)% (38)%
Other (1)% 0% 0%
Total Expense 0% (D)% 0%

9. Investments and Fair Value Measureme

We categorize financial assets and liabilities raes and reported at fair value in the financiatesnents on a recurring basis base
the level of judgments associated with the inpsexduto measure their fair value. Hierarchical lewehich are directly related to the amour
subjectivity associated with the inputs used t@deine the fair value of financial assets and liads, are as follows:

« Level 1- Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active ataror identical assets or liabilities at the meaement date

« Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices incluisheldevel 1) are either directly or indirectly ologable for the assets or
liability through correlation with market data aetmeasurement date and for the duration of theuimen’s anticipated life

« Level 3 — Inputs reflect management’s best estirohtehat market participants would use in pricihg tisset or liability at the
measurement date. Consideration is given to #keimherent in the valuation technique and theirislerent in the inputs to the
model.

Each major category of financial assets and ligddlimeasured at fair value on a recurring basicategorized in the tables below
based upon the lowest level of significant inputhte valuations. The fair value hierarchy alsauregs an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unob&ésvaputs when measuring fair value.

Financial instruments in Level 1 generally includ&. treasuries and mutual funds listed in actieekets. Financial instruments in
Level 2 generally include municipal bonds listed@tondary markets.

The following table presents assets and liabilitiesasured at fair value as of December 31, 201 Daceémber 31, 2010.
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Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date U

Quoted Prices i Quoted Prices i
Active Markets fo Inactive Markets fc Significant
Identical Asset: Identical Asset:  Unobservable Inpu
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of December 31, 201
Assets:

Cash and cash equivale $ 14,84¢ $ 14,84¢ $ - $ =
Mutual funds 56,16 56,16 - -
Government agency bon 5,261 - 5,261 -
Certificate of deposit (e 2,08t 2,08t - -

$ 7835 $ 73,09¢ $ 5261 $ =

As of December 31, 201
Assets:

Cash and cash equivale $ 10,747 $ 10,74: $ - $ =
Corporate bond 10,22¢ 10,22¢ - -
U.S. treasury securitie 50t 50k - -
Mutual funds 54,31 54,31 - -
Government agency bon 32,26: - 32,26: -
Certificate of deposit (¢ 2,17¢ 2,17¢ - -

$ 110,22¢ $ 77,96 $ 32,26: $ =

(a)Certificate of deposit matures in July 20

The Company's cash and cash equivalents and gnortitvestments, excluding government agency bgretsyit daily redemption
and the fair values of these investments are bajged the quoted prices in active markets providethb holding financial institutions. The
Company's investment in government agency bondsipdaily redemption and the fair values of thesgestments are based upon the quoted
prices in inactive markets by the holding finandmetitutions. The cash equivalents consist afiignvestments with a maturity of three
months or less and the short-term investments sbosinstruments with maturities greater thaneéhmeonths. The certificate of deposit
matures in fiscal 2013.

The Company’s in-process research and developasset is fair valued using the income approacts. dpproach calculates fair
value by estimating future cash flows attributabl¢he assets and then discounting these cash ftoepresent value using a risk-adjusted
discount rate. A market based valuation approachmneé considered given a lack of revenues andtpriafi the Company. This approach
requires significant management judgment with resfgefuture volume, revenue and expense growdsratanges in working capital use,
appropriate discount rates and other assumpticthestmates. The estimates and assumptions usedsistent with our business plans.

We recognize transfers between levels within tireviglue hierarchy, if any, at the end of each tgraDuring 2011, approximately
$27 million was transferred from Level 2 assete in¢vel 1 to be utilized in the Company’s operatingvities. There were no significant
transfers in or out of Level 1, Level 2 or Leval®ing 2010.

As of December 31, 2011, we held two securitieswree in an unrealized loss position with a tetstimated fair value of $12.6
million and gross unrealized loss of approxima&dy2 million. This security has not been in a @ontus unrealized loss position for greater
than one year. The net unrealized gain of $0.5anils reported in accumulated other comprehenisivseme in the stockholder’s equity
section of our balance sheet. Unrealized gaindasses for 2011 are as follows (in thousands):
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December 31, 201

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Fa

Cost Gains Losses Value
Mutual funds $ 55,71¢ $ 652 $ (207 $ 56,16
Government agency bon 5,25¢€ 5 - 5,261
$ 60,97 $ 657 $ (2079) $ 61,42¢

At December 31, 2010, we held nine securitieslaat in an unrealized loss position with a totdihested fair value of $14.7 million
and gross unrealized losses of approximately $dlibom We also recorded $1.1 million of gross ealized gains. The net unrealized gain of
$1.0 is reported in accumulated other compreheriso@me in the stockholder’s equity section of Batance Sheet. Of the nine securities,
none had been in a continuous unrealized lossipod$dr greater than one year. The following tadlenmarizes unrealized gains and losse
2010.

December 31, 201

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Fa
Cost Gains Losses Value

U.S. treasury securitie $ 494 % 11 ¢ - $ 50¢
Corporate bond 10,10¢ 12¢ - 10,22¢
Mutual funds 53,46¢ 845 - 54,31:
Government agency bonds 32,24¢ 122 (107) 32,26
$ 96,31: $ 1,10C $ (107) $ 97,30¢

We review the status of each security quarterigetermine whether an other-than-temporary impaitrhas occurred. In making our
determination, we consider a number of factordutfing: (1) the significance of the decline, (2)etier the securities were rated below
investment grade, (3) how long the securities tmen in an unrealized loss position, and (4) oilitpand intent to retain the investment fo
sufficient period of time for it to recover.

10. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company also maintains a tax-qualified empl@geéngs and retirement plan (the” 401(k) plan't)dtgible employees.
Participating employees may defer up to the less86% of W-2 compensation or the maximum amountnitéed by the Internal Revenue
Code, as amended. The 401(k) plan permits the Coynpamake matching contributions on behalf ofpaliticipants who have elected to make
deferrals. To date, the Company has not made amtyilosotions to the plan.
11. License and Collaborative Agreements

Muscular Dystrophy Association

On December 12, 2007, we announced that we weredadia grant of $2.1 million from the Muscular Dggthy Association for our
Phase 3 enabling clinical trial of IPLEX in the Mgaic Muscular Dystrophy indication. We receivedfiof the $2.1 million milestone
payments in 2008 and the remaining half in 2009.

NAPO

In 2007, we entered into an agreement with NAPQrirheeuticals, whereby NAPO will license from us tbehnology surrounding
INSM-18 also known as Masoprocal. The license gNA®O the right to develop, manufacture and comimére Masoprocal products for
any indications relating specifically to diabetestdiac disease, vascular disease, metabolic éisgasSyndrome X. The agreement calls for
payments from NAPO to us upon the achievementéicemilestones which have not yet been met.
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Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics, Inc.

In 2009 and 2005, the Company entered into a resdanding agreements with Cystic Fibrosis Fourataiiherapeutics, Inc. (CFFT)
where the Company received $2.2 million and $1.Honifor each respective agreement in researctifgnfor the development of its
ARIKACE product. If ARIKACE becomes an approved guat in the United States, the Company will oweayalty payment” to CFFT of up
to $13.4 million that is payable over a three-yaniod after approval as a commercialized drudpinUWnited States. Furthermore, if certain
sales milestones are meet within 5 years of thg dommercialization approval in the United Statks,Company would owe an additional
$3.9 million in additional “royalty payment.” Sintkere is significant development risk associatéti WRIKACE, the Company has not
accrued the royalty obligations.

TriAct

On December 20, 2010, we entered into an agreewign@riAct Therapeutics Inc. (“TriAct”) TriAct ofained an exclusive license
from Insmed for INS-18 also known as Masoprocak Titense gives TriAct the right to develop, marmtise and commercialize Masoprocal
products for any indications relating specificathyOncology. The agreement calls for the issuer@ct common stock to Insmed upon the
achievement of certain milestones. To date, noncomstock has been received nor milestones achieved

Eleison

On February 1, 2011, we entered into an agreemiéintBAeison Pharmaceuticals whereby Eleison obthareexclusive license from
Insmed for Inhaled CISPLATIN Lipid Complex. Theditse gives Eleison the right to develop, manufacimd commercialize inhaled
CISPLATIN Lipid Complex for cancers affecting then. Payments were received in 2011 and are redandicense fees.

PARI Pharma GmbH

In April 2008, we entered into a licensing agreetweith PARI Pharma GmbH for use of the optimizetigstigational eFlow
Nebulizer System for delivery of ARIKACE in treagjpatients with CF, bronchiectasis, and -tuberculosis mycobacterial infections. Insmed
has rights to several U.S. and foreign issued p&tand there are future patent applications inaglimprovements to the optimized,
investigational eFlowNebulizer System. In consideration of this agreetm@ARI shall receive payments either in cashlifiea stock or a
combination of both, at PARI’s discretion, basedashievement of certain milestone events includthgse 3 trial initiation, NDA acceptance
and regulatory approval of ARIKACE together wittyatty payments on commercial sales of ARIKACE.

12. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

In June 2011, we entered into a short-term subleade three-year lease for a larger facility tota27,035 square feet of lab and
office space at 9 Deer Park Drive. From SeptemB&d 2hrough December 2011 we subleased the nélityfdiom the existing lessor, a lar
pharmaceutical company that has vacated the fadHdllowing expiration of the sublease on Decenfr2011 the lease for the same buil
commenced with our current landlord, Princeton ©aafe Plaza LLC, beginning in January 2012 andrégin December 2014. We began
full occupancy of the new facility, which is adjatéo our prior lab and offices, in October 2011e Wave also retained approximately 1,35(
ft. of lab space at 11 Deer Park Drive under adessich also expires in December 2014. The additispace at 11 Deer Park Drive will be
utilized to support the manufacture of ARIKACE faur clinical programs. Total financial obligatiotisough the term of the new facility lease
are approximately $2.1 million. We determined tiwat larger facility is required for our growingrlial, regulatory and development efforts in
support of our ARIKACE programs in CF and NTM. TReEhmond Office lease runs through October 201bwa@ are actively seeking to
sublet this facility. Commitments for the Richmauoitice lease through October 2016 term are appratéhg $2.3 million. At December 31,
2011, we have recorded a net present value chafgfe2million in general and administrative expesiassociated with the vacant Richmond
facility.
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Rent expense charged to operations was $1.0 mith@d million and $0.5 million for the years end@ecember 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively. Future minimum rental paymeedgiired under operating leases are as follows.

Years ending December &

2012 $ 1,187
2013 1,18¢
2014 1,201
2015 49¢
2016 42F

Y

Legal Proceedings
Cacchillo v. Insmed

On October 6, 2010, a complaint was filed agaisdtyiAngeline Cacchillo (“Plaintiff”) in the U.S.iBtrict Court for the Northern
District of New York (the “Court”), captione@acchillo v. Insmed, In¢c.No. 1:10-cv-0199, seeking monetary damages arudig order
requiring Insmed to support her compassionate pgkcation to the FDA and if approved, to providar ith IPLEX. Plaintiff was a
participant in the phase Il clinical trial of IPLEsponsored by us evaluating the effectivenesseninthestigational drug in patients with type 1
myotonic muscular dystrophy (“MMD”). In the complg Plaintiff alleged (i) violation of constitutial due process and equal protection by
depriving Plaintiff of continued access to IPLEX) fraudulent inducement to enter the phase hichl trial with the false promise to support
Plaintiff's compassionate use application to theAFDii) negligent representation that we would pog Plaintiff’'s compassionate use
application, (iv) breach of contract, seeking mangtand non-monetary damages, (v) intentionaldtifin of emotional distress by refusing to
support Plaintiff's compassionate use applicatift@rgroviding IPLEX, (vi) violation of an assumedty of care to Plaintiff, (vii) breach of
fiduciary duty to Plaintiff, (viii) negligence an@) unjust enrichment. Plaintiff seeks compensatind punitive monetary damages and so
injunction relief as noted above.

On October 7, 2010, Plaintiff filed a motion fopeeliminary injunction that would require us to pide a written statement supporting
the “compassionate use” of IPLEX for Plaintiff adidecting us to provide IPLEX to Plaintiff at cdatthe event that the compassionate use
application were granted by the FDA. On OctoberZX 0, the Court denied Plaintiff's motion for geliminary injunction concluding that
the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction witispect to her claim for a preliminary injunctioBlaintiff appealed the Court’s denial of her
motion for a preliminary injunction to the U.S. Gbaf Appeals for the Second Circuit, which affirdnéhe trial court’s order denying the
Plaintiff’s motion for a preliminary injunction.

We filed a motion with the Court to dismiss alltbé outstanding claims, and on June 29, 2011, thet@ismissed six of Plaintiff's
claims, leaving outstanding the claims for (i) flalent inducement, (ii) negligent misrepresentgtamd (iii) breach of contract. We filed an
answer and affirmative defenses with the Courtuy 12, 2011. Plaintiff’'s claim for monetary danesgwith respect to these claims remains
outstanding. The Court has scheduled a tria sha©ctober 2012.

We believe that the allegations contained in themaint are without merit and we intend to contino@igorously defend this
action. It is not possible at this time to estientite amount of loss or range of possible losmyf that might result from an adverse resolution
of this action.

Mackinson et al. v. Insme

On February 24, 2011, an action was filed in ther€of Chancery of the State of Delaware againsbussubsidiary Transave, LLC,
Transave, our directors and the former directorbrahsave, captionddackinson et al. v. Insmed Incorporated et, &.A. No. 6216, as a
purported class action seeking a quasi-appraisadg for alleged violations of Delawasedppraisal statute and the fiduciary duty of discte
in connection with the Merger consummated purst@titat certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, datedf December 1, 2010, by and
among Insmed Incorporated, River Acquisition Cogrnsave, LLC, Transave and TVM V Life Science VeasuGmbH & Co. KG, in its
capacity as stockholders’ agent (the “Merger Agreett). The parties to this action agreed to desettnt, which was approved by the Court
on October 6, 2011 .As part of the settlement, we mailed a revisedceodif appraisal rights to the former Transave stotders who did not
consent to the Merger. In addition, pursuant etdrms of the settlement, we agreed to pay pleniiegal fees and expenses.
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Pilkiewicz v. Transave LL

On March 28, 2011, Frank G. Pilkiewicz and othenfer stockholders of Transave (collectively, thetttfoners”) filed an appraisal
action against our subsidiary Transave, LLC inDieéaware Court of Chancery captiorfédnk G. Pilkiewicz, et al. v. Transave, LL.C.A.
No. 631¢-CS. On December 13, 2011, following the mailindgha revised notice of appraisal rights in accocganith the settlement terms of
Mackinson et al. v. Insme¢, an Amended Petition for Appraisal of Stock wéedfiby the Petitioners.

The Petitioners seek appraisal under Delaware fatvedr total combined common stock holdings of mpmately 7.77 million share
of Transave, Inc. common stock (the “Transave Syodle Petitioners are challenging the value &f tbnsideration that they would be
entitled to receive for their Transave Stock urttlerterms of the Merger.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, certaithefformer stockholders of Transave are obligageddemnify us for certain
liabilities in connection with the appraisal actiéie believe that the allegations contained inaimended petition are without merit and we
intend to continue to vigorously defend this actidhis not possible at this time to estimate @ahgount of loss or range of possible loss, if any,
that might result from an adverse resolution of tgtion.

From time to time, we are a party to various latssidlaims and other legal proceedings that anigke ordinary course of our

business. While the outcomes of these mattersrarertain, management does not expect that threathi costs to resolve these matters will
have a material adverse effect on our consoliditiedhcial position, results of operations or casiws.
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13. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following table summarizes unaudited quarténgncial data for the years ended December 311 20 2010.
INSMED INCORPORATED

Quarterly Financial Data
(in thousands)

2011
First Seconc Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue! $ 1,601 $ 97¢  $ 43 $ 1,40: $ 4,417
Operating los: (7,415 (10,479 (34,96() (8,877 (61,719
Net loss after income taxi (6,894 (10,019 (34,59)) (8,162) (59,664
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to common
stockholders per common share $ (0.85) $ (0.40) $ (1.39 $ (0.39) $ (2.95)
2010
First Seconc Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue! $ 1,92¢ $ 1,86« $ 1,807 $ 1321 $ 6,921
Operating los: (257) (919) (59¢) (6,330 (8,092)
Net income (loss)after income tax 11¢€ (37€) (330) (5,844 (6,434
Basic and diluted net income (loss) attributable to
common stockholders per common share $ 0.01 $ (0.09) $ (0.09) $ (0.42) $ (0.49)

14. Subsequent Events

The Company completed an evaluation of the imphahy subsequent events and determined there wenther subsequent events
requiring disclosure in or adjustment to theserfaial statements.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

4.1

4.2

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated February 12, Ped®gen Protein Transaction LLC (a wholly ownedssdilary of
Merck & Co. Inc.) Insmed Incorporated and Merck & Qnc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insthiecorporated’s
Current Report on Formr-K filed on February 13, 2009 and incorporated hrebsi reference;

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 10,28hong Insmed Incorporated, River Acquisition,Joansave,
LLC Transave, Inc. and TVM V Life Science VentufesibH & Co. KG (previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 tndmed
Incorporate’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 2, 2010 and incorporated helogineference)

Articles of Incorporation of Insmed Incorporated,eanended (previously filed as Annex H to the JBiaixy
Statement/Prospectus contained in Part | of Insimearporated’s Registration Statement on Form ef(stration No.
333-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Insmed Incorporgtesviously filed as Annex | to the Joint Proxy
Statement/Prospectus contained in Part | of Insimeatporated’s Registration Statement on Form ef(stration No.
33:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Articles of Amendment to Insmed Incorpod’'s Articles of Incorporation, as amended, creatimga series o
Preferred Stock designated as Series A Juniorcdifaating Preferred Stock (previously filed as Extwbto the Rights
Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, between Indnemiporated and First Union National Bank, ashi&gAgent, filec
as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registrattatement on Form 8-A filed on May, 17, 2001, aredrporated
herein by reference

Articles of Amendment to Insmed Incorpore’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended, for Ree&3plit (previously filec
as Exhibit 3.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Reépa Form 10-K for the year ended December 3122a66ad
incorporated herein by referenc

Articles of Amendment to Insmed Incorporatedtrticles of Incorporation, as amended, to createw series of Preferr
Stock designated as Series B Conditional Convertfoeferred Stock (previously field as Exhibit @1nsmed
Incorporate’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 2, 2010, and incorporated melbogireference;

Articles of Amendment to Insmed Incorporé’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended, for-for-ten reverse stock sp
(previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Insmed Incorptad’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Marct2@11, and
incorporated herein by referenc

Our Amended and Restated Bylaws (previously file@=hibit 3.1 to Insmed Incorporated's Current Repo Form 8-K
filed on March 9, 2012, and incorporated hereimdfgrence)

Specimen stock certificate representing commorks®©1 par value per share, of the Registrant{pusly filed as
Exhibit 4.2 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registratidat&ment on Form S-4/A (Registration No. 333-30028)
incorporated herein by referenc

Rights Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, betWresmed Incorporated and First Union National BatkRights
Agent (which includes as (i) Exhibit A the form Afticles of Amendment to Insmed Incorporated’s élgs of
Incorporation, as amended, (ii) Exhibit B the fanfrRights Certificate, and (iii) Exhibit C the Surany of the Rights to
Purchase Preferred Stock) (previously filed as BixHi.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Steet on Form 8-A
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissinMay 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by referg
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4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

Form of Rights Certificate (previously filed as Bhib4.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Sta¢nt on Form S-4
(Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Rights Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreeimgand between Insmed Incorporated and each ohtestors ir
the July 2003 private placement of common stockvaatants to purchase common stock (previously file Exhibit 4.6
to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statemerffamm S-3 (Registration No. 333-107308) on JulyZ®03, and
incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Warrant issued by Insmed Incorporated thed the investors in July 2003 private placen@rommon stock
and warrants to purchase common stock (previollely &s Exhibit 4.7 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registn Statement
on Form &3 (Registration No. 3:-107308) on July 24, 2003 and incorporated hereirefsrence)

Form of Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement bybatwleen Insmed Incorporated and each of the iokeBt the
November 2004 private placement of common stockveandants to purchase common stock (previously file Exhibi
10.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s Current Report omi=8+K filed on November 10, 2004, and incorporaiecein by
reference)

Form of Warrant issued by Insmed Incorporated thed the investors in November 2004 private plagenof commor
stock and warrants to purchase common stock (puskidiled as Exhibit B to the Form of Stock and Méat Purchase
Agreement by and between Insmed Incorporated arttl @ethe investors previously filed as Exhibit1L@ Insmed
Incorporate’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 10, 2004 and incorporated hebsireference)

Form of Purchase Agreement dated March 15, 200#ges Insmed Incorporated and each of the invegidie March
2005 private placement of notes and warrants tohase common stock (previously filed as Exhibitté.Insmed
Incorporate’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 16, 2005 and incorporated hergimdference)

Form of 5.5% Note Due 20-2010 dated March 15, 2005, between Insmed Incompai@nd each of the investors in
March 2005 private placement of notes and warr@npsirchase common stock (previously filed as ExHil2 to Insmed
Incorporate’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 16, 2005, and incorporated hetgjirreference)

Form of Warrant dated March 15, 2005, between lasmeorporated and each of the investors in thecM&005 private
placement of notes and warrants to purchase constock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Insmeddnporated’s
Current Report on Forr-K filed on March 16, 2005, and incorporated hekwjirreference)

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated Margh2D05, between Insmed Incorporated and eactedhtlestors ir

the March 2005 private placement of notes and wésr® purchase common stock (previously filed dsiltit 4.4 to
Insmed Incorporate s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 16, 2005, and incorporated hetsinmeference)
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(f/k/a First Union National Bank) (previously fileas Exhibit 4.5 to Insmed Incorporated’s Currenpéteon Form 8-K
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Form of Warrant dated May 3, 2007, between Insmedrporated and each of the investors in the May30ivate
placement of common stock and warrants to purcbasenon stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 termed
Incorporate’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 4, 2007, and incorporated hereirréfgrence)

Shareholders Agreement, dated December 1, 201ygimemed Incorporated and each of the listed slodders
(previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Insmed Incorptad’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Decenthe2010, and
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Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 1028mong Insmed Incorporated and each of thellstareholder
(previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Insmed Incorptad’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Decenthe2010, and
incorporated herein by referenc

Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stock Purchase Plan @ureli filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed IncorporateRegistration
Statement on Form-4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (presty filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Insmed IncorporageRegistration
Statement on Form-4/A (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Amended and Restated License Agreement betweerethBimarmaceuticals, Inc. and the University of MiagPatent
Foundation (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 tormexd Incorporated’s Registration Statement on FodhAS(Registration
No. 33:-30098) and incorporated herein by referer

Subscription, Joint Development and Operating Agret by and among Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Inan Elorporation
plc, Elan International Services, Ltd., and CeliMi@wco Ltd. dated as of April 21, 1999, (previouslgd as Exhibit 10.8
to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statemerfeam S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and incorfeatderein by
reference)

License Agreement by and between Celtrix Newco atdl Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated as of 1&drj 1999,

(previously filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Insmed Incorpied’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Regdistt No. 333-
30098) and incorporated herein by referen
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Corporation, plc, dated as of April 21, 1999, (poersly filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Insmed IncorpodiseRegistration
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as Exhibit 10.11 to Insmed Incorporated’s RegigiraBtatement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 33398)@&nd
incorporated herein by referenc

Purchase Agreement among Insmed, Inc., Insmed Rlcauticals, Inc. and certain investors named thetaied January
13, 2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Ireirincorporated’s Registration Statement on Fordn(Begistration N¢
333-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Warrant of Insmed to be issued pursuaPuiehase Agreement among Insmed Incorporated, bh
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and certain investors datadaly 13, 2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10té3nsmed
Incorporate’s Registration Statement on For-4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Registration Rights Agreement among Insinedrporated, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andiceirtvestors
party to the Purchase Agreement among Insmed Incatgd, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and certaestors dated
January 13, 2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10td 4nsmed Incorporated’s Registration Statemerfemm S-4
(Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Sublease, dated March 30, 2001, between Rhodiaitinsmed Incorporated (previously filed as EiHib.15 to
Insmed Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on form 1@the quarter ended March 31, 2001, and incatealr herein by
reference

Consent to Sublease, dated as of April 12, 200bnan& & W Virginia Corporation, as Landlord, Rhodie., as Tenan
and Insmed Incorporated, as Subtenant (previoisly &s Exhibit 10.16 to Insmed Incorporated’s @ery Report on
form 1(-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001, and incaed herein by reference

License and Supply Agreement, dated as of Augus2@&3, between Insmed Incorporated and Pharmagiégpreviously
filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Insmed Incorporated’s AahReport on form 10-K for the year ended Decen3ie2003 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2004, between lddnmeorporated and Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D. (previgu#ked as
Exhibit 10.17 to the Insmed Incorporated’s AnnuapBrt on form 10-K for the year ended DecembeB03, and
incorporated herein by referenc

License Agreement, dated as of January 19, 20@4eke Insmed Incorporated and Fujisawa Pharmaed @i, Ltd.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Insmeddrporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for theryeraded December
31, 2003, and incorporated herein by referer

Form of Change of Control Agreement entered intvben Insmed Incorporated and certain of its exeeutfficers
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Insmed Incorated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeatteshDecember 31,
2004, and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Executive Stock Option Grant (previousledias Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorpore's Annual Report on Fori
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, and incatpd herein by reference
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Report on Form -K filed on May 4, 2007, and incorporated hereirréference)

Settlement, license and development agreement] dédech 5, 2007, between Insmed Incorporated, Idshterapeutic
Proteins, Inc., Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Terciaa,land Genentech, Inc. (previously filed as ExHibi1l to Insmed’s
Quarterly Report on -Q filed on May 10, 2007, and incorporated hereindfgrence)

Form of Award Agreement (Restricted Stock Unitsjgmant to Insmed’s Amended and Restated 2000 $toektive
Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmeddrporate’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 30, 2009)

Form of Award Agreement (Restricted Stock Unitsjgmant to Insmed’s Amended and Restated 2000 $toektive
Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmeddrporate’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 30, 2008)

Separation Agreement and General Release, date@,J2009 between Insmed Incorporated and Geofikan, Ph.D.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorgied’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July2209 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Separation and Release Agreement, dated DecemP@L 3, between Insmed Incorporated and Steve Glpveviously

filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s @uatrReport on Form 8-K filed on December 13, 2@ incorporated
herein by reference
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reference)

Employment Agreement, dated December 2, 2010, le#twesmed Incorporated and Nicholas Labella, 3evipusly
filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Insmed Incorporated’s @utrReport on Form 8-K filed on February 1, 2011d ancorporated
herein by reference

Employment Agreement, dated December 2, 2010, letwesmed Incorporated and Dr. Renu Gupta (prelyidiled as
Exhibit 10.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Current Répor Form 8-K filed on February 1, 2011, and inavgied herein by
reference)

Employment Agreement, effective as of July 18, 2@itween Insmed Incorporated and Andrea Holtzmackr
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorgi@d’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2811, and
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Subsidiaries of Insmed Incorporai
Consent of Ernst & Young LLF

Certification of Timothy Whitten, Chief Executiveff@er of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to Rulea-13(a) and 15d-14
(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange At884, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of énbaies Oxley Act
of 2003.

Certification of Timothy Whitten, Chief Executivefi@er of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to 18 U.S€ction 1350, &
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2003

Certification of Kevin P. Tully, Executive vice Bident and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Ficé and Accounting
Officer) of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to Rul8a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the SiesuExchange
Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 3GBe@Barbanes Oxley Act of 20(

Certification of Kevin P. Tully, Executive Vice Fieent and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Ficél and Accounting
Officer) of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to 18.C.SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2003

**

The Securities and Exchange Commission has graotgitential treatment with respect to certain infation in these exhibits. Tl
confidential portions of these exhibits have bemitied and filed separately with the Securities Emdhange Commissio

Confidential treatment has been requested foriogptartions of this exhibit. The confidential pioris of this exhibit have be¢
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio

Management contract or compensatory plan or arraegeof the Company required to be filed as anhak!
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EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
We consent to the incorporation by reference ifoéHewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statements on Fort-3 Nos. 33-131535 and 3:-123695, of Insmed Incorporated, a

(2) Reqgistration Statements on Form S-8 Nos. 338744, 333-87878, 333-39198, 333-129479, 333-3221i) 333175532 of Insme
Incorporated

of our reports dated March 13, 2012, with respecthe consolidated financial statements of Insnrebrporated and the effectivenes:
internal control over financial reporting of Insmietorporated included in this Annual Report (Fdt®K) of Insmed Incorporated for the yi
ended December 31, 2011.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF
MetroPark, New Jerse
March 13, 201:




EXHIBIT 31.1
Section 302 Certification
I, Timothy Whitten, Chief Executive Officer of In®d Incorporated, certify that:
() I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fknsmed Incorporated;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact ortdmstate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by
this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durifg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgaerdang the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presenttusi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgaures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiethe registrant’s board of directors (or pesspearforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sinifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 201:

/s/ Timothy Whitten

Timothy Whitten

Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003
In connection with this Annual Report on Form 1@Kinsmed Incorporated (the “Companydy the period ended December 31, 2011 as

with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordéte hereof (the “Report”), I, Timothy Whitten, @hExecutive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200&;

(1) the Report fully complies with thequirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéesrExchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Bedairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.

[s/ Timothy Whitter

Timothy Whitten

Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

March 13, 201:

This certification accompanies the FormHK @ which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r

be incorporated by reference into any filing ofrivexl Incorporated under the Securities Act of 1883mended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tife date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of geperal incorporation language contained
in such filing.




EXHIBIT 32.1
Section 302 Certification
[, Kevin P. Tully, Executive Vice President and €ffrinancial Officer of Insmed Incorporated, certifiat:
() I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fknsmed Incorporated;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact ortdmstate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by
this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durifg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgaerdang the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presenttusi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgaures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiethe registrant’s board of directors (or pesspearforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sinifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 201

/s/Kevin P. Tully
Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A.

Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Offic
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003
In connection with this Annual Report on Form 1@Kinsmed Incorporated (the “Companydy the period ended December 31, 2011 as

with the Securities and Exchange Commission ortéte hereof (the “Report”), Kevin P. Tully, Executive Vice President and €hfFinancia
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 IC.S§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of thea®as-Oxley Act of 2003, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with threguirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&iesrExchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Begairly presents, in all material respects, fihancial condition and result of operations of the
Company.

/sl Kevin P. Tully
Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A.

Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Offic
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

March 13, 201:

This certification accompanies the FormHK @ which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r
be incorporated by reference into any filing ofriresl Incorporated under the Securities Act of 1883mended, or the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tifé date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of geperal incorporation language contained
in such filing.




